
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 11th June, 2014 
 

10.00 am 
 

Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 



 

 



 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
 

Wednesday, 11th June, 2014, at 10.00 am Ask for: Andrew Tait 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County 
Hall, Maidstone 

Telephone: 01622 694342 
   

Tea/Coffee will be available from 9:30 outside the meeting room 
 

Membership (19) 
 
Conservative (10): Mr J A  Davies (Chairman), Mr C P Smith (Vice-Chairman), 

Mr M J Angell, Mr M A C Balfour, Mr T Gates, Mr S C Manion, 
Mr R J Parry, Mr C Simkins, Mrs P A V Stockell and 
Mr J N Wedgbury 
 

UKIP (4) Mr M Baldock, Mr L Burgess, Mr T L Shonk and Mr A Terry 
 

Labour (3) Mrs P Brivio, Mr T A Maddison and Mrs E D Rowbotham 
 

Liberal Democrat (1): Mr I S Chittenden 
 

Independents (1)  Mr P M Harman 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public 

 
A.   COMMITTEE BUSINESS 
1. Membership  
A1 To note that Mrs P A V Stockell has replaced Mr P J Homewood on the Committee.  

 
2. Substitutes  
3. Declarations of Interests by Members in items on the Agenda for this meeting.  
4. Minutes - 14 May 2014 (Pages 7 - 14) 
5. Site Meetings and Other Meetings  
B. GENERAL MATTERS 
C.  MINERALS AND WASTE DISPOSAL APPLICATIONS 
D.  DEVELOPMENTS TO BE CARRIED OUT BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL 
1. Proposal SW/14/192 (KCC/SW/042/2014) - Renewal of Permission SW/11/1451 for 

the retention of a single and double mobile classroom unit at Tunstall Primary 
School, Tunstall; KCC Property and Infrastructure Support (Pages 15 - 30) 



 

 

2. Proposal SW/14/0394 (KCC/SW/0091/2014) - Four classroom extension, new hall, 
link corridor, additional toilets and TA room and new playground at Queenborough 
Primary School and Nursery, Edward Road, Queenborough; KCC Property and 
Infrastructure Support (Pages 31 - 46) 

3. Proposal SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) - Redevelopment of the former 
Wildernesse School site: demolition of existing school buildings, retention and 
refurbishment of Sports Centre, erection of two new secondary schools (6 f.e. 
Sevenoaks GS Annexe and 4 f.e Trinity School)  new vehicular and pedestrian 
accesses, rearranged and extended car park providing 242 car parking spaces and 
dedicated child drop off/collection and bus zones, relocation of tennis courts into 
two new MUGAs and associated detailed landscaping works at Knole (east) 
Academy, Seal Hollow Road, Sevenoaks; KCC Property and Infrastructure Support 
(Pages 47 - 106) 

4. Proposal DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) - New two storey and part single storey 
classroom block incorporating welfare facilities and storage; extension of school 
hall; provision of parents' drop off facility and 10 off-site parking spaces; 7 
additional car parking spaces in the school car park at Stone CEP School, Hayes 
Road, Greenhithe; KCC Property and Infrastructure Support. (Pages 107 - 136) 

E.  COUNTY MATTERS DEALT WITH UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 
1. County matter applications (Pages 137 - 140) 
2. County Council developments  
3. Screening opinions under Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 

Assessment) Regulations 2011  
4. Scoping opinions under Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 

Assessment) Regulations 2011  (None)  
F.  OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 
 

EXEMPT ITEMS 
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

Peter Sass 
Head of Democratic Services  
(01622) 694002 
 
Tuesday, 3 June 2014 
 
(Please note that the background documents referred to in the accompanying papers may 
be inspected by arrangement with the Departments responsible for preparing the report.  
Draft conditions concerning applications being recommended for permission, reported in 
sections C and D, are available to Members in the Members’ Lounge.) 



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Planning Applications Committee held in the Council 
Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 14 May 2014. 
 
PRESENT: Mr J A  Davies (Chairman), Mr C P Smith (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr M J Angell, Mr M Baldock, Mr M A C Balfour, Mrs P Brivio, Mr I S Chittenden, 
Mr A D Crowther (Substitute for Mr L Burgess), Mr T Gates, Mr P M Harman, 
Mr T A Maddison, Mr S C Manion, Mr R J Parry, Mrs E D Rowbotham, Mr T L Shonk, 
Mr C Simkins, Mr A Terry and Mr J N Wedgbury 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr A H T Bowles, Mr L Burgess and Mr R Truelove 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs S Thompson (Head of Planning Applications Group), 
Mr M Clifton (Principal Planning Officer - Waste Developments), Mr J Crossley 
(Principal Planning Officer - County Council Development), Mr J Wooldridge 
(Principal Planning Officer - Mineral Developments), Mrs R Goudie (Strategic 
Transport and Development Planner), Mrs V Clothier (Senior Solicitor) and Mr A Tait 
(Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 

33. Minutes - 9 April 2014  
(Item 4) 
 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 9 April 2014 are correctly 
recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.  
 

34. Site Meetings and Other Meetings  
(Item A4) 
 
The Committee confirmed that it would hold a site visit at Glebe Farm, Shadoxhurst 
following the meeting.  
 

35. General Matters  
(Item ) 
 
The Head of Planning Applications Group informed the Committee that the Secretary 
of State for Communities and Local Government had informed the Local Planning 
Authority that he was considering whether to call in the Dungeness Borrow Pit 
application (SH/11/381) for his determination.  
 

36. Application CA/13/2055 (KCC/CA/0317/2013) - Variation of conditions 2 
(Restoration Period), 10 (Hours of HGV Movements) and 11 (Highway 
Management Scheme) of planning permission CA/12/606 for the infilling of 
open lagoons formally used for the disposal of tannery wastes at Oldridge 
Wood Lagoons, Swanton Lane, Off Canterbury Road, Littlebourne, Canterbury  
(Item C1) 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item A4



 

(1) In agreeing the recommendations of the Head of Planning Applications Group, 
the Committee decided that the requirement on the applicants to notify Littlebourne 
PC prior to each filling period would be a planning condition rather than an 
Informative.   
 
(2)   RESOLVED that:-  
 

(a)   permission be granted to the application subject to conditions, including 
conditions covering the development being completed and the site restored 
within 3 years of commencement; HGV movements only taking place 
between 0915 and 1600 hours Mondays to Fridays and 0800 and 1300 hours 
on Saturdays with no movements on Sundays and Public Holidays; HGV 
movements being limited to 6 in / 6 out per hour during filling periods; the 
installation of an automatic traffic counter (ATC) at the site; records of the 
ATC being made available for inspection at any time by the County Planning 
Authority; prior notification of the County Council and Littlebourne PC before 
each filling period is to commence; the signage scheme being implemented 
prior to filling periods; HGVs being restricted to 10.2m in length, 4 axles and 
20 tonnes load capacity; and the re-imposition of all original conditions with 
the exception of conditions 2, 10 and 11; and  

  
(b)  the Informatives appended to Permission CA/12/606 be re-imposed.  

 
 

37. Application SW/13/1542 (KCC/SW/0339/2013) - Section 73 application to amend 
conditions, (1) - site layout, (8) - delivery hours, (17) - vehicle movements and 
(24) - waste throughput of planning permission SW/12/445 at Countrystyle 
Recycling Ltd, Ridham Dock Road, Iwade, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME9 8SR  
(Item C2) 
 
(1)   The Head of Planning Applications Group informed the Committee that, 
although Mr Burgess’ name did not appear in the report heading or in paragraph 18 
of report as the Local Member, he had been consulted in that capacity.   
 
(2)  Additional correspondence from Mr James Hunt, Chairman of Iwade PC had 
been circulated to the Committee before the meeting.  
 
(3)  The Committee agreed the recommendations of the Head of Planning 
Applications Group by 12 votes to 5 with 2 abstentions, subject to the deletion of the 
word “should” in respect of all the other conditions imposed on Permission 
SW/12/445 remaining in place.  
 
(4)  Mr M Baldock asked, pursuant to Committee Procedure Rule 2.26 (3) that his 
vote against the decision of the Committee be recorded.  
 
(5)  RESOLVED that permission be granted to the variation of Conditions 1, 8, 17 

and 24 of Permission SW/12/445 subject to conditions, including conditions 
covering the development being carried out and completed in all respects 
strictly in accordance with site layout drawing number 11.09B.01 D; external 
waste activities at the site only taking place between 0530 and 2000 hours on 
Mondays to Sundays and Public Holidays (excluding Christmas Day, Boxing 
Day and New Year’s Day); no operations (other than waste deliveries, 

Page 6



 

transportation of materials off site, processing of compostable materials within 
the in vessel system and processing of materials within the MRF building) 
taking place outside the above hours except for essential plant maintenance 
up to 2300 hours between Mondays and Saturdays only; no more than a 
combined total of 280 vehicle movements (140 in/140 out) associated with the 
operations hereby permitted entering or leaving the site on any one day; the 
maximum throughput of waste processed within the Materials Recycling 
Facility (MRF) not exceeding 200,000 tonnes per annum; and all other 
conditions imposed on Permission SW/12/445 remaining in place at the site.  

  
 

38. Proposal SW/14/153 (KCC/SW/0025/2014) - Proposal for the construction of a 
two form entry primary school - Land at Tunstall Road, Tunstall, Sittingbourne.  
(Item D1) 
 
(1)   The Chairman declared that all Members of the Committee had been 
extensively lobbied, particularly by opponents of the Proposal. It was unnecessary for 
any individual Member to make a declaration to this effect unless such lobbying had 
been by a family member or a close personal acquaintance.   
 
(2)  Mr M Baldock informed the Committee that he was a member of the 
Sittingbourne Society who had submitted views on the Proposal. He had not, 
however, participated in any of the Society’s discussions on this matter and was 
therefore able to approach the determination of the Proposal with a fresh mind.  
 
(3)  Mr A H T Bowles, Mr L Burgess and Mr R Truelove were present for this item 
pursuant to Committee Procedure 2.27 and spoke.  
 
(4)  Correspondence from CPRE, the Sittingbourne Society and the Swale 
Footpaths Group had been circulated to the Committee prior to the meeting, as well 
as 7 more representations from previous correspondents continuing to object to the 
proposal. .  
 
(5)  The Head of Planning Applications Group reported additional representations 
from Gordon Henderson, MP, Rodmersham PC, a Planning Barrister from Radcliffes 
LeBrasseur on behalf of “Protect Tunstall”, and 5 local residents in opposition to the 
Proposal.  
 
(6)  Mrs S Senior (Protect Tunstall) and Mrs A Spicer (Tunstall PC) addressed the 
Committee in opposition to the Proposal. Mr S Harwood (Tunstall Mums) spoke in 
support. Mr R Stevenson (John Bishop and Associates) spoke in reply on behalf of 
the applicants.  
 
(7)  The Senior Solicitor referred to a letter from Mr Trevor Standen from 
RadcliffeLeBrasseur which stated that it was possible for an earlier malfeasance to 
taint a subsequent resolution to grant planning permission. She advised the 
Committee that there had in this case not been any actual fact of malfeasance.  
 
(8)  Mr R J Parry moved, seconded by Mr C P Smith that the recommendations of 
the Head of Planning Applications Group be agreed.  
 

Page 7



 

(9)  Mr R J Parry and his Seconder accepted the inclusion of an additional 
condition requiring an archaeological report as part of the motion.  
 
(10)  Mr I S Chittenden moved, seconded by Mr M Baldock the following 
amendment: 
 
“That the decision be deferred to enable further information to be gathered for the 
Committee’s consideration in relation to parking restrictions on local roads and details 
of provision at the access road into the school to mitigate traffic delays, and to clarify 
details of the safe provision of safe walking routes on the approach to the site.”  
  Lost 5 votes to 12 with 2 abstentions.  
 
(11)  On being put to the vote, the motion set out in (8) above as amended in (9) 
above was carried by 13 votes to 6.  
 
(12)  Mr M Baldock asked, pursuant to Committee Procedure Rule 2.26 (3) that his 
vote against the decision of the Committee be recorded. 
 
(13)  RESOLVED that subject to a Memorandum of Undertaking by the applicant to 

address Swale Borough Council’s concerns regarding parking restrictions on 
residential roads around the school, should this be deemed necessary:-  

 
(a) permission be granted to the proposal subject to conditions, including 

conditions covering the standard 5 year time limit; the development being 
carried out in accordance with the permitted details; the submission of details 
of all materials to be used externally; the submission for approval of a 
scheme of native species landscaping, including hard surfacing, its 
implementation and maintenance; the submission of a Tree Protection Plan 
and an Arboricultural Method Statement; the submission of measures to 
protect those trees that are to be retained; no tree removal taking place 
during the bird breeding season; the inclusion of ecological enhancement 
measures and their appropriate management within the landscape strategy; 
the development according with the recommendations of the ecology survey; 
hours of working during construction being restricted to between 0800 and 
1800 Mondays to Fridays and between the hours of 0900 and 1300 on 
Saturdays, with no operations on Sundays and Bank Holidays; visibility 
splays at the pedestrian crossing points measuring 2.0m from the back of the 
footway; the proposed new footway to the east of the access being widened 
to 2.0m from the proposed 1.5m footway; the submission of a Construction 
Management Plan, including access, parking and circulation within the site 
for contractors and other vehicles related to construction and demolition 
operations; the submission of measures to prevent mud and debris being 
taken onto the public highway; the completion and updating of the School 
Travel Plan once the school has been relocated; any fencing between the 
informal path (to the east of the site) and proposed school grounds not being 
solid and being set back, with any planting in the vicinity of the informal path 
being at least 1m away from the boundary; the submission for approval of a 
maintenance plan for sustainable drainage features specifically be prepared 
and submitted for approval; the submission of a remediation strategy to deal 
with the risks associated with any potential contamination of the site, 
including any previously unidentified contamination found to be present; the 
submission of measures to ensure no infiltration of surface water drainage; 

Page 8



 

the submission of a detailed drainage design for approved prior to the 
commencement of the development; only lighting approved as part of this 
application being permitted at the proposed school; no other lighting, 
including floodlighting of the MUGA’s being installed on this site without 
recourse to a further planning application; the School to be phased in terms 
of pupil’s numbers (one additional form of entry of pupils over a 7 year 
period) as outlined in the planning application; and the submission of an 
archaeological report; and   
 

(b) the applicants be advised by Informative that the revised Travel Plan should 
be registered with the County Council’s new School Travel Plan website 
(‘Jambusters’) by accessing the following link www.jambusterstpms.co.uk, to 
assist with the updating, monitoring and future reviews of the Travel Plan. 

 
 

39. Proposal TH/14/79 (KCC/TH/0010/2014) - Proposed expansion of Garlinge 
Primary School, Westfield Road, Margate  
(Item D2) 
 
(1)   The Head of Planning Applications Group tabled revised recommendations 
which were agreed as set out below. 
 
(2)  RESOLVED that:-  
 

(a)    permission be granted to the proposal subject to conditions, including   
conditions covering the standard time limit; the development being 
carried out in accordance with the permitted details; the submission of 
details of all materials to be used externally; a programme of 
archaeological work; no vegetation clearance taking place during the 
bird breeding season; hours of working during construction and 
demolition being restricted to between 0800 and 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays and between the hours of 0900 and 1300 on Saturdays, with no 
operations on Sundays and Bank Holidays; details of a construction 
management plan being agreed prior to commencement of the 
development; details of construction vehicle loading/unloading and 
turning facilities being agreed prior to commencement of the 
development; details of wheel cleaning facilities being approved prior to 
commencement of the development; and the submission of an updated 
School Travel Plan within 6 months of the occupation of the new 
building; and  

 
(b)     the applicant be advised by informative that:-  
 
(i)   an application for a Traffic Regulation Order to implement a a one-way 

system along Caxton Road must be submitted to Kent County 
Council Highways for written approval from the Highways Authority;  

 
(ii)  all necessary highways approvals and consents where required musy 

be obtained before the development is commenced, and that the 
limits of the highway boundary need to be clearly established in order 
to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway 
Authority. The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on 

Page 9



 

the approved plans agree in every respect with those approved under 
legislation and common law. It is therefore important for the applicant 
to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect 
of the works prior to commencement on site; and  

 
(iii)  the Travel Plan should be registered on-line with Kent County Council’s 

Travel Plan site “Jambusters” by addressing the following link 
www.jambusters.co.uk to assist with the updating, monitoring and 
future review of the Travel Plan.  

 
 
 

40. Proposal SW/14/0400 (KCC/SW/0092/2014) - Two classroom extension, Lower 
Halstow Primary School  
(Item D3) 
 
(1)  On being put to the vote, the recommendations of the Head of Planning 
Applications Group were agreed by 17 votes to 0 with 2 abstentions.  
 
(2)   RESOLVED that:-  
 

(a)   permission be granted to the proposal subject to conditions, including  
conditions covering the standard time limit; the development being carried 
out in accordance with the permitted details; the submission of details of all 
construction materials to be used externally; the submission of a Tree 
Protection Plan and an Arboricultural Method Statement; the submission of 
measures to protect those trees that are to be retained; hours of working 
during construction being restricted to between the hours of 0800 and 1800 
Mondays to Fridays and between the hours of 0900 and 1300 on Saturdays, 
with no operations on Sundays or Bank Holidays; measures being taken to 
prevent mud and debris being deposited on the public highway; the 
submission of a Construction Management Plan, providing details of access, 
parking and circulation within the site for contractors, site personnel and 
other operatives, and management of the site access to avoid peak school 
times; the provision before occupation, and the retention of areas shown for 
parking and turning on site; the submission of an updated School Travel Plan 
prior to occupation, its implementation and on-going review; and  
 

(b) the applicants be advised by Informative that the School Travel Plan should 
be registered on-line with Kent County Council’s School Travel Plan site 
‘Jambusters’ by accessing the following link www.jambusterstpms.co.uk, to 
assist with the updating, monitoring and future review of the Travel Plan. 

 
 

41. County matters dealt with under delegated powers  
(Item E1) 
 
RESOLVED to note matters dealt with under delegated powers since the last 
meeting relating to:-  
 

(a)   County matter applications;  
 

Page 10



 

(b)   County Council developments;  
 
(c) Screening opinions under the Town and Country Planning 

(Environmental Impact Assessment)  Regulations 2011;  
 
(d) Scoping opinions under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental 

Impact Assessment)  Regulations 2011 (None). 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



SECTION D 
DEVELOPMENT TO BE CARRIED OUT BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
Background Documents: the deposited documents; views and representations received as 
referred to in the reports and included in the development proposals dossier for each case; 
and other documents as might be additionally indicated.  

Item D1 
Renewal of single and double mobile classroom units and 
PTA store – Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall, 
Sittingbourne –SW/14/192 
 
 
A report by Head of Planning Applications Group to Planning Applications Committee on 11 
June 2014 
 
Application by Kent County Council Property and Infrastructure for the renewal of planning 
consent SW/11/1451 for the retention of a single and a double mobile classroom unit and PTA 
store –Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall, Sittingbourne (Ref: KCC/SW/0042/2014 and 
SW/14/192) 
  
Recommendation: Temporary planning permission to be granted, subject to conditions. 
 
Local Member: Mr L Burgess and Mr R Truelove Classification: Unrestricted 
 

D1.1

Site 
 
1. Tunstall Church of England Primary School is located within the village of Tunstall, on the 

edge of Sittingbourne, along the main road from the town which leads southwards 
towards Bredgar.  The site lies wholly within the Tunstall Conservation Area, and is 
bounded by the main road to the south east, residences to the south west, and 
agricultural fields and the grounds of the village hall to the north east and west.  The main 
building to the school is Grade II Listed, dating from the 19th Century.  The adjacent 
residence ‘The Oast’, to the south and west, is also Grade II Listed. 

 
2. The double mobile classroom is located to the north east of the school site, adjacent to 

agricultural fields.  The single mobile classroom is located to the south of the school site, 
adjacent to the boundary with ‘The Oast’ and alongside the main school building.  The 
PTA store is located to the west of the grounds, adjacent to the Tunstall Village Memorial 
Hall.  The land that the PTA store is located on is in third party ownership and the School 
currently rents this land from the landowner.  Please see Site Location Plan for details of 
this land ownership at the school site.   

 
Background and relevant planning history 
 
3. Tunstall is a popular Church of England Voluntary Aided Primary School situated in the 

village of Tunstall near Sittingbourne.  The existing school site comprises of a 19th century 
main school building which is a Grade II Listed Building.  There are also a number of 
temporary classrooms and storage facilities located within the school’s grounds.  The 
facilities concerned in this planning application are an existing single mobile classroom, 
an existing double mobile classroom and a timber PTA storage shed incorporating 2 
WC’s.  These mobile classrooms provide three classrooms out of a total of seven 
classrooms, with two classrooms being located within the main school building and a 
further two classrooms within a separate modular building located in the school grounds 
but on third party land. 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item D1



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.2

Site Location Plan 

 
Page 14



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.3

 

 

Page 15



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.4

 

Page 16



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.5

 

 
Page 17



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.6

 

 
Page 18



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.7

4. The current school roll is 204 pupils and 12 teaching staff.  There are 3 full time teaching 
assistants and 6 part time teaching assistants.  There is a further 11 supporting staff and a 
caretaker. 

 
5. Members will note that there has been a series of planning applications at the existing 

Tunstall Primary School site over the last couple of decades, including several applications 
to retain and continue using temporary mobile classrooms (the subject of this planning 
application), applications to provide parking facilities for school staff, and applications for 
various sheds and structures within the school site.  Each of these proposals has been 
contentious for various reasons and has led to strong and repeated objections from various 
parties including the Borough Council, the Parish Council and neighbouring residents.  The 
existing school premises occupy a cramped site within Tunstall Conservation Area and the 
main building is a Grade 2 Listed Building, so planning consents for retaining mobile 
classrooms, and the various sheds, have reluctantly been given in the hope that permanent 
teaching accommodation could be provided in due course.   

 
6. Faced with regular applications to renew temporary consents for mobile classrooms, the 

Planning Applications Committee, responded to continued local concerns by asking the 
County Council as Education Authority to seriously explore options for providing permanent 
new teaching accommodation for this school, but after some failed attempts to attract 
Government funding, the currently undesirable situation of reliance on mobile classrooms 
continues with criticism from the Parish Council and local residents for no visible signs of 
progress.  In response to the last application to retain mobile classrooms, the Planning 
Applications Committee asked for a strategy to be worked up exploring realistic options for 
addressing the accommodation needs.  A Strategy Document was produced on behalf of the 
Diocese and the Education Authority in December 2012, and shortlisted three out of several 
options – two involving redeveloping on the existing and one relocating to another nearby 
site in County Council ownership.  The last option was the one favoured following 
consideration by the Diocese and the Education Authority and local consultations, and a 
planning application was submitted in January 2014 for a new school on land at Tunstall 
Road, under planning application SW/14/153.  That application was reported to Members at 
the Committee Meeting which was held on 14 May 2014 and was subsequently granted 
planning permission, subject to conditions. 

 
7. As mentioned above, there have been a number of previous planning applications for the 

mobile buildings.  The double mobile classroom containing two classrooms was originally 
granted temporary planning permission in 1993.  It has received subsequent temporary 
planning permission under consents SW/98/83, SW/01/608, SW/06/1026, SW/08/1323 and 
SW/11/1451.  The most recent planning permission expired at the end of February 2014.  
However this renewal planning application was submitted prior to the expiration of the 
current temporary planning consent and therefore this current application keeps the 
previous temporary planning consent alive until such a time that this new planning 
application is determined. 

 
8. The single mobile classroom containing one classroom was originally granted temporary 

planning permission in 2005.  It has received subsequent temporary planning permission 
under consents SW/09/286 and SW/11/1451.  The most recent planning permission 
expired at the end of February 2014.  However the previous temporary planning consent is 
kept alive until such a time that this new planning application is determined. 

 
9. The PTA store was installed in 1996 and granted a further temporary planning permission 

under consent SW/07/1506 and SW/11/1451.  The most recent planning permission 
expired at the end of February 2014.  However the previous temporary planning consent is 

Page 19



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.8

kept alive until such a time that this new planning application is determined.  Planning 
application SW/11/1451, which was reported to Members at the 14 February 2012 
Committee Meeting, proposed to consolidate all the three temporary permissions listed 
above, under a single planning consent.  As mentioned above, it was decided at that 
Meeting that temporary permission would be granted for a further two years with a 
condition that a strategy document would be submitted within 6 months of the planning 
consent, for a permanent solution to providing classroom accommodation.  This condition 
was intended to avoid the further retention of temporary buildings and in the interest of 
protecting the setting of a Listed Building and the character of the Conservation Area. 

 
10. Other relevant previous planning applications at this site include planning application 

SW/12/1317 for a temporary 10 space car on agricultural land to the side of the school site.  
That application was refused.  A retrospective planning application was submitted for the 
provision of 6 external storage facilities, which was granted retrospective planning 
permission under planning consent SW/12/740.  Planning Application SW/12/92 was a 
retrospective application for the removal of low level fencing and replacement with wooden 
palisade fencing, which was granted retrospective planning permission.  Planning 
application SW/05/254 was submitted for a 6 car parking area in front of the school.  That 
application was also refused planning permission on grounds of the visual detriment to the 
Conservation Area and the setting of a Listed Building and on highway safety grounds. 

 
Proposal 
 
11. Tunstall Primary School is applying for planning permission to retain the single and double 

mobile classroom buildings and the timber PTA store.  The applicant states that the mobile 
buildings are required to ensure the availability of adequate teaching space for the 204 
pupils currently attending the school.  The mobile units need to be retained to enable 
efficient delivery of the curriculum to children in their appropriate age groups and the 
storage of necessary school equipment.  The school is earmarked for replacement on an 
alternative site but in the interim it is therefore considered necessary to renew the planning 
permission for the mobiles and PTA store to allow the school to continue to run effectively 
in the interim.  As Members will be aware, the application for the replacement school has 
now been granted planning permission and it is intended that this new school is open in 
time for the start of school in September 2015 and therefore this planning application is for 
a further temporary planning permission until such a time that the school has relocated to 
the new school site. 

 
Planning Policy Context 
 
12. The most relevant Government Guidance and Development Plan Policies summarised 

below are appropriate to the consideration of this application: 
 

(i) National Planning Policy and Guidance – the most relevant national planning 
policies and policy guidance are set out in:  

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) and the National Planning 
Policy Guidance (March 2014) set out the Government’s planning policy and 
guidance for England, and is a material consideration for the determination of planning 
applications.  It does not change the statutory status of the development plan which 
remains the starting point for decision making.  The NPPF and its guidance replace the 
majority of the former Planning Policy Guidance Notes (PPG’s) and Planning Policy 
Statements (PPS’s). However the weight given to development plan policies will 

Page 20



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.9

depend on their consistency with the NPPF (the closer the policies in the development 
plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight that may be given). 
 
In determining applications the NPPF states that local planning authorities should look 
for solutions rather than problems, and decision-takers at every level should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible. In terms of 
delivering sustainable development in relation to this development proposal, the NPPF 
guidance and objectives covering the following matters are of particular relevance: 
 
- Supporting a prosperous rural economy by promoting the retention and development 
of local services and community facilities in villages 
 
- Promoting sustainable transport 
 
- Achieving the requirement for high quality design and a good standard of amenity 
 
- The promotion of healthy communities 
 
-  Conserving and enhancing the natural environment, including protecting and 

enhancing valued landscapes 
 
- Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 
In addition, Paragraph 72 states that: The Government attaches great importance to 
ensuring that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of 
existing and new communities. Local Planning Authorities should take a proactive, 
positive and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development 
that will widen choice in education. They should give great weight to the need to 
create, expand or alter schools, and works with schools promoters to identify and 
resolve key planning issues before applications are submitted.   
 

(ii) Policy Statement – Planning for Schools Development (August 2011) sets out the 
Government’s commitment to support the development of State-funded schools, and 
their delivery through the planning system. 

 
(iii) The adopted Swale Borough Local Plan (Saved Policies) 2008 constitutes the 

current adopted development for the Borough and can be summarised as follows: 
 
 Policy SP1 Sustainable development: 

  Proposals should accord with the principles of sustainable  development, 
and ensure that proper and timely provision is made for social and 
community infrastructure. 

 
Policy SP2 Environment: 
 Development should avoid adverse environmental impact, and where 

development needs are greater, adverse impacts should be minimised 
and mitigated. 

 
Policy SP7 Community services and facilities: 

Planning policies and development proposals will promote safe 
environments and a sense of community by increasing social networks by 
providing new services and facilities, and safeguarding essential and 

Page 21



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.10

viable services and facilities from harmful changes of use and 
development proposals. 

 
Policy C1 Existing and new community services and facilities: 

The Borough Council will grant planning permission for new or improved 
community services and facilities, and particularly those that include 
provision for wider public use. 
 

Policy E1 General development criteria: 
                     Development proposals should accord with the Development Plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise; reflect positively 
characteristics and features of the site and surroundings; and protect and 
enhance the natural and built environments. 
 

Policy E6 The countryside: 
Development will only be permitted when providing a service that enables 
rural communities to meet their needs locally, or it provides for necessary 
community infrastructure. Development will not be permitted in Important 
Local Countryside Gaps which would result in the merging of settlements 
or erode rural, open and undeveloped character of the countryside. 

 
Policy E14 Development involving listed buildings: 

Proposals will only be permitted if the building’s special architectural or 
historic interest, and its setting, is preserved. 
 

 Policy E15 Conservation Areas: 
Development proposals within, affecting the setting of, or views into and 
out of conservation areas, should preserve or enhance all features 
contributing to its special character or appearance. 

 
Policy E19 Design quality and distinctiveness: 

Development proposals should be of high quality design and respond 
positively to design criteria. 

 
Policy RC2 Retaining and enhancing rural services and facilities. 

 
(iv) The draft Swale Borough Local Plan (‘Bearing Fruits’) (August 2013) also contains 

broadly similar policies on transport, parking, design and general development criteria, 
but these policies currently carry very little weight, given their draft status and the early 
stage during the development plan making process. 

 
Consultations 
 
13. Swale Borough Council: Raises no objection, subject to the mobile classrooms and PTA 

store being removed from the site by or within 2 years and the land being reinstated, and 
that they remain in the locations shown on the application drawings. 

 
 Tunstall Parish Council: Comments as follows: 
 
 “The Parish Council objects to the retention of the mobiles on the grounds that the 

buildings are not fit for purpose and the children should not be educated in these 
conditions.  These mobiles also have an impact on the Conservation Area in which they sit. 

 
Page 22



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.11

However, my Councillors do recognise that there is a need for them to remain until a 
decision has been made on the new school application KCC/SW/0025/2014.  My Members 
will therefore not oppose the mobiles remaining on a temporary basis on the proviso that 
should the new school application be refused, Kent County Council takes urgent action to 
find an alternative solution to this accommodation problem. 
 
Should the new school application be refused, Tunstall Parish Council would like to work 
closely with Kent County Council, the Diocese and the School to explore all viable options 
to ultimately benefit the pupils and staff at Tunstall C.of E. School.” 

 
 County Conservation Architect: Raises no adverse comments as this is for a temporary 

consent. 
 
 Public Rights of Way Officer: Raises no objection to the proposal and confirms that public 

footpath ZR147 passes to the north of the school.  
 
 Tunstall Village Memorial Hall: Comments as follows: 
 
 “We are aware of the current planning application to move and enlarge the school, which if 

successful would mean the removal of the temporary classroom, etc. in less than 2 years 
time.   

 
 Our objections assume this planning application is not successful and it becomes the 

School’s intention to retain the temporary classrooms for the foreseeable the future.   
 
 Our objections to the continued use of the temporary buildings remain as advised in 2002 

and whether thereafter a renewal application was made by the School: 
 

1. The school site is small and now overdeveloped with no room for expansion.  
Temporary buildings have eliminated most parking provision for staff and reduced on 
site playground facilities; 

2. The number of pupils (210) and staff (32) now using the site had had a detrimental 
impact on the local environment, public highways and their use of the Village Hall car 
park; 

3. The School now has three temporary buildings accommodating 5 of its 7 classes.  
These buildings are old, inefficient, ugly and in planning terms wholly inappropriate in 
the Tunstall Village Conservation Area.  Temporary buildings cannot provide the level of 
education facilities required in 2014; 

4. The oversized development on the site is putting a strain on its services, i.e. foul 
drainage and playground facilities. 

 We ask the Planning Committee Members to reject this application; however if approved 
with another time limited extension, we request it applies two conditions to the approval: 

 
1. That the School engages with the Village Hall in meaningful discussion to reduce the 

traffic congestion in the car park, and surrounding highway by better management of the 
pickup and drop off facility, including parent access times; 

2. The School updates its Travel Plan to reflect these improvements.” 
 

Local Member 
 
14. The local County Members, Mr Burgess and Mr Truelove, were notified of the application 

on 17 February 2014.

Page 23



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.12

Publicity 
 
15. The application was advertised by the posting of site notices, the notification of 13 

neighbours, and an advert was placed in the Kent on Sunday on 2 March 2014. 
 
Representations 
 
16. 25 letters of representation have been received from nearby residents.  Out of the 25 letters 

received, 23 were in support of the application and 2 raised concerns.  Within the 23 
support letters, 9 responses also objected to the apparent use of some wording within 
the application documents, which is further explained in paragraph 21. The main points 
raised can be summarised as follows: 

 
Planning Application document concerns 

 Object upon planning grounds to the wording of “until relocation” within this application.  
It is indicating predetermination of a planning application that has not yet been 
adequately discussed and has certainly not yet been agreed. 

 
Amenity Concerns 

 This school is currently not fit for purpose.  
 The current mobiles are in a poor state of repair. Two years ago these mobiles were 

described as “deteriorating” and being damp and with the roof leaking when it rains. 
 Feel that KCC have neglected the buildings on the school for far too long.  
 The mobiles should be replaced immediately to allow the children to be educated in 

acceptable conditions and not put their health at risk. 
 The mobiles should be sealed to prevent water ingress when it rains and repainted the 

same colour to maintain the appearance of the mobiles, bearing in mind they are set in a 
Conservation Area. 

 The mobiles cannot be seen from the road and should not affect the Conservation Area. 
 They will not cause any extra traffic as they are already on site and have been for years 
 Swale is experiencing a surge in the numbers of children needing primary school 

education. 
 
Need 

 It is essential that this accommodation should remain on site until the current buildings 
are upgraded to accommodate the pupil admission number of 210 pupils who attend. 

 The current site is capable of supporting 1FE with minor changes and a more 
permanent “in keeping” structure will benefit the school and remove the deteriorating 
mobiles.  

 The school will not be able to function fully without the mobiles. Some of the buildings 
need refurbishment but are a vital part of the school. 

 Support the renewal of the mobile units as they form an important part of educating the 
children. The classrooms are not great but better than nothing. 

 This is one of the few schools in the area rated ‘good’ or above by Ofsted. 
 It must be emphasised just how critical the renewal of this planning permission is to the 

successful on-going operation of this popular Primary School on the existing site. 
 Whilst we wait for a decision to be made regarding the proposed site (proposed new 

school) the children at Tunstall need to be educated and without these mobiles the 
curriculum cannot be delivered properly to children of different age groups. 

 Long term consideration must be given to a more permanent structure to replace the 
mobiles, so that the excellent school can continue to serve the local community for many 
years to come. 

Page 24



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.13

Discussion 
 
17. In considering this proposal regard must be had to Development Plan Policies outlined in 

paragraph (12) above.  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) 
states that applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Therefore, this proposal needs to be 
considered in the context of Development Plan Policies, Government Guidance, including 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), Planning Policy Statement for Schools 
Development and other material planning considerations arising from consultation and 
publicity. 

 
18. This application has been reported for determination by the Planning Applications 

Committee following the receipt of representations from local residents.  Objection has 
been raised by both the Parish Council and the Tunstall Village Memorial Hall to the 
continued retention of these mobile units on the grounds that they are not fit for purpose, 
although recognising that a temporary solution may be necessary if the planning application 
for the school relocation is permitted.  At the time that the Parish Council and the Tunstall 
Village Memorial Hall comments were drafted, no decision had been taken on the planning 
application to relocate the school.  This application was permitted subject to conditions at 
the 14 May 2014 Planning Applications Committee.  The main issue relating to this 
application are the continued use of the mobiles and the visual impact the mobile units 
have upon the setting of the Listed Building, and the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area. 

 
Continued Retention 
 
19. The mobile buildings, as stated above, have existed on this site for a number of years and 

have had temporary permissions renewed on a number of occasions.  The temporary 
buildings were installed to provide teaching space, which has led to the situation where 5 
out of the 7 classrooms are taught within temporary accommodation and the current 
number of school pupils is beyond the capacity of the permanent Grade II Listed main 
school building.  The mobile units subject to this planning application provide 3 classrooms 
accommodating up to 90 pupils.  The mobile units have been renewed previously on the 
justification that a permanent solution would ultimately be found.  This permanent solution 
has now been submitted and approved by Members for a new 2FE (form entry) school on 
an alternative site within the village.  It is intended that the new school will open in 
September 2015. 

 
20. Therefore concerns raised by some residents, Tunstall Parish Council and the Tunstall 

Village Memorial Hall about the possible continued use of these mobile buildings for the 
foreseeable future, if a permanent solution to the School’s shortage of suitable 
accommodation for pupils could not be found, has now been addressed.  It is intended that 
the school is relocated to the new site in September 2015 and therefore the usage of these 
mobile units would only be needed for this limited time period.   Both the Parish Council 
and the Memorial Hall had made comments on the supposition that the proposed school 
relocation might not receive planning permission.  It must be noted that these responses 
were received prior to the determination of the new school planning application and 
therefore they are superseded by the fact that School will no longer need to use these 
mobile buildings after September 2015. 

 
21. Furthermore 9 local residents who wrote in supporting the application to renew the 

permission for the continued use of the mobiles, but also stated that they objected to the 
apparent use of the words “until relocation” being used within the application document and 

Page 25



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.14

the fact that it indicated “a predetermination of a planning application that had not yet been 
adequately discussed and had certainly not been agreed”.  However the words “until 
relocation” were never used within the planning application documents submitted and I feel 
that there has been some misunderstanding and misinterpretation as 3 of these 9 letters 
received were identical and used exactly the same wording in their letters.  The application 
did state that as the temporary planning permission had expired for the 2 mobile units and 
PTA store and that as there was no decision at that time of expiration on the proposed new 
school site, it was deemed necessary to ensure that the mobile units could remain in place 
and have planning consent to remain on the site and for the School to be able to continue 
to use them.  The application documents did not presume an acceptance of 
“predetermination” of the new school site application, as it had not yet been determined 
when this current application was submitted. 

 
22. Whilst the proposed continued use of the mobile buildings is not ideal, being located within 

a Conservation Area and within the curtilage of a Listed Building, it has been accepted that 
these mobile buildings will now only need to be used until such a time as the school 
relocates to the new site.  Therefore I do not consider that there is sufficient grounds to 
justify the refusal of temporary planning consent until the end of December 2015. 

 
Heritage Impact 

 
23. As discussed above, the application site lies wholly within the Tunstall Conservation Area 

and the mobile buildings are within the curtilage of a Grade II Listed Building.  The designs 
of the mobile buildings are generally considered not to be in keeping with the locality, nor 
the settings of the Listed Buildings.  However the impact, under previous planning 
applications was deemed not to be detrimental to the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area and the Listed Buildings, as the mobile buildings were only temporary 
and capable of being removed.  However, the mobile buildings have now been in place for 
a number of years and planning permission has been renewed a number of times for these 
buildings and so therefore the retention of these mobiles has not been as temporary as 
originally justified.   

 
24. The mobile buildings take up a large proportion of the grounds of the Listed Building and 

seem to be in a poor condition from the comments received from the local residents.  They 
are also located on hard standing which was previously used to provide parking for the 
teaching staff.  Cars are now parked informally on the front lawn, even though two previous 
planning applications have been submitted to provide either a permanent car park within 
the front grounds of the school or a more recent temporary car parking area for 10 cars was 
proposed to the side of the school site but both have been refused due to the  impact they 
would have upon the setting of a Listed Building and the highway implications of both these 
applications.  The mobile units also reduce the amount of available playground that is 
currently available for the children. 

 
25. Therefore the continued stationing of the mobile buildings had been considered as harmful 

in the previous planning application to the setting of the Conservation Area and the Listed 
Buildings.  Indeed in determining the previous planning application for the renewal of these 
mobile units, the Committee requested that a permanent solution be investigated with a 
view to removing the mobile units.  This resulted in a planning application to provide a new 
primary school within the village on a site outside of the Conservation Area.  This 
permanent solution was granted planning permission in May 2014.  However before the 
new school is open, there will be a period of time where the School will still have to 
continue to operate from its existing site.  To be able to do so, the School will need to 
continue to use the mobile classrooms and PTA store to ensure that there is no interruption 

Page 26



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.15

to the day to day operations of the school.  With an overriding need to retain the mobile 
units for a period of up to a maximum of 18 months, I consider that the detriment to the 
setting of the Conservation Area and the Listed Buildings can be outweighed by the now 
foreseeable temporary period that these mobile buildings need to be on this site.  In coming 
to this view, I note that the County Council’s Conservation Officer did not raise any 
objection to this application. 

 
26. Furthermore it has to be recognised that the temporary harm of the mobile buildings upon 

the Conservation Area and the Listed Building and the heritage interests has to be 
considered against the strategic policy support for educational facilities and the NPPF 
obligations in Paragraph 72 and the requirement to provide sufficient school places to meet 
the need of existing communities.   

 
27. The mobiles on this site will not be deemed necessary when the school relocates to the 

new site and therefore the present mobiles and storage facilities on this site would be 
removed from within the curtilage of the Listed Building and from the Conservation Area.  It 
would benefit the whole Conservation Area to have these temporary buildings removed, 
and would address the long standing objections to the on-going retention of the various 
mobile buildings on this site.  . 

 
28. With the School due to vacate the existing school site in September 2015 and the ultimate 

removal of all the temporary mobile buildings and various storage facilities, I recommend 
that temporary planning permission is therefore granted until such a period that the School 
has had time to fully relocate to the new site and is able to remove all the temporary 
buildings from the site.  I therefore recommend that the School is given a short period of 
time after the relocation in September 2015, to remove the mobile buildings and propose 
that the end of December 2015 is a realistic timescale, allowing for any unforeseen delays 
in construction. 

 
Conclusion 
 
29. In the light of the strong planning policy presumption in favour of new school development, 

contained in the National Planning Policy Framework and current Government policy 
guidance, there needs to be substantial evidence of harm arising from other material 
considerations in order to outweigh that presumption.  It must also be noted that the only 
objection raised to the retention of these mobile buildings was based on the supposition 
that the planning application for the proposed new school site would not be granted 
planning permission. 

 
30. In particular, the limited harm to the Listed Building and Conservation Area from the 

temporary continued use of the single and double mobile building and PTA store is not 
sufficient to warrant a refusal of consent, even though their continued detrimental impact 
must be acknowledged.  Furthermore as there is a planning permission for the permanent 
relocation of this school to a new site, outside the Conservation Area, I see no planning 
reasons to refuse the granting of temporary planning consent until the end of December 
2015 for the continued use of these mobile buildings and their ultimate removal from this 
site. 

  
31. I therefore consider that there are insufficient grounds to outweigh the presumption in 

favour of development and accordingly recommend that a temporary planning consent be 
given, subject to the condition to control the length of the development. 

 
 

Page 27



Item D1 
Renewal of mobiles, Tunstall CofE Primary School, Tunstall – 
SW/14/192 
 
 

D1.16

 
Recommendation 
 
32. I RECOMMEND that TEMPORARY PERMISSION BE GRANTED subject to the following 
condition: 
 

 The units to be removed from the site by the end of December 2015 and that the site is 
satisfactorily restored; 

 The submission and approval of a restoration plan. 
 
 
 
Case officer – Lidia Cook                      01622 221063 
 
Background documents - See section heading 

Page 28



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, Queenborough Primary School 
SW/14/0394 (KCC/SW/0091/2014) 
 
 

 
A report by Head of Planning Applications Group to Planning Applications Committee on 11 
June 2014. 
 
Application by Kent County Council, Property and Infrastructure Support for a 4 classroom 
extension, new hall, link corridor, additional toilets and TA room, and new playground at 
Queenborough Primary School and Nursery, Edward Road, Queenborough – SW14/0394 
(KCC/SW/0091/2014) 
 
Recommendation: Permission be granted subject to conditions.  
 
Local Member: Ms Angela Harrison                                                Classification: Unrestricted 

 

D2.1 

Site 
 
1. Queenborough Primary School lies on the northern side of Edward Road and is 

predominantly a red brick building under a tiled roof.  The original building sits along 
the road frontage, but slightly back from the footpath and is partially screened by 
mature landscaping and trees along this boundary.  The school has later additions to 
the rear, some of which are clad with white weather boarding and some are brick with 
coloured render panels on the elevations. The whole school is a mixture of single, 
two and three storey elements. 

 
2. To the rear of the school is a large hard surfaced playground, and beyond that the 

grass playing fields.  The nursery building runs along the eastern edge of the school 
site, and four mobile classrooms are situated at the northern end of the playground 
by the playing fields. 

 
3. To the west of the school grounds, which are enclosed by 1.8m high black railings, is 

the King George V Playing Fields.  There is a pedestrian access to these playing 
fields via a footpath along the western boundary of the school from Edward Road, but 
the fields are also open further to the west from Castlemere Avenue. To the north 
and east of the school grounds lies the grass buffer zone between the school and the 
A249 Brielle Way. 

 
4. Both Edward Road and Castlemere Avenue are no-through roads, with 

hammerheads for turning at the end.  The school car park, which provides 31 parking 
spaces, is accessed from the turning head in Edward Road.  

 
5. Edward Road is narrow with no restriction for the parking of cars on the road.  The 

residential properties here are semi-detached, some with off-road parking.  
Castlemere Avenue has both semi-detached properties and terraced properties.  
Access for vehicles to the school from Main Road is via Castlemere Avenue, into 
Edward Road.  Main Road links directly onto the A249 Brielle Way via traffic lights. 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item D2



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 
General Location Plan 
 

 

D2.2 Page 30



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 
Location Plan 

 

Location of proposed 
classroom extension 

D2.3 Page 31



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 

 
Site Location Plan 
 

 

Proposed playground extensions 

Mobile classrooms to be 
removed 

Proposed Extension 

 

D2.4 Page 32



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 
 
Proposed Elevations 
 

 
 

D2.5 Page 33



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 
 
Background  
 
6. Queenborough Primary School is a two form entry school (2FE) having changed from 

a 2FE First School to a Primary School in 2008 as part of the Sheppey Review of 
Education.  The Published Admission Number (PAN) of the school was reduced from 
60 to 45 at this time, but with the agreement that the PAN would be reviewed 
annually because of the growing pupil population numbers.  With the agreement of 
the Governing Body the school has continued to admit more than 45 pupils per year 
since 2008 in order to provide enough primary school places.  A consultation has 
been carried out as part of the County Council’s Basic Needs Programme, to 
permanently increase the admission number from 45 to 60, and this has been 
agreed. 

 
7. The increase in the PAN to 60 requires permanent classroom accommodation and 

facilities to be provided, as the temporary accommodation built when the school 
changed from a First School to a Primary is undersized and does not allow the PAN 
to be applied to all year groups.  This application seeks approval to provide the 
accommodation required for that. 

 
8. In addition, due to the pupil population on the Isle of Sheppey continuing to rise, the 

School has been asked to take a temporary bulge year in this September’s intake 
(school year 2014/2015) to ensure there are sufficient Reception places to meet 
demand.  That will require classroom accommodation for an additional 30 pupils.  
The existing double mobile classroom would provide this additional classroom 
accommodation and a separate planning application has been submitted to retain 
this for a further 5 years.  In this second application the School are seeking to retain 
the two single mobile classrooms for a further 12 months to cover the construction 
period of the proposed extension being considered here, should it be approved.  
Once completed these mobile units would be removed. 

 
9. To summarise, Queenborough Primary is already a 2FE school, with pupil numbers 

ranging between 50 and 60 pupils in each year.  The proposed extensions would 
provide permanent accommodation for these existing classes and result in the 
removal of two of the existing mobile classrooms from the site.  The additional pupil 
numbers that would be admitted this year (over and above the normal 2FE admission 
numbers) would be 30 in number, as a result of the bulge year. 

 
Proposal 
 
10.  The planning application proposes an extension to the school to provide four new 

classrooms, with associated storage, cloakrooms and toilets; a new school hall, TA 
space and storage. 

 
11.  The four classrooms are sited in two pairs, with the circulation space and toilets 

located in between.  The classrooms would have a pitched tiled roof, with the walls of 
brick construction with elements of coloured rendered panels located on the side 
elevations below the window openings.  The two pitched roof elements would be 
linked in the middle by a flat roof over the circulation space.  Projecting out on the 
north-eastern elevation would be a glazed canopy over the reception external play 
space. 

 

D2.6 Page 34



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 
12.  Located between the existing school buildings and the proposed classrooms would 

be the new school hall, a double height building also under its own pitched and tiled 
roof.  The walls would be clad with weather boarding, and there would be high level 
windows on all elevations.  Coloured rendered panels would also be included on this 
building. 

 
13.  The extensions would be linked to the existing school buildings via a covered 

walkway, with a raised deck outside the school hall, an enclosed reception play area, 
and ramped access from the existing playground into the new buildings.  A new 
element of hard surfaced play space would be created to the north of the existing 
nursery, and an extension to the existing playground would be created at the 
northern end of the playground in the location of the two single mobile units.  As set 
out earlier, it is proposed that these would be removed upon completion of the 
extensions. 

 
14.  Finally the existing track which runs along the eastern boundary of the nursery 

building from the car park would be upgraded with grasscrete to provide emergency 
access for fire engines, and an access gate into the new playground would be 
created.  

 
Recent Site History 
 
15. The following applications form the recent planning history for the site: 
 

SW02/1188 – The removal of mobiles and temporary classrooms & the construction 
of a new single storey classroom/nursery extension – Granted 12 December 2002 
SW/02/1277 – Enlargement of existing internal car park – Granted 06 January 2003 
SW/06/1299 – Extension to existing toilet block – Granted 13 December 2006 
SW/07/285 – Enlargement of existing windows – Granted 12 April 2007 
SW/08/484 – Installation of mobile classroom and extension of existing playground – 
Granted 10 July 2008 
SW/09/289 – Proposed 5 bay mobile classroom unit and single bay toilet unit – 
Granted 26 May 2009 

 
Planning Policy  
 
16. The following Guidance/Statements and Development Plan Policies summarised 

below are relevant to the consideration of the application: 
 
(i) National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) March 2012 and the National 

Planning Policy Guidance (March 2014), sets out the Government’s planning policy 
guidance for England, at the heart of which is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  The guidance is a material consideration for the determination of 
planning applications but does not change the statutory status of the development 
plan which remains the starting point for decision making.  However the weight given 
to development plan policies will depend on their consistency with the NPPF (the 
closer the policies in the development plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater 
the weight that may be given).  

 
In determining applications the NPPF states that local planning authorities should 
look for solutions rather than problems, and decision takers at every level should 
seek to approve applications for sustainable development where possible. 
 

D2.7 Page 35



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 

In terms of delivering sustainable development in relation to this development 
proposal, the NPPF guidance and objectives covering the following matters are of 
particular relevance: 
 
- Consideration of whether the opportunities for sustainable transport have 

been taken up and safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all 
people; 

- Achieving the requirement for high quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings; 

- The great importance that the Government attaches to ensuring that a 
sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing 
and new communities, and that great weight should be given to the need to 
create, expand or alter schools. 

 
(ii) Policy Statement – Planning for Schools Development (15 August 2011) which 

sets out the Government’s commitment to support the development of state-funded 
schools and their delivery through the planning system. 

 
(iii) Swale Borough Local Plan 2008: 
 

Policy SP1 Sustainable Development: Proposals should accord with principles 
of sustainable development that increase local self-sufficiency, satisfy 
human needs, and provide a robust, adaptable and enhanced 
environment. 

 
Policy SP2 Environment: Development should avoid adverse environmental 

impact, and where development needs are greater, adverse impacts 
should be minimised and mitigated. 

 
Policy C1 Existing and New Community Services and Facilities 
 The Borough Council will grant planning permission for new or 

improved community services and facilities, and particularly those that 
include provision for wider public use. 

 
Policy E1 General Development Criteria: Proposals should cause no 

demonstrable harm to residential amenity and other sensitive uses or 
areas; reflect positively characteristics and features of the site 
surroundings; and protect and enhance the natural and built 
environments. 

 
Policy E19 Achieving High Quality Design and Distinctiveness: Development 

proposals should be of a high quality design and respond positively to 
design criteria. 

 
Policy E21 Sustainable Design and Build: Proposals should incorporate 

sustainable design and build measures into the detailed design of new 
development in its use of siting, design, materials and landscaping. 

 
Policy T1 Providing Safe Access to New Development: Proposals which 

cause unacceptable impacts of the capacity of the highway network or 
on highway safety will not be granted planning permission. 

 
Policy T3 Vehicle Parking for New Development: Requires appropriate 

vehicle parking for new development in accordance with the adopted 

D2.8 Page 36



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 

Kent County Council parking standards. 
 
Policy T4 Cyclists and pedestrians: Requires cycle parking facilities for new 

development in accordance with the Kent County Council cycle 
parking standards. 

 
(iv) The draft Swale Borough Local Plan (‘Bearing Fruits’) (August 2013) also contains 

broadly similar policies on transport, parking, design and general development 
criteria, but these policies currently carry very little weight, given their draft status. 

 
 
Consultations 
 
17. Swale Borough Council’s comments will be reported verbally once the application 

has been considered by their Planning Committee on 5th June. 
 

Biodiversity Officer raises no objection to the scheme subject to the mitigation 
measures outlined in the Ecological Appraisal being implemented. 
 
Environment Agency (Kent Area) raise no objection. 
 
Queenborough Town Council were consulted on 27th March 2014.  No comments 
received to date. 
 
Kent County Council’s Highways and Transportation raises no objection subject 
to the imposition of conditions covering the following aspects: 
 Precautions being taken to prevent the deposit of mud on the public highway 
 Provision being made on site during construction for the loading, off loading and 

turning of operatives and construction vehicles. 
 Details for on-site parking for site personnel, operatives and visitors to be agreed 

prior to the commencement of development, and retained throughout 
construction. 

 The submission of a revised School Travel Plan prior to the development being 
bought into use. 

 
Local Member 
 
18. The local County Member, Ms Angela Harrison was notified of the application on 27 

March 2014. 
 
Publicity 
 
19. The application was publicised by the posting of a site notice at the entrance to the 

school, and the individual notification of 24 residential properties. 
 
Representations 
 
20. In response to the publicity, 5 letters of representation have been received.  The key 

points raised can be summarised as follows: 
 

 In favour of improvements to brilliant school but with concerns 
 Concern over works traffic access during construction 

D2.9 Page 37



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 

 Edward Road is narrow with no passing places 
 Congestion already occurs at school drop off and pick up times 
 Will work be done during the school holiday period? 
 Needs new access to Main Road otherwise very difficult for residents 
 More pupils will result in more traffic in Edward Road 
 The area cannot cope with more children and the traffic that would be generated 
 Residents are trapped in homes or unable to return home during drop off and pick up 

times due to inconsiderate parental parking across driveways 
 Damage occurs to residents cars in Edward Road from pupils 
 Parents use residents driveways to park on and wait for children 
 Verbal abuse occurs from parents towards residents 
 School needs a very big car park and turning facilities or new access onto Main 

Road 
 During drop off and pick up times there would be no way for an emergency vehicle to 

access Edward Road 
 Suggest one way system for cars entering Edward Road but leaving via a new road 
 Current access at Castlemere Avenue will be further impacted by an increase in 

pupil numbers. 
 
Discussion 
 
21. In considering this proposal regard must be had to the Development Plan Policies 

outlined in paragraph 15 above. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act (2004) states that applications must be determined in accordance with 
the Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Therefore 
the proposal needs to be considered in the context of the Development Plan Policies, 
Government Guidance and other material planning considerations arising from 
consultation and publicity.  

 
22. This application is being reported for determination by Members of the Planning 

Applications Committee following the objections of neighbouring residents.  In my 
view the main issues to consider are whether the design and layout of the extensions 
are acceptable, any impact on residential amenity from the physical form of the 
proposed extensions and the traffic and parking impacts arising from the proposal.  

 
Design and Layout 
 
23. The proposed extensions are of a simple brick and tile design, and both elements 

incorporate pitched roofs.  They would be attached to an existing flat roof element of 
the school, and would be easily read as later additions to the school, however, the 
proposed design picks up elements of the existing school to provide some form of 
cohesion amongst the whole school. 

 
24. The use of coloured render panels would reflect the coloured panels on the existing 

building to which this element would be attached and would add interest to the 
design of the classrooms, and is therefore considered appropriate. 

 
25. The heights of the extensions would relate well to the existing school buildings.  The 

classrooms are single storey in height and of a similar scale to the nursery extension 
previously added to the school.  The proposed hall has a higher ceiling height to 
allow for indoor sports, but again is of a comparable scale to the other two storey 
elements on the school. 

 

D2.10 Page 38



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 
26. The proposed extensions would be sited on an area of existing hard surfaced 

playground.  To compensate for this loss a new area would be created by extending 
the playground further north into the area currently occupied by the two single mobile 
classrooms, and the edge of the grass playing fields.  Furthermore a new hard 
surfaced area would be created to the north of the nursery.  The proposed reception 
classes would be provided with their own enclosed play space, located in the same 
area.  The school benefits from a large hard surfaced playground at present and it is 
considered that the overall provision, with the extensions proposed would be 
acceptable in providing an appropriate amount of play space. 

 
27. The encroachment of the hard surfacing onto the edge of the grassed playing fields 

would not result in the loss of any useable space for sports provision, due to the 
existing siting of the mobile classrooms in this area. 

 
28. The extension of the access road running from the car park alongside the nursery 

building would be constructed with grasscrete and would therefore retain the green 
appearance of this section of the site.  The access road would only be used for 
emergency vehicle purposes. 

 
29. The overall size and design of the extensions are considered appropriate, in keeping 

with the existing school, and would not result in any visual harm to the wider area, in 
accordance with Policies E1 and E19 of the Swale Borough Local Plan. 

 
Amenity Issues 
 
30. The proposed extensions to the school are located on part of the existing 

playground, and relate well to the existing buildings on the school site.  The 
extensions are well screened from the residential properties on Edward Road by the 
existing school, and I consider that the physical structures would have no significant 
detrimental impact on the amenity of the occupiers in these properties. 

 
31. Whilst the protection of privately obtainable views is not a material planning 

consideration, the proposed extensions would be visible across the King George V 
playing fields from the properties in Castlemere Avenue, but at such a distance I 
consider again, that they would have little impact on the occupiers of these 
properties. 

 
32. In terms of the physical structures it is therefore considered that the proposals would 

accord with Policy E1 of the Swale Borough Local Plan. 
 
33. The main amenity issues concerning the occupiers of neighbouring properties relate 

to highway and parking issues discussed below. 
 
Highway and Parking Issues 
 
34. The application has been supported by the submission of a Transport Assessment 

(TA) which has been considered by the Highways and Transportation Advisor.  By 
assessing the existing travel modes for pupils attending the school, the TA has 
calculated the likely increase in vehicle trips that would be associated with the 
increase in pupil numbers associated with this school extension (i.e. the bulge class 
of 30 pupils).  It concludes that there would be an additional 9 vehicle trips in both the 
am and pm peak hours for school traffic, allowing for the proportion of car sharing 
with siblings and friends that is expected. 

 

D2.11 Page 39



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 
35. Given the level of vehicular activity and parking that is already associated with the 

school, the Highways and Transportation department have concluded that the 
anticipated impact would not be significant and would not be detrimental to highway 
safety.  The roads surrounding the school (Edward Road and Castlemere Avenue) 
are already at saturation point for parking and the current demand has spread 
beyond these roads to include parts of Main Road and Queenborough Hall car park.  
There is more capacity at these locations to absorb any additional parking demand, 
considering only 9 additional vehicles are forecast. 

 
36. The School has an existing Travel Plan in place, which would be required by 

condition to be updated to reflect the increase in pupil numbers associated with this 
application.  As part of this it is recommended that the School promotes the use of 
other nearby residential streets for parental parking as informal ‘park and stride’ 
facilities which would help the current congestion experienced in both Castlemere 
Avenue and Edward Road itself. 

 
37. There would be an additional 2 members of staff employed at the school in 

association with this extension (one Teacher and one Teaching Assistant for the 
bulge year class), however the current school parking facilities comply with the Kent 
Vehicle Parking Standards and an increase in this provision is therefore not required. 

 
38. The Transport Assessment states that a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) would be 

applied for to introduce 12 metre corner protection double yellow lines at the junction 
between Main Road and Castlemere Avenue and Castlemere Avenue and Edward 
Road, to alleviate congestion from inappropriate parking at these junctions and allow 
for better through flow of traffic.  The TRO is an aspiration for a measure that will help 
the situation, but it should be noted that the acceptability of the proposal does not 
require the TRO, and its failure to be implemented would not therefore present a 
case to refuse the application. 

 
39. It is clear that the school traffic in the morning and afternoon peak times causes an 

amenity issue for the residents of properties in both Edward Road and Castlemere 
Avenue.  As discussed above it is considered that the proposed double yellow lines 
would help alleviate some of the congestion at the junctions.  Furthermore it is 
considered that these two roads are already at saturation point for parking and that 
the School would need to be proactive in suggesting alternative ‘park and stride’ 
locations for parents to park, which will be incorporated into the School Travel Plan. 

 
40. The objections received queried whether an entirely new access to the school could 

be created from Main Road; or a route through Edward Road and out onto Main 
Road could be considered.  Both options have been considered, but neither were 
deemed acceptable.  The entirely new access from Main Road would be likely to 
result in queuing back onto the A249 junction because of ‘right-turners’ wanting to 
enter and likely on-site parking congestion overspill.  Queuing on the A249 would 
attract objections from the Highways Agency on safety grounds.  The option to route 
through Edward Road and out onto Main Road was considered more likely to 
increase the amount of traffic passing through Edward Road, which would also be 
deemed unacceptable. 

 
41. It is proposed that the works would predominantly take place during the school 

holidays, however for any works that may occur during school term time, the use of a 
Construction Management Plan would be required to ensure conflicts with school 
traffic and residents are avoided.  This issue has been further addressed below and 
would be covered by condition. 

D2.12 Page 40



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 
 
42. Whilst it is acknowledged that the parking and traffic issues associated with the 

proposed extension are the issues causing most concern for the residents near the 
school, the anticipated increase in traffic movements are considered to be 
acceptable for the highway network and, subject to the highway related conditions 
suggested, no objection is raised to the scheme from a Highway point of view.  The 
proposals are considered to accord with Policies T1 and T3 of the Swale Borough 
Local Plan. 

 
Other Matters 
 

Construction  
 
43. Given that there are neighbouring residential properties, if planning permission is 

granted it is considered appropriate to impose a condition restricting hours of 
construction to protect residential amenity (Monday to Friday between 0800 and 
1800; Saturday 0900 to 1300; and no operations on Sundays or public holidays).  It 
is also considered good practice on school sites for contractors to be required under 
the terms of their contract to manage construction traffic/deliveries to minimise 
conflict with traffic and pedestrians at the beginning and end of the school day.   

 
44. Should permission be granted a condition requiring the submission of a full 

Construction Management Strategy prior to commencement of development is 
considered appropriate.  That should include details of how the site access would be 
managed to avoid peak school times, details of the methods and hours of working, 
location of site compounds and operative/visitor parking, details of site security and 
safety measures, lorry waiting and wheel washing facilities and details of any 
construction access. 

 
45. In addition to the above, should permission be granted, a further condition to ensure 

that dust and mud are not deposited on the highway would also be considered 
appropriate, to minimise disruption to local residents. 

 
Biodiversity 

 
46. The application has been supported by the submission of an Ecological Appraisal 

covering flora, birds, mammals (bats, water voles, badger and hedgehog), 
amphibians (great crested newts and toads), reptiles and invertebrates.  Additional 
information was submitted in April which reported on the additional survey work that 
was required for reptiles and amphibians, including the great crested newt.  Kent 
County Council’s Biodiversity Officer has considered the information submitted and 
confirmed that the proposals would not have any adverse effect on any of the 
species assessed, subject to the precautionary mitigation detailed in the report being 
carried out.  Such mitigation includes, for example, that construction should be 
undertaken during spring/summer months to avoid disturbance to roosting birds; that 
lighting is directed away from surrounding boundary vegetation and marshland; and 
that works should be undertaken with care in case any hedgehogs, toads etc that are 
found during construction can be relocated to a safe area.  Such mitigation could be 
covered by condition if consent was granted. 

 
Flood Risk 

 
47. The proposed development lies at the boundary of Flood Zone 2 and 3a and the 

application has been supported by a Flood Risk Assessment.  This concludes that 

D2.13 Page 41



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 

through the application of the Exception Test the proposed development is 
considered appropriate within Flood Zone 3a; that the proposed development would 
not increase the flood risk vulnerability of the site and only represents a minor 
increase in the impermeable area on the site. 

 
48. The floor area of the extension has been set at 2.8m to match the floor levels of the 

most recent extension on the site and shallow ramps provide access from the 
proposed rooms to the external play spaces. 

 
49. The scheme is therefore considered to be acceptable in relation to potential flood risk 

and accords with Policy E1 of the Swale Borough Local Plan. 
 
Conclusion 
 
50. The application has been considered on its own merits and in the light of the NPPF, 

the Planning for Schools Development Policy Statement and the Development Plan, 
and comments received raising concerns about the scheme.  The proposed 
development is considered to be in keeping with the existing school and its 
surroundings from a design point of view.  The extensions would be sited in close 
proximity to the existing school buildings, such that they would have little additional 
visual impact on the surrounding area.  In addition it is considered that the extra 
traffic generated as a result of the increase in pupil numbers would not result in an 
unacceptable impact on the highway network or residential amenity, and would 
accord with the principles of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF. 

 
51. Therefore, subject to the imposition of conditions, I consider that the development 

would not give rise to any material harm, and is otherwise in accordance with the 
general aims and objectives of the relevant Development Plan Policies, the Planning 
Statement and the guidance contained in the NPPF, and that permission should 
therefore be granted. 

 
Recommendation 
 
52. I RECOMMEND that PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO the imposition of 

conditions covering (amongst other matters) the following: 
 

 the standard 5 year  time limit; 
 the development to be carried out in accordance with the permitted details; 
 the submission and approval of details of all construction materials to be used 

externally; 
 measures to be taken to prevent mud and debris being deposited on the public 

highway; 
 hours of working during construction to be restricted to between the hours of 0800 

and 1800 Monday to Friday and between the hours of 0900 and 1300 on 
Saturdays, with no operations on Sundays or Bank Holidays; 

 the submission of a Construction Management Plan, providing details of access, 
parking and circulation within the site for contractors, site personnel and other 
operatives & management of the site access to avoid peak school times; 

 the submission of an updated School Travel Plan prior to occupation, its 
implementation and on-going review; 

 The development being carried out in accordance with the precautionary 
measures, recommendations, and mitigation works detailed in the submitted 
Ecological Appraisal and supplementary information; 

D2.14 Page 42



Item D2 
Four classroom extension, at Queenborough Primary School 
 

D2.15 

 The removal of the two single mobile classrooms within 1 month of first occupation 
of the extension. 

 
 
53. I FURTHER RECOMMEND that the following INFORMATIVES be added: 
 

 With regard to the requirement to prepare and submit a revised School Travel 
Plan pursuant to the condition above, it is advised that you register with Kent 
County Council's Travel Plan Management system ‘Jambusters’ using the 
following link http://www.jambusterstpms.co.uk. Further information and advice 
can be obtained from the County Council's Transport Planner (Schools), Annette 
Bonner, who can be contacted at mytravelplan@kent.gov.uk. Jambusters is a 
County Wide initiative aiding Schools in the preparation and ongoing monitoring 
of School Travel Plans. 

 
 A formal Traffic Regulation Order application should be made to Kent County 

Council for the introduction of corner protection (12m double yellow lines) at the 
junction between Main Road and Castlemere Avenue and Catlemere Avenue and 
Edward Road. 

 
 Account should be taken of the Environment Agency’s advice relating to waste 

hierarchy, which can be found at: 
www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69403/pb
13530-waste-hierarchy-guidance.pdf 

 
 That the potential for biodiversity enhancements should be explored. 

 
 
Case Officer: Helen Edwards Tel. no: 01622 221055 
 
Background Documents:  see section heading 
 
 
 

Page 43

https://webmail.kent.gov.uk/owa/redir.aspx?C=aoh71EHjLUuKsUsJJuQj9wBzJdG9PdEIEmS0pWz1iKU4RUAdd1rTiJVaalk6nyoIOtGoTFA9qi8.&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.jambusterstpms.co.uk%2f
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69403/pb13530-waste-hierarchy-guidance.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69403/pb13530-waste-hierarchy-guidance.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                 Item D3 

Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at 
Knole (east) Academy (former Wildernesse School), 
Sevenoaks  – SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 
 
A report by Head of Planning Applications Group to Planning Applications Committee on 11 
June 2014. 
  
Application by Kent County Council Property & Infrastructure Support for the redevelopment 
of the former Wildernesse School site: Proposed demolition of existing school buildings, 
retention and refurbishment of existing Sports Centre, erection of two new secondary 
schools (a 6 form of entry Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and a 4 form of entry Trinity 
School), introduction of new vehicular and pedestrian accesses, rearranged and extended 
car park to provide 242 car parking spaces and dedicated child drop off/collection and bus 
zones, relocation of existing tennis courts into two new Multi Use Games Areas and 
associated detailed landscape works at Knole (east) Academy, Seal Hollow Road, 
Sevenoaks - SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 
Recommendation: that the application be referred to the Secretary of State as a departure 
from the Development Plan on Green Belt grounds, and that subject to his decision, 
planning permission be granted subject to conditions. 
 
Local Members: Mr N Chard  Classification: Unrestricted 

 D3.1 

Site 
 
1. The Knole (east) Academy site is situated on the east side of Sevenoaks just over a 

mile from the town centre, on the site of the former Wildernesse School. Following the 
recent relocation of Knole Academy to the west site (see paragraph 4) the Knole east 
site is vacant. The site lies on the southern side of the A25 Seal Road, which is a main 
arterial route into and out of Sevenoaks from the east, and on the eastern side of Seal 
Hollow Road (B2019). The application site is 11.84 hectares in area, and is currently 
occupied by a number of single and two storey buildings associated with the site’s 
previous educational uses (total footprint of 8,778m2). The built development on the site 
is predominately concentrated in the south western corner of the site, with hardstanding 
and car parking extending along the western boundary, linking with the existing 
pedestrian and three vehicular accesses to the site from Seal Hollow Road. An existing 
floodlit Multi Use Games Area lies to the north of the school buildings, running parallel 
with the A25 Seal Road. The eastern half of the site accommodates the former school 
playing fields, and an area of woodland. The topography of the site is stepped, sloping 
down from west to east away from Seal Hollow Road.  

 
2. The whole of the former academy site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt, and 

outside of the settlement confines of Sevenoaks. Trees and hedgerows line the 
boundaries of the site, which in the most part are dense and mature. The northern site 
boundary abuts the A25 Seal Road, with facing residential properties located to the 
northern side of that road. Seal Hollow Road lies to the west of the site, again with 
facing residential properties located to the far side of the road. To the east of the site 
lies Dorton College, although this is separated from the application site by a densely 
planted area of woodland known as Summerhouse Wood. The southern boundary of the 
application site abuts the Wildernesse Conservation Area, which encompasses 
residential properties predominately on Wildernesse Avenue, Woodland Rise, Parkfield 
and Blackhall Lane. The Conservation Area is characterised by large residential 
dwellings in large open plots with substantial natural landscaping. Properties in 
Wildernesse Avenue back onto the southern boundary of the application site, and 
planning permission has recently been granted by Sevenoaks District Council 

Page 45

Agenda Item D3



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.2 

Site Location Plan 

 
 
 

Page 46



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.3 

for a further two properties to the rear of those in Wildernesse Avenue (application 
reference SE/13/02393/FUL). To the south western corner of the application site lies 
‘Greensleeves’, the closest property to the site boundary, located on the eastern side of 
Seal Hollow Road to the immediate south of the application sites southern boundary. 
This property is not within the Conservation Area. To the immediate east of the site is a 
designated Area of Local Landscape Importance. 

 
3. In light of the site’s Green Belt designation, this application has been advertised as a 

Departure from the Development Plan. The site is not within any other landscape or 
planning designations. 

  A site location plan is attached. 
 
Background/Relevant Planning History 
 
4. The existing school buildings on the site date back to the 1970’s, when the school first 

opened as a single sex school for boys. The site has an established 6 form of entry (FE) 
school use with Sixth Form (1260 pupils), but has also previously been used as an 8 FE 
school without Sixth Form (1200 pupils). In 2010, the Wildernesse School for boys and 
Bradbourne School for Girls amalgamated to form Knole Academy as part of the 
Government’s Academies Programme. The Academy, until recently, operated from the 
sites and existing buildings of the two predecessor schools but the two schools recently 
amalgamated onto one site, at the former Bradbourne School for Girls, leaving the 
Wildernesse site vacant and redundant in terms of educational provision.  

 
5. Planning permission was granted in November 2012 for the redevelopment of the 

former Bradbourne School site, including the retention of existing school buildings, the 
erection of a new three story academy building, and assocaited facilities. That 
application, reference number SE/12/1163, was considered by Members of the Planning 
Applications  Committee on the 9 October 2012, and subsequently referred to the 
Secretary of State as a departure from the Development Plan on Green Belt grounds.  

 
6. At the time of writing this report, I am advised by the applicant that the Secretary of 

State for Education has ruled that a selective school expanding onto a satellite site 
would be considered lawful. I am also advised that a change from single sex (the host 
school) to co-educational provision at the satellite annexe would not be lawful. I 
understand that the applicant has taken legal advice from both the Department of 
Education and the County Council’s legal department and has recently invited further 
proposals from an interested school which the applicant hopes will be considered more 
favourably by the Department of Education.  

7. Trinity Free School is a state funded Christian secondary school which opened in 
September 2013, established under the Government’s Free School Initiative. The Free 
School is currently located in a former office building (Ryedale Court) on London Road, 
within Sevenoaks Town Centre.  

Additional Information 
 
8. Additional information was submitted by the applicant on the 25 April & 2 May 2014, 

which included a supplementary Transport Assessment, further information with regard 
to ecological and arboricultural matters, further details regarding the educational case of 
need, and minor changes to the proposed landscaping on site. This additional 
information was sent to consultation at the beginning on May, and will be included within 
the proposal section below.  

Page 47



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.4 

 
Existing Site Plan  

 

 
Page 48



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.5 

Proposed Site Plan 
 

 

Page 49



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.6 

Aerial View Looking East 

 

Page 50



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.7 

Aerial View Looking North 

 

Page 51



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.8 

Aerial View Looking South West 

 

Page 52



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.9 

Proposal 
 
9. This application has been submitted by Kent County Council Property and Infrastructure 

Support and proposes the redevelopment of the Knole (east) Academy site (former 
Wildernesse School) to provide two new secondary schools, a 6 form of entry (FE) 
Grammar Annexe and a 4FE Free School. The Grammar Annexe would accommodate 
1260 pupils (including 360 Sixth Form pupils) and 120 FTE staff, and the Trinity Free 
School 790 pupils (including 190 Sixth Form Pupils) and 100 FTE staff (2,270 staff and 
pupils in total). The masterplan for the site includes two separate school buildings, with 
shared parking, drop-off, play and sports facilities.  

 
Accommodation 
 
10. This application proposes the demolition of the existing single and two storey school 

buildings on site (apart from the Wildernesse Sports Centre), and the erection of two 
new 2, 3, and (in part) 4 storey secondary schools. It is proposed to contain the 
proposed development to the existing hardstanding areas, and within the broad footprint 
of the buildings to be demolished.  The Grammar School Annexe is proposed in the 
larger of the two buildings, located towards the centre of the site frontage on Seal 
Hollow Road. The three storey building would provide 8,671 sq.m of new internal 
floorspace, with an additional 1297 sq.m of internal floorspace in the existing Sports 
Centre, which would be retained and refurbished. The Trinity Free School building would 
be located to the south west of the application site, and would provide 6,500 sq.m of 
internal floorspace over a part 2, part 3 and part 4 storey building.  

 
11. It should be noted that the existing school buildings on the application site have a gross 

external floor area of 10,312 sq.m (including the sports centre), and a footprint of 8,778 
sq.m. The proposed buildings would provide a total gross external floor area of 17,386 
sq.m (including the sports centre), and a footprint of 8,128 sq.m, 1048 sq.m of which is 
the existing sports centre.  

 
12. The general teaching facilities in both schools would be organised within the 19.5 metre 

wide ‘wings’ of the buildings, with all teaching and learning spaces designed to offer 
flexibility to respond to changing demands and forms or curriculum delivery. The 
majority of the rooms would be designed to accommodate most subject areas, with 
appropriate technology, network access, interactive whiteboards and projectors. The 
proposed building would also provide a range of specialist facilities to meet the needs of 
the curriculum, including accommodation for science laboratories, technology 
workshops, food rooms, music and performing arts spaces and sports facilities.  

 
13. Within the Grammar Annexe, a central atrium is proposed, which would act as a hub for 

the entire school providing a large well-lit environment for dining, breakout and learning. 
The atrium would also provide the main social and circulation space within the school. 
The Sixth Form area, drama studio, main hall, dining spaces and library would all be 
accessed via the central atrium and would be publicly accessible and available for 
community use. The Grammar Annexe would have 55 teaching spaces spread 
throughout the three storey building, including 27 standard classrooms, 9 science labs, 
2 art rooms, 2 music classrooms, a drama studio, CAD room, food room, graphics 
rooms and textiles room.  

 
14. Within the Trinity Free School, a double height dining area would be the social central 

heart of the school. The space would also be able to physically link with the main hall 
and activity studio to provide a large flexible space for worship. The proposed sports 
hall, activity studio, main hall and dining areas within Trinity School would be publicly 

Page 53



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.10 

accessible and available for use out of school hours. The Free School would have 37 
teaching spaces spread throughout the part 2, 3 and 4 storey building, including 14 
standard classrooms, 4 science labs, 2 ICT rooms, 2 art rooms, 2 technology/CAD 
rooms, and activity studio, a music room and a food room.  

 
15. For both schools, the visitor and student reception areas would be close to the main 

entrances, with adjacent administration and office space. The main entrances would be 
central to the site, clearly visible and accessible from the main pedestrian access point 
and car parking areas.  

 
Design and Appearance 
 
16. Both schools have been oriented to minimise direct east and west facing classrooms 

that are most challenging in terms of solar and glare control. Easterly low angle sun in 
the morning heats up classrooms before students arrive. Classrooms then get even 
warmer when pupils arrive and teaching activities commence. The wings of classrooms, 
where possible have been designed to ensure all classrooms face predominantly north 
and south, with appropriate external shading to address both the solar gain and direct 
sunlight to the south. The north elevation has been designed so that 40% of the facade 
would be glazing, whereas the south facade would have only 30% glazing. A light shelf 
would bounce reflected light from the south facing windows deep into each classroom, 
providing equal daylight to the south facing classrooms as the north facing classrooms, 
which have 10% more glazing. The light shelf to the south facing rooms would also act 
as a brise soleil and provide shade below. As a result, the proposed building has been 
designed to be well protected from solar gain and glare whilst still achieving a high 
quality of daylight. In addition, the majority of the double height spaces have been sited 
so that they face west. Sports halls, drama studios and halls require less fenestration 
than classrooms, and as heat rises the affect of heat gain is felt less in double height 
spaces. Openable high level windows can draw the heat out of double height spaces 
through ‘stack effect’. 

 
17. With regard to the Grammar Annexe, this is proposed as a three storey building which 

has been configured to link to the existing two storey sports centre. The building is 
proposed to be located towards the centre of the site, on the middle plateau, separated 
from Seal Hollow Road by existing and proposed car parking and, in part, by the 
proposed Trinity School building.   

 
18  With regard to the Trinity Free School, a ‘Z’ shaped building is proposed, running east to 

west on the upper plateau of the site, located to the south west corner of the application 
site. The western half of the building, nearest to Seal Hollow Road, would be two storey, 
with the eastern half of the building being a mix of three and a small element of four 
storey. The eastern wing of the proposed building would be located on the middle 
plateau of the site, enabling a lower ground floor to be provided below the ground floor 
level of the other two wings of the main school. The eastern end of the central wing of 
the building would be three storeys in height, but the north east corner of the building 
would be four storey due to the provision of the lower ground floor level. The remainder 
of the eastern wing would be three storey due to a reduction in roof height.  

 
19. Due to the central location of the Grammar Annexe building it is not located adjacent to 

a site boundary and/or residential properties. The Trinity School building is located to 
the south west of the site, parallel to the sites southern boundary. The distance between 
the existing school buildings southern most elevation and the nearest residential 
elevation to the south on Seal Hollow Road (Greensleeves) is approximately 39 metres. 
Likewise, the distance between the western most elevation of the existing school 

Page 54



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.11 

buildings and the nearest residential elevation to the west (opposite site of Seal Hollow 
Road) is approximately 33 metres. The applicant advises that the proposed buildings 
would be 29.3 metres from the nearest residential elevation to the south, and 52 metres 
from the nearest residential elevation to the west.  

20. The design of the exterior facades of the Grammar Annexe and the Free School aims to 
be ‘cutting edge yet timeless through the juxtaposition of traditional and contemporary 
materials’. The architectural language and the palette of materials chosen for the both 
Schools are similar such that they complement each other, yet are subtly distinct to 
distinguish the two schools. The applicant has provided the following as an indication of 
the materials proposed: 
• Brickwork (terracotta to the Grammar Annexe; grey/blue to Trinity School). This would 

also serve as a vandal resistant robust base.  
• White insulated render to break up the brick facades and to present a crisp 

contemporary aesthetic.  
• The brickwork at ground level would be interspersed with extensive glazing to dining, 

library and other social areas in both schools to offer active frontages and views out.  
• The brickwork would be interspersed with coloured insulated render panels.  
• The windows at the ground and upper levels would be simple, equally spaced, powder 

coated aluminium framed punched windows. Louvered panels would provide natural 
ventilation to the learning spaces.  

• The school entrances would be treated with large panes of curtain walling to offer a 
view through into the schools, emphasizing their transparency and accessibility. Large 
pane windows proposed where possible to provide unrestricted views from the 
entrance foyer to the landscape behind.  

• Horizontal powder coated aluminium light shelves have been provided to the southern 
facades, providing solar shading and glare control.  

• Aluminium powder coated roof-lights with associated powder coated louvres are 
proposed to provide top day lighting and natural ventilation to the atrium spaces and 
the circulation areas within the classroom wings 

  
 (powder coated finishes would be dark grey (RAL 7016))    
 
Sports Facilities and Community Use 
 
21. The existing floodlit Multi Use Games Area (MUGA), which is currently used by the 

community, would be retained as part of this proposal. In addition, the existing 
Wildernesse Sports Centre would be retained and refurbished throughout, including the 
services installations and external fabric upgrade. The Sports Centre would serve as the 
sports facility for the Grammar Annexe and would be linked to the Grammar building, 
reading as part of the main building in terms of elevational treatment and external 
appearance (following refurbishment). A direct external access would be retained for 
community access out-of-school hours. The proposed 4-court Sports Hall attached to 
Trinity School would further enhance community sports provision on the site. In addition, 
existing tennis courts on site, which are in a poor state of repair, would be relocated to 
accommodate the proposed bus turning and parking facility. Two new tennis court sized 
MUGAs are proposed, one for each school. These replacement facilities would be 
located to the east of both schools, and would accommodate 1 netball/basketball court, 
or 2 tennis courts each. Existing grass playing pitches would be retained in their 
entirety, providing a rugby and football pitch, and 400 metre running track. The Schools 
are also intending to provide controlled community access to facilities like the library, 
performance and dining spaces out-of-school hours. The applicant further advises that 
all of the soft landscaping and grass sports pitches would be retained, with the new 
buildings located over the footprint of existing buildings and hardstanding.  

 
Page 55



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.12 

Hours of Operation 
 
22. The school hours for both the Grammar Annexe and the Trinity School are yet to be 

confirmed although they are expected to be generally 07.30 to 17.00 Monday to Friday, 
which would include a staggered start and finish time of both schools (30 minutes 
apart). The existing Wildernesse Sports Centre is available for use until 22.45 Monday 
to Friday, 22.15 on Saturdays and 22.15 on Sundays. This is expected to remain 
unchanged.  

 
Access/Parking 
 
23. The existing school site has three vehicular access points from Seal Hollow Road, and 

one pedestrian access. All three of the existing access points would be retained (the 
dedicated ‘entrance’ and ‘exit’ points at the middle of the site frontage, and the access 
on the southern boundary used by a pre-school nursery and deliveries only). The 
existing ‘entrance’ would be widened to 6.5 metres to provide easier access for buses 
into the site.  A fourth vehicular access point is proposed mid way between the existing 
exit and the existing southern most access. To the north of the new vehicular access 
point would be a new pedestrian access, which connects to a wide pedestrian boulevard 
which would serve both schools.  

 
24. The existing site’s main car park is marked with 87 car parking spaces, including two 

disabled spaces and has marked circulation routes through the car park including a 
hatched bus drop-off/collection zone with ‘sleeping policeman’ speed humps to slow 
traffic speeds entering and leaving the hatched drop-off zone. Around the site there are 
numerous informal car parking areas that have been used by staff previously when the 
Wildernesse School was open. This application proposes to provide a total of 242 car 
parking spaces, split into a larger car park to the north accessed via the existing 
‘entrance’ (widened) and ‘exit, and a smaller car park to the south, accessed via the 
new vehicular access point (in and out). The existing southern access would be retained 
for service access and deliveries only. The pedestrian boulevard would separate these 
two car parking areas. I am advised by the applicant that the car parking proposed 
accords with Kent County Council’s maximum parking standards for secondary schools.  

 
25. The smaller car park to the south would provide 25 car parking spaces for Trinity School 

staff, and would not be used by visitors or parents of pupils at either of the schools. The 
northern car park would be the main access point for both schools, and includes a 148 
metre parent drop-off zone, 217 parking bays (including 24 parent parking spaces and 
11 accessible bays), 13 motorcycle bays, and a coach parking/drop off area which has 
capacity for 8 buses and parking for 7 mini buses. Cycle stands proposed adjacent to 
the main entrance of the Grammar Annexe would accommodate 90 cycle stands (180 
cycle parking provision). The cycle stand adjacent to the Trinity School would 
accommodate 50 cycle stands (100 cycle parking provision).  

 
26. The submitted Transport Assessment also states that the development would include a 

new pedestrian crossing on Seal Hollow Road controlled by a school crossing patrol 
officer (to meet with the new pedestrian site entrance and the access boulevard), new 
wig-wag warning signals for existing school signs, additional ‘School-Keep-Clear’ 
markings and the installation of MOVA equipment to the A25/Seal Hollow Road 
signalised junction before ‘student trigger levels’ are met. The applicant further advises 
that the Grammar Annexe and the Free School would not be a capacity until September 
2018 at the earliest.  

 
 

Page 56



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.13 

 
 
Landscaping  
 
27. An Arboricultural Assessment/Survey has been submitted in support of this application. 

The Survey identifies a group of mature trees in the north west corner of the site and 
various mature trees along the western boundary of the site (Seal Hollow Road) 
including, Mature English Oak, Turkey Oak, Beech, and Sweet Chestnut. Trees 
amongst the buildings and car park tend to be younger with numerous Cherry, Birch, 
Sycamore, Field Maple, Norway Maple, Hornbeam, Italian Alder and other species 
planted. Nine individual trees have been classified as A category trees due to their 
significance culturally and ecologically including three Beech, two Oak, three Sweet 
Chestnut and one Turkey Oak. This includes T60, an Oak immediately adjacent to the 
sports centre, due to its notable veteran features which increase the potential habitat 
value of the tree. The proposed layout would ensure that all the grade A trees would be 
retained. The woodland habitat to the east of the site would be unaffected by the 
proposals as would the majority of trees to the site boundaries. I am advised that a total 
of 60 trees would be removed to accommodate the proposals (including some small 
groups), but that the applicant intends to replace these trees and provide replacement 
and additional planting as part of a detailed landscaping scheme. All trees to be retained 
within works areas will be protected during construction to BS5837:2012 ‘Tree in 
relation to design, demolition and construction’. 

 
Ecology 
 
28. An extended Phase 1 habitat survey has been submitted in support of this application, 

which has found that there is suitable habitat for nesting birds and bats on the site, and 
a potential reptile habitat on the southern boundary. The woodland to the east of the 
site (unaffected by the proposals) is suitable habitat for dormice and badgers. The 
applicant has further submitted a ‘Method Statement for Works to Avoid Impacts on 
Wildlife’, an ‘Outline Ecological and Management Enhancement Plan’, and a document 
titled ‘Pre-Planning Ecological Issues’. These reports suggest that the proposal would 
not adversely affect protected species or their habitat, subject to adherence to the 
recommendations and conclusions. 

 
Lighting 
 
29. The existing floodlit MUGA would be retained and would not be affected by this 

application. There are no proposals for additional floodlighting on the site, but external 
lighting would be provided for security and access purposed. The applicant advises that 
the main entrance boulevard and plaza would be well lit by a combination of column and 
building mounted light sources, complemented by additional low-level luminaires along 
the approach. The building’s approach would provide the adequate levels of night-time 
illumination in order to provide a safe and secure approach to the proposed buildings 
both for pedestrian and vehicular access. This would include lighting of the accessible 
parking areas.  The applicant’s intention is that external lighting would serve to reassure 
people on site by illuminating dark areas allowing a clear view ahead and would be 
designed to help to deter offenders by increasing the chances of being seen. All lighting 
will be in accordance with CIBSE (Chartered Institute of Building Services Engineers) 
guidelines. 

 
 
 
 

Page 57



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.14 

Security 
 
30. The building and the site layout has been designed with Secured by Design principles in 

mind. For example, the following have been considered and included in the proposals: 
• Avoidance of secluded areas, recessed entrances, alleyways or stairwells where 

potential assailants could be screened from view; 
• The provision of adequate lighting (see paragraph 29); 
• The front of the site is open to natural surveillance from residents and passers-by. The 

planting here, and other areas, should not interfere with surveillance or create 
concealed areas. This would be achieved by using appropriate planting and 
appropriate management to ensure that trees are suitably pruned up from the ground 
to prevent the canopy restricting surveillance or masking lighting; 

• In areas that are likely to attract people after hours and where natural surveillance is 
limited, the applicant would consider the provision of CCTV; 

• The choice of foliage to the car parks is particularly important to ensure that 
unattended vehicles are clearly visible and to remove the opportunity for concealed 
areas in which offenders can hide or attack a vehicle unseen.  

• There is quite a large provision for the proposed parking of cycles. Theft of cycles can 
often be a problem and so cycle shelters are proposed which are equipped with 
suitable fixed anchorage points to which cycles can be secured, with possible CCTV 
surveillance.  

• Car park barriers are to be used to prevent access to vehicles after hours to deter 
drivers congregating or from inappropriate driving / racing on site. 

 
Sustainability 
 
31. The applicant advises that ‘designing for sustainability’ has been integral to all aspects 

of the design. Orientation, construction materials and detail design have all been 
included within a coordinated strategy contributing to the building’s performance, 
financial sustainability and environmental impact. Following the introduction of the 2006 
& 2010 editions of the Part L of the Building Regulations it is now a requirement that all 
new buildings shall meet enhanced targets on carbon dioxide (CO2). This reduction in 
CO2 emissions is to be achieved by a combination of improved building efficiency and 
the inclusion of low and zero carbon (LZC) technologies. It is the applicant’s intention to 
increase the building’s energy efficiency by optimising the building orientation, its 
materials of construction and by embracing passive engineering solutions. The inclusion 
of appropriate LZC technologies will further reduce the carbon footprint of the scheme. 
In line with the requirements of Kent County Council and Building Regulations, the 
proposed buildings would achieve a 10% CO2 reduction over Part L2A 2010 
compliance. Both buildings would also achieve a BREEAM rating of Very Good. As well 
as enhanced basic construction technologies such as improved wall and roof insulation, 
the buildings are proposed to feature the following sustainable technologies:  
• Passive and natural design solutions, including optimized solar orientation, ventilation 

and daylight.  
• Heating and cooling systems which use the exposed thermal mass of the building 

structure. 
• A 115kWp Photo Voltaic array on the roof of the buildings which would contribute 

approximately 90,000 kWh of renewable electricity per annum 
 

 The application is supported by a Design and Access Statement, Planning Statement, 
Transport Assessment, Travel Plan, Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water 
Drainage Strategy, Outline Energy and Sustainability Statement, Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment, Phase 1 Contamination Assessment, Ecological Assessment, and a 
Statement of Community Involvement. 

Page 58



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.15 

 
Planning Policy Context 
 
32. (i) National Planning Policies – the most relevant National Planning Policies are set 

out in the National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012), and the National 
Planning Policy Guidance (March 2014), which set out the Government’s planning 
policy guidance for England at the heart of which is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The guidance is a material consideration for the determination 
of planning applications but does not change the statutory status of the development 
plan which remains the starting point for decision making. However the weight given to 
development plan policies will depend on their consistency with the NPPF (the closer 
the policies in the development plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight 
that may be given). 

 
The NPPF states that, in determining applications, local planning authorities should look 
for solutions rather than problems, and decision-takers at every level should seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development where possible.  
 
In terms of delivering sustainable development in relation to this development proposal, 
the NPPF guidance and objectives covering the following matters are of particular 
relevance: 
 
- achieving the requirement for high quality design and a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings; 
 
- the great importance the Government attaches to Green Belts, with the fundamental 
aim of Green Belt Policy being to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently 
open;  
 
-  minimising impacts on biodiversity, and protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, 
contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in biodiversity; 
 
- promoting sustainable transport; 
 
In addition, Paragraph 72 states that: The Government attaches great importance to 
ensuring that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of 
existing and new communities. Local Planning Authorities should take a proactive, 
positive and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development 
that will widen choice in education. They should give great weight to the need to create, 
expand or alter schools, and works with schools promoters to identify and resolve key 
planning issues before applications are submitted 
 
Policy Statement – Planning for Schools Development (15 August 2011) sets out 
the Government’s commitment to support the development of state-funded schools and 
their delivery through the planning system. 

 
(ii)  Development Plan Policies 
 

Sevenoaks District Local Plan: Adopted 2000: 
 

Policy EN1 -  Proposals for all forms of development and land use must comply with 
the policies set out in this Plan, unless there are overriding material 
considerations. Scale, height, design, layout, retention of important 

Page 59



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.16 

features, residential and local amenity, access and parking are just 
some of the criteria which should be considered in the determination of 
a planning application. 

 
Policy EN23 -Proposals for development or redevelopment within or affecting 

Conservation Areas should be of positive architectural benefit by paying 
special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of the area and of its setting. The design of 
new buildings and alterations to existing buildings should respect local 
character, whilst the treatment of external spaces including hard and 
soft landscaping, boundary walls, street furniture and signs should be 
compatible with and enhance the appearance of the area 

 
Policy NR10 – Proposals for all forms of development should minimise pollution of the 

environment through the careful design and layout of any buildings or 
land uses. 

 
Policy VP1 – Vehicle parking provision in new developments will be made in 

accordance with KCC adopted vehicles parking standards.  
 
Sevenoaks District Core Strategy: Adopted February 2011: 
 
Policy LO1 -  requires new development to be focused within the built confines of 

existing settlements. 
 
Policy LO2 –   seeks to control development within Sevenoaks and seeks protection of 

the setting of the urban area and the distinctive character of the local 
environment. New developments in the Sevenoaks Urban Area should 
respect the physical and community identity of adjoining settlements, 
and prevent further coalescence. 

 
Policy LO8 –  Seeks to maintain the extent of Green Belt, and conserve and enhance 

the countryside, including the distinctive features that contribute to the 
special character of its landscape and its biodiversity.  

 
Policy SP1 –  Requires all new development to be designed to a high standard, reflect 

the distinctive local character of an area, create safe, inclusive and 
attractive environments, incorporate sustainable development principles 
and maintain biodiversity.  

 
Policy SP2 -  Sets standards for sustainable design and construction. Institutional 

development will be required to achieve a BREEAM rating of at least 
‘very good’. In order to achieve this the proposal will be expected to 
demonstrate 10% energy savings through renewable sources. 

 
Policy SP9 - Where new development creates a requirement for new or improved 

physical, social and green infrastructure beyond existing provision, 
developers will be expected to provide, or contribute to, the additional 
requirement. 

 
Policy SP10 – Promotes the provision of multifunctional green space by linking existing 

green space areas. The Policy also seeks the retention of open space, 
sports and recreational facilities, including outdoor sports facilities of 

Page 60



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.17 

value to the local community, unless any loss can be justified by 
additional provision of at least equivalent value to the local community.  

 
Policy SP11 - Seeks to conserve biodiversity, to ensure no net loss through 

development and to promote opportunities to enhance biodiversity.  
 

Consultations 
 

33. Sevenoaks District Council, following the receipt of the additional supporting 
information, comment as follows: 
 
“Sevenoaks District Council recognises the long standing need for additional secondary 
school provision in the District.  Subject to Kent County Council being satisfied that this 
need constitutes Very Special Circumstances and that Highway concerns previously 
raised can be addressed, we support the proposal.” 
 
Sevenoaks Town Council, in commenting on the original application information, 
expresses concern at the following aspects of the planning application: 
 
1. “ Due to the high density of pupils on the site, traffic flow in the immediate area would 

raise significantly at drop off and pick up times resulting in congestion. It is unlikely 
that this issue would be mitigated by modifications of the traffic lights at the Seal 
Hollow Road/A25 junction. 

2. There does not appear to be sufficient parking on site to prevent parking congestion 
on the surrounding road network at pick up/drop off times. 

3. The County Council do not appear to have looked at the pedestrian network which 
would serve the schools. With a significant amount of pupils living in the local area, 
there needs to be improvements to pedestrian access. 

4.  In relation to the above, concern is raised about the safety and suitability of 
pedestrian routes and crossings further afield from the school site. Upgrading of 
footpaths, including the upgrading of steps at the entrance to Millpond Woods and  
remedial works to the footpath from the site towards the A25, will need to be 
undertaken by the County Council to ensure safe pedestrian access. 

5. Is there sufficient capacity in the local bus network to cope with an influx of children 
travelling to the area?” 
 

Should the Town Council comment on the additional supporting information submitted, 
Members will be updated verbally at the Planning Applications Committee meeting. 
 
Seal Parish Council no comments received to date following the original consultation, 
undertaken December 2013.  
 
Kent County Council Highways and Transportation raises no objection to the 
application subject to conditions. The full response from Highways & Transportation is 
attached in Appendix 1, with the recommendation reading as follows:  
 
“A key part of the mitigation for the traffic impact of the proposal is the staggered school 
hours. In principle this reduces the traffic impacts to those of the already-permitted 
school and a smaller school with earlier arrival and departure times. After consideration 
of all the relevant issues and the proposed mitigation measures we do not consider 
there are sufficiently justifiable grounds to raise any objection to the proposals subject to 
the planning conditions set out below. 
 

Page 61



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.18 

1.  Applicants to provide an On Site Traffic Management Strategy detailing for example    
provision of staff to direct traffic at the school entrance.  

2.  Details to be provided of cycle parking and access routes for cycles within the site. 
3.  Provision of cycle route signage to the school, for which plans to be agreed in writing 

with KCC Highways & Transportation; 
4. All new accesses onto Seal Hollow Road to be provided with visibility splays 

measuring 2.4 metres x 50 metres, or other dimensions if agreed in writing with KCC 
Highways & Transportation, and these visibility splays to be maintained at all times 
free from obstructions higher than 1 metre above the carriageway surface. 

5. Construction traffic management plan to be submitted and approved before 
commencement of construction;    

6.  School Travel Plans for both schools to be submitted and approved prior to opening.  
7. A planning condition that the core start and end times of the two schools should be 

offset by 30 minutes or other time to be agreed in writing. 
 

Other recommendations: 
 

1. Minor changes are recommended to the parking layout to reduce the permeability in 
the vicinity of the site exit, in order to reduce the possibility of queues stretching back 
from the exit and onto Seal Hollow Road. 

2. The western pedestrian island at the junction of the A25 with Seal Hollow Road 
should be lengthened and widened to at least 1.8 metres. This would provide 
increased pedestrian capacity and safety. 

3. A signalised crossing should be provided across Seal Hollow Road outside the 
school. A signalised crossing would have a greater initial expenditure than a school 
crossing patrol, but would have lower running costs, and would be available to help 
pedestrians at all times including pupils from after-school clubs.”  

 
Public Rights of Way raise no objection to the proposal. 
 
Environment Agency raises no objection to the application subject to the imposition of 
conditions regarding the submission of a surface water drainage scheme, a remediation 
strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site, and a verification 
report setting out completion of the works set out in the remediation strategy. A further 
condition is required to ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
submitted Flood Risk Assessment. Further advice and guidance is provided regarding 
waste on site, waste to be taken off site, and storage of fuels and chemicals, and it is 
requested that these matters be dealt with by way of informative.  
 
Sport England does not wish to raise an objection to this application, subject to the 
imposition of a condition requiring the submission and approval of a Community Use 
Agreement prior to the first use of the development, and a condition requiring the 
completion of the replacement tennis courts, new sports hall, activity studio and 
changing rooms prior to the first use of the development. With regard to the later, these  
facilities must be fully operational and available for use.  
 
The County Council’s Biodiversity Officer comments as follows: 
 
“We have reviewed the additional ecological information submitted and we are largely 
satisfied that all previous points have been adequately addressed.   
 
Bats 
The submitted plans have been amended and the veteran tree (T60), which has suitable 
features for roosting bats, would be retained.  As such we are satisfied that there is no 

Page 62



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.19 

requirement for emergence surveys to be carried out at this time. If any works need to 
be carried out on the tree in the future – an ecologist must be consulted prior to works 
being carried out to establish the works will impact roosting bats and identify if a bat 
survey is required. Trees T81, A, B and C have also been identified as having suitable 
features for roosting bats however they are not proposed for removal as part of the 
proposed development as such we are satisfied that no additions surveys have been 
recommended. 
 
Lighting can have a negative impact on roosting, commuting and foraging bats.  We 
advise that a lighting scheme is designed to have minimal impacts on bats and the Bat 
Conservation Trust’s Bats and Lighting in the UK guidance is adhered to.   
 
Reptiles 
Additional information has been submitted detailing that as there would only be a small 
area of low quality habitat impacted along the southern boundary a precautionary 
mitigation approach is appropriate to clear the site. We are satisfied with this proposed 
approach but we advise that as a condition of planning permission, if granted, a detailed 
mitigation strategy is submitted for comments. 
 
Enhancements 
One of the principles of the National Planning Policy Framework is that “opportunities to 
incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be encouraged”. 
 
It is welcomed that the Ecology Zone would be created along the southern boundary as 
this would ensure that there is connectivity for species from the surrounding area to the 
Ecology Zone. We advise that if planning permission is granted a detailed Landscape 
and Ecological Management Plan (LEMPs) is produced for the whole site as a condition 
of planning permission.  We suggest the following condition: 
 
A landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and be 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority prior to the commencement of the 
development.  The content of the LEMP shall include the following. 
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed. 
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management. 
c) Aims and objectives of management. 
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives. 
e) Prescriptions for management actions. 
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being 
rolled forward over a five-year period). 
g) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan. 
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures. 

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the 
long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the 
management body(ies) responsible for its delivery.  The approved plan will be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.” 
 
The County Council’s Landscape Advisor comments as follows: 

 
“Previous comments made in relation to species choice and numbers have been 
adequately addressed in the supplied additional information.   
Given that the:  
• Scheme is altering the car park layout,  
• Veteran trees have been identified, 

Page 63



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.20 

• The intention to retain trees within this area (something which we support) 
• And both demolition and construction being carried out;   
We would recommend a number of conditions to ensure retained and newly planted 
trees would be sufficiently protected.  All construction and demolition activities should be 
undertaken in accordance with the British Standard (BS5837:2012). 
 
Conditions 
• Provision of a detailed Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) explaining how the 
demolition would be carried out with regard to the retained trees. 
• Submission of a scaled Tree Protection Plan (TPP) to be submitted and approved by 
KCC before any works (including demolition) begin. “ 
 
The County Council’s Conservation Architect no comments received to date. 
 
The County Council’s Archaeologist raises no objection subject to a condition being 
placed on any grant of planning permission requiring the securing of the implementation 
of a programme of archaeological work, to be undertaken in accordance with a written 
specification and timetable. 
 
The County Council’s School Travel Plan Advisor states that should permission be 
granted a condition of consent should require the submission of a detailed Travel Plan 
within 6 months of occupation of the development. It is also suggested that prior to 
occupation of the development the school produce and submit on ‘on-site traffic 
management plan’, to be prepared in consultation by Highways and Transportations 
Development Planning Team.  
 
The Wildernesse Residents Association comment as follows (in summary). A full 
copy of the view of Wildernesse Residents Association is attached in appendix 2:  
 
“We wish to emphasise from the outset that our planning objections are not raised 
against efforts to redevelop this site for educational purposes.  We share popular 
support for that objective. Our objections relate to major planning issues relating to 
access, traffic congestion, and possible over-development, issues we feel are being 
poorly considered and are being allowed to go by default. As presently submitted we 
consider the development will - to the contrary - prevent these issues being addressed 
either from the outset or in the future.” 
  
Kent Police Crime Prevention Design Advisor has no objection to the principle of the 
proposal in regard to crime prevention matters, but requests that should planning 
permission be granted, a condition of consent be imposed to require the submission and 
approval of details of ‘measures to minimise the risk of crime’, to accord with the 
principles and physical requirements of Crime Prevention Through Environmental 
Design. The approved measures should thereafter be implemented before the 
development is occupied and thereafter retained.  
 

Local Member 
 
34. The local County Member, Mr Nick Chard, was notified of the application on the 31 

December 2013. The County Member for the adjacent Division, Mrs Margaret Crabtree, 
was also notified of the application on the 31 December 2013. Both County Members 
were also notified of the submission of additional supporting information on the 8 May 
2014. 
 

Page 64



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.21 

Mr Nick Chard has commented as follows: 
 
“I am a school governor at Knole Academy which is seen as competitive to the proposed 
Grammar School (Annexe) and Free School. I discussed this with Geoff Wild who, in his 
capacity as monitoring officer, agreed that I should not speak at the committee meeting 
due to my conflict of interest. ” 

 
Publicity 
 
35. The application was publicised by the posting of 6 site notices, advertisement in a local 

newspaper, and the individual notification of 112 neighbouring properties. All those that 
wrote in regarding the application were also notified of the submission of additional 
supporting information on the 9 May 2014. 

 
Representations  
 
36. 14 letters of objection on the original application have been received as a result of 

publicity, including from the Parkfield Residents Association and the Sevenoaks Cycle 
Forum. 34 letters of support have been received, and a further 86 letters of support have 
been received from pupils of the existing Trinity Free School. In addition, at the date of 
drafting this report, a further letter from the Sevenoaks Cycle Forum, a further 2 letters 
of objection, and a further letter of support (ie, from the same addresses) have been 
received following further notification on the additional supporting information submitted, 
which included a supplementary Transport Assessment, further information with regard 
to ecological and arboricultural matters, and further details regarding the educational 
case of need. I have also received a letter of support from the Rt Hon Michael Fallon 
MP, Sevenoaks and Swanley, which will be summarised at the end of this section of the 
report.  

 
A summary of the main planning issues raised/points of objection/points of support is 
set out below: 
 
Access and Highway Matters 
• Supports the proposal for the provision of two new secondary schools but object to 

the current access proposals in the strongest possible terms; 
Vehicular Access 

• The proposals involve some 2050 pupils and 220 staff. This would generate well in 
excess of 2000 extra traffic movements on roads that are already over capacity; 

• As it stands, there are severe traffic problems on Seal Hollow Road especially at 
peak times. Adding this development will bring the road to a standstill; 

• Sevenoaks is being surrounded by large school sites which are causing serious 
congestion and pollution at peak hours. This also leads to traffic using side roads and 
private roads to avoid the congested A25 and junctions; 

• A detailed independent Traffic Assessment should be undertaken to support the 
proposals, assessing the full impact on the proposals on traffic congestion on the  
whole of Sevenoaks Town, the A25 and neighbouring roads; 

• The submitted Transport Assessment is insufficient for a scheme of this size and 
nature;  

• The proposals are for the existing accesses to the site to remain essentially 
unchanged, but clearly the proposed development envisages a very significant 
increase in vehicle and pedestrian flows; 

• Seal Hollow Road is narrow in places, meaning that if 2 large vehicles need to pass 
traffic comes to a halt. Buses accessing the school would bring traffic to a standstill; 

Page 65



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.22 

• Additional traffic would add to the air pollution along the A25, and at the Bat and Ball 
junction, which is already a pollution black spot; 

• The totally inadequate provisions at the Bat and Bull/A25 junction aggravate the 
congestion at the Seal Hollow Road/A25 junction, and increase the number of 
vehicles using Seal Hollow Road as an alternative access to Sevenoaks; 

• Accidents on the A25 appear to have been ignored; 
• One solution to the problems would be to replace the traffic lights at the Seal Hollow 

Road/A25 junction with a roundabout/gyratory, and to provide direct vehicle access 
into the new school from this. A signal controlled school crossing could then be 
provided on Seal Hollow Road. The roundabout would take only a small piece of land 
from the north west corner of the site; 

• The redevelopment of this site is likely to take place at the same time as a potential 
major development and conversion of the nearby Wildernesse House (formally 
Dorton House). This would create a substantial increase in heavy traffic movements 
on the A25; 
Pedestrian access 

• The Wildernesse School for Boys Travel Plan identified issues/concerns with 1) 
pupils crossing Seal Hollow Road, 2) Pupils safety when going to cars/buses at the 
end of the school day, & 3) Increasing the number of pupils who cycle and walk to 
school. It also noted that ‘a number of pupils have actually been hit and injured by 
vehicles’ and that the school had made a number of applications to the District 
Council for a pedestrian crossing but had not been successful. In short, the access 
facilities for the former Wildernesse School were identified as being inadequate for 
the number of staff and pupils at that time. The same access provisions for the two 
new schools, therefore, can surely only be seen as totally inadequate; 

• Pedestrian access to the site has not been considered. Infact, the introduction of a 
signalised pedestrian crossing phase at the Seal Hollow Road/A25 Junction has 
been discounted in the application documentation as it ‘would increase delays to 
motorists’. Pedestrians would be ‘endangered’; 
Pick up/drop off 

• No consideration is given to what would happen to parent drop off and pick up; 
• An extra school pick up/drop off facility should be provided at the Seal end of the 

school site; 
• At the very least, controlled parking should be introduced in the surrounding 

residential streets; 
• Staggered opening and finishing times will just extend the period of time over with 

‘traffic chaos’ would occur; 
• The staggered start and finish times should be wider apart than 30 minutes; 

Cycle Access 
• The submitted Transport Assessment and Travel Plan make no reference to the 

Sevenoaks District Cycle Strategy (prepared by Kent County Council Highways & 
Transportation, Sevenoaks District Council, and Sevenoaks Cycle Form in 2011 and 
was approved by the Joint Transportation Board in March 2012). The strategy 
includes a proposed ‘school-friendly’ cycle route across the north of Sevenoaks, 
linking primary and secondary schools, which at its eastern end would terminate at 
the Wildernesse site (Riverhead School marks the western end). The route follows 
residential streets and footpaths, providing an alternative to the A25. Sevenoaks 
Cycle Forum are disappointed by this omission as it is the view of the Forum that the 
implementation of this route would play a vital part in meeting the goals of the Travel 
Plan for the Wildernesse site. Without the implementation of the route, there is no 
safe route to the school by bike and cycling on many roads, including the A25 is 
hazardous. A pedestrian and cycle access to the site should also be provided at the 
eastern end of the site, towards Seal; 

Page 66



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.23 

 
 

Design/Massing/Siting 
• The four storey buildings are far too high; 
• The proposals represent significant overdevelopment next to one of Sevenoaks most 

treasured Conservation Areas; 
• The school site is within the Green Belt and a doubling of the number of pupils on 

this site and the significant development is completely inappropriate and damaging to 
this important landscape; 

• The site has inadequate sports facilities to support two schools; 
 

General Matters/Amenity Concerns 
• There is significant surface water flooding along Seal Hollow Road and along the 

A25 after modest rainfall. The large increase in hard surfacing on the site would 
increase the risk of flooding; 

• Part of the site is within a flood risk zone, and any development would exacerbate an 
already sensitive flooding position; 

• It is considered that the proposed development has been well developed/designed to 
limit its impact on the surroundings, but concern is expressed that further 
development on the site in the future would undermine this. Some site specific 
development restrictions or assurance that the new buildings would not get planning 
permission to extend to the south or increase in height could address this; 

• The existing fence to the south of the site, between the school site and 
‘Greensleeves’ is in a poor state of repair. A secure boundary needs to be provided, 
which should also offer year round screening. Existing trees on this boundary do not 
provide low level screening. A secure boundary should be established, and year 
round screening provided (wooden fence or hedge); 

• Screening should be provided along the southern site boundary with ‘Greensleeves’ 
during construction works; 

• The Department of Education has turned down the proposals for the Grammar 
Annexe. Is it technically possible or desirable to grant permission to build this 
school?  

• The plans should be redrafted to make better use of the site for the Free School as 
the Grammar Annexe may never get permission from the Department of Education; 

• The consultation by the Education Authority and the Planning Authority has been 
poorly publicised;  

 
Support 
• This is a thoroughly researched and compelling proposal to build two much needed 

state secondary schools in Sevenoaks; 
• Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells parents each have a choice of six state secondary 

schools in their towns. Sevenoaks parents only have one; 
• Over 2000 children leave Sevenoaks every day to attend secondary schools, at a 

great cost in terms of time, money and traffic pollution; 
• The existing school site is a ‘derelict eyesore’ and should be redeveloped to benefit 

the local community and the pupils of Sevenoaks; 
• Many parents of pupils/prospective pupils at Trinity School have written in support of 

the proposals. The new Christian School is in temporary buildings and needs to 
relocate to the Wildernesse site as a matter of urgency due to space constraints. The 
current temporary buildings are not designed for educational use, and there are no 
outdoor or sports facilities. Parents express their satisfaction with the school and the 
importance of having a faith school within Sevenoaks.  

Page 67



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.24 

• Pupils of Trinity Free School have expressed their support for the proposals. Their 
existing accommodation is not designed for educational use and the pupils look 
forward to benefiting from science labs, sports facilities (including playing fields), and 
purpose built education facilities, with appropriate IT etc. According to external 
verification, Trinity School is ‘outstanding’ and the new facilities would enable such 
excellent education to be available to further pupils in the Sevenoaks area. Current 
facilities can only cater for 240 pupils, and will reach capacity next year.   

 
In addition, I have received objections to the proposal from the Knole Academy 
Governing Body. A summary of the main planning issues raised/points of objection is set 
out below: 
• It is believed that the educational case of need is flawed as they do not take into 

account the large number of vacant places in the north of Sevenoaks, not all the 
schools in Tonbridge/Tunbridge Wells with spare places; 

• When planning Knole Academy, KCC’s own process for commissioning (2009) was 
clear that the size of Knole Academy would meet the secondary education needs of 
the area; 

• Very Special Circumstances do not exist is the educational need is flawed; 
• The buildings proposed would have a significant impact on the surrounding area in 

terms of size and scale; 
• Knole Academy was relocated to the west campus for a number of reasons, one of 

which was the Seal Hollow Road/A25 road junction. Knole Academy believe that the 
development as proposed would cause gridlock at the start and end of the school 
day, having a significant impact on the punctuality of the Knole Academy students. 

• To say that additional traffic congestion will take place over time is not a reason to 
support the scheme; 

• Staggered start and finish times is a naïve approach, parents will drop off children as 
and when is convenient, and buses run specific cost effective schedules and will 
continue to do so according to business principles. Moreover, it is not effective nor 
environmentally friendly to run two different bus services to the same place; 

• There is only space for 8 buses on site, with over 2000 pupils; 
• It is disingenuous to use the travel plan for Knole Academy in 2011. Despite the 

rhetoric of local schools, many children will commute to attend a grammar annexe or 
an ecumenical Christian School; 

• There were accidents on Seal Hollow Road involving students from Wildernesse 
School in the last 10 years, at a time when the school roll was falling so significantly 
fewer pupils on site; 

Knole Academy Governing Body also raise the following: 
• The planning application is submitted by Kent County Council (KCC), and will be 

heard by a KCC Committee, raising significant interest concerns; 
• The applications lodged for a Grammar Annexe have been turned down by the 

Secretary of State, Michael Gove, as being unlawful. Therefore, the building of a 
Grammar Annexe as per the planning application is in direct contravention of the 
Secretary of State for Education’s decision; 

 
I have received support for the proposals from the Governing Body of Amherst School, (a 
Junior School in Riverhead) and St John’s Church of England (VC) Primary School, 
Sevenoaks. A summary of the main planning issues raised/points of support is set out 
below. 
• Fully support any building development that provides additional secondary places, 

selective or non-selective, for Sevenoaks Children; 

Page 68



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.25 

• In excess of 1900 children (more than 75%) commute from their homes in 
Sevenoaks to school in Tonbridge/Tunbridge Wells. These commutes of between 15 
and 25 miles are excessive and time consuming; 

• This application is seeking to provide two new secondary schools in Sevenoaks for 
local Sevenoaks children, to the benefit of children in terms of a much shorter and 
relaxing journey to and from school; 

• The application documents cite KCC projections of growth in the school age 
population in Sevenoaks. This is already evident at local primary schools, the 
following of which have expanded in the last 3 years: 
- Seal Primary School (new build to accommodate increased entry in Yr 1) 
- St John’s CofE Primary School (now fully subscribed with 208 pupils. 3 years ago 

the school had 60 pupils) 
- Sevenoaks Primary School (expanded from 2FE to 3FE) 
- Lady Boswell’s School (expanded from 1FE to 2FE) 
Many other primaries in villages across the District also continue to increase their 
intake. This surge in pupils will hit secondary schools in a few years time; 

• KCC projections do not factor in new housing development in the area. Construction 
is currently underway for 500 new homes in Dunton Green, and 450 homes are 
proposed on the Fort Halsted site. Inward migration to fill these new homes can only 
increase the school age population. 

• Without the establishment of a Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe, local children who pass 
their 11-plus test will be denied places at West Kent Grammar Schools because they 
will be living outside of the ever shrinking catchment areas; 

• This problem was highlighted in March 2012 when around 100 pupils passed their 
11-Plus but were not offered a West Kent grammar school place. Without additional 
capacity this problem will only get worse; 

• The proposals will increase Sevenoaks’ paternal preference. Over 40% of primary 
schools in the Sevenoaks District are faith based, yet the nearest faith based 
secondary school was 12 miles away in Tunbridge Wells, and massively 
oversubscribed. Trinity Free School gives parents a local fait based school; 

• There is overwhelming local support for a Grammar School in Sevenoaks, and on 29 
March 2012, 66 out of 70 Kent County Council Members voted in favour of creating 
grammar school places in Sevenoaks. Mr Gove’s legal ruling hinged on the issue of a 
girls’ grammar school being the sponsor for a Sevenoaks Annexe for both girls and 
boys. Efforts are continuing to resolve this; 

The letter(s) of support does, however, state that certain aspects of access and highway 
safety should be addressed up front. These are as follows: 
• Pedestrian access – there is not crossing on Seal Hollow Road or the A25, and long 

sections of both roads have no pavement and/or only a pavement on one side; 
• Vehicle access – the southern site exit from the Trinity School has poor visibility and 

feels very unsafe. Further review of this exit is recommended; 
 

I have also received a letter of support from the Rt Hon Michael Fallon MP, Sevenoaks 
and Swanley. A summary of the main planning issues raised/points of support is set out 
below: 
• Sevenoaks is the only major town in Kent without a grammar school, which is a 

longing running grievance amongst parents and pupils, as evidenced by a 2012 
petition signed by more than 2000 people; 

• Sevenoaks children find it harder to secure a grammar school place, but if they do, 
have to travel a considerable distance to take it up; 

• The County Council’s figures from 2009 show that 91 out of 253 pupils who passed 
the 11+ in Sevenoaks did not get any of their four preferences on National Offer Day; 

Page 69



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.26 

• Recent figures show that 1,151 students who live in south Sevenoaks travel to 
selective schools in Tonbridge/Tunbridge Wells, or further afield, as there is no 
selective provision in Sevenoaks. Moreover, as the number of Year 7 pupils 
increases in these schools, the application of distance criteria through the admissions 
process will result in selective provision becoming increasingly less accessible for 
Sevenoaks south students; 

• Non-selective schools are able to expand to meet increased demand. It cannot be 
fair that those choosing selective schools are discriminated against because the 
system cannot similarly accommodate them; 

• The obvious solution is to provide new grammar school places in Sevenoaks itself. 
 
Discussion 
 
37. In considering this proposal regard must be had to the Development Plan Policies 

outlined in paragraph 32. Section 38(6) of the 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act states that applications must be determined in accordance with the Development 
Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Therefore, this proposal needs 
to be considered in the context of Development Plan Policies, Government Guidance, 
including the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), and other material planning 
considerations arising from consultation and publicity. Issues of particular relevance 
include impact upon the Metropolitan Green Belt, siting, massing & design, impact upon 
the adjacent conservation area, highway implications and access, and whether the 
development is sustainable in light of the NPPF.  

 
38. Policy EN1 of the Sevenoaks District Local Plan, and Core Strategy Policy SP1, seek to 

conserve and enhance the environment and require development to be well designed 
and respect its setting. This is particularly relevant to this site which is identified within 
the Sevenoaks District Local Plan as being within the Metropolitan Green Belt. Policy 
LO8 of the Sevenoaks District Core Strategy seeks to resist inappropriate development 
within the Green Belt, unless justified by exceptional circumstances. Reference is made 
to PPG2 which has been replaced by the NPPF. The NPPF says “as with previous 
Green Belt Policy, inappropriate development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt 
and should not be approved except in very special circumstances”. The NPPF does not 
explain in any detail what ‘very special circumstances’ means, but does go on to say 
“very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations”. Any built development within the Metropolitan Green Belt could affect 
the openness of it and would be contrary to planning policies. On this basis the 
development proposed must be considered as a departure from the Development Plan. 
Therefore, if Members were minded to grant planning permission, the application would 
need to be referred to the Secretary of State for his consideration.  

 
Green Belt Considerations 
 
39. By virtue of the criteria in the NPPF, and various Local Plan Policies, the development 

is inappropriate in Green Belt terms. Although paragraph 89 of the NPPF lists examples 
of development that could be considered appropriate within the Green Belt, the County 
Planning Authority is of the view that the proposals would not meet these exceptions 
and that the development is inappropriate. Inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and it is for the applicant to demonstrate why permission 
should be granted. Such development should not be approved, except in very special 
circumstances. It is, therefore, necessary to consider the impact of the development on 
the openness of the Green Belt and whether or not there are very special 

Page 70



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.27 

circumstances that would warrant setting aside the general presumption against 
inappropriate development.  

 
40. A ‘planning statement’ was submitted in support of this application, which sets out what 

the applicant considers to be the very special circumstances that warrant setting aside 
the general presumption against what would be inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt. The applicant considers the following ‘very special circumstances’ are sufficient to 
collectively outweigh any Green Belt policy objection: 
i) The identified education need and operational need for additional secondary schools 
places in Sevenoaks; 
ii) A lack of suitable alternative development options; 
iii) The extent of community and sustainability benefits the proposal would deliver; and, 
iv) The quality of the design and level of mitigation proposed that would ensure that the 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt would be substantially limited in comparison 
to the existing school site.  
Each of these ‘very special circumstances’ as put forward by the applicant will be 
considered and discussed in the following section of this report. I will take each point in 
turn, first considering the case of need for additional secondary school places in 
Sevenoaks.  

 
       Case of need 
 
41. As outlined in paragraph 32 of this report, great emphasis is placed within planning 

policy generally, specifically paragraph 72 of the NPPF, on the need to ensure a 
sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs to existing and new 
communities. The NPPF states that Planning Authorities should take a proactive, 
positive and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development 
that will widen choice in education. The NPPF further states that Planning Authorities 
should give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools. The Policy 
Statement – Planning for Schools Development (15 August 2011) further sets out the 
Government’s commitment to support the development of state funded schools and 
their delivery through the planning system. In addition, Sevenoaks District Core Stretegy 
contains planning objectives that seek to protect existing school sites and support the 
improvement of facilities where necessary. In particular, Policy SP9 of the Core strategy 
seeks to support the development of infrastructure facilities required to resolve existing 
deficiencies, with the definition of ‘infrastructure’ encompassing education and 
community facilities.  
 

42. Sevenoaks has a long history of students commuting long distances out of town to 
pursue secondary education. The applicant advises that Sevenoaks District is divided 
into two educational ‘parts’, north and south, and each ‘part’ has a ‘travel to school 
area’. In the northern part of the District, nearly all students attend Orchard Academy in 
Swanley, Hextable School (Oasis Academy), or the selective and non-selective schools 
in Wilmington and Dartford. In the southern part of the District however, 98.5% of 
students either attend Knole Academy or the selective and non-selective schools in 
Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells. The applicant advises that the 2012 roll count indicates 
that there is a total of 2,474 Year 7-11 students resident in Sevenoaks south, who 
attend schools as follows: 

 
- 588 (23.8%) attend non-selective schools in Sevenoaks District (nearly all attend       
Knole Academy); 
- 1,138 (46%) attend selective schools in Tonbridge or Tunbridge Wells; 
- 712 (28.7%) attend non-selective schools in Tonbridge or Tunbridge Wells; 

Page 71



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.28 

- 36 (1.5%) attend non-selective schools outside of Sevenoaks, Tonbridge and 
Tunbridge wells. 
 

43. On the basis of the figures above, out of a total of 2,474 Year 7-11 pupils who live in 
Sevenoaks south, 1,886 (76.2%) travel outside of Sevenoaks to attend a Secondary 
School due to insufficient local capacity, 1,138 to attend selective schools and 748 to 
attend non-selective schools. This clearly demonstrates an existing need for further 
Secondary School places within the Sevenoaks south area. 
 

44. In addition, and as noted in the letters of support, particularly those from local primary 
schools, a number of primary schools in Sevenoaks Town and the surrounding villages, 
including Lady Boswell’s, St Johns Primary School, Sevenoaks Primary School and 
Otford Primary School, have expanded in recent years as part of the County wide Basic 
Needs Programme. In fact, many of the expansion proposals has been considered and 
approved by Members of the Planning Applications Committee in the recent past. These 
expansions are to cater for an increase in primary school pupil numbers, with the intake 
of pupils doubling in some cases. This surge in pupil numbers is working its way 
through the primary school system and will reach secondary schools in the near future. 
This further adds to the case of need, with not only existing pupils of secondary school 
age having to commute out of the District, but a future demand that will outstrip supply 
and add to the daily commute of pupils.  

 
45. With regard to future demand, the applicant states that there are two separate forecasts 

that corroborate the demand for additional Year 7-11 schools places within Sevenoaks 
South - residential based forecasting and school based forecasting. Residential based 
forecasting shows that the number of Year 7 students in the Sevenoaks South area will 
increase from 562 in 2312-13, to 681 in 2017-18, with significant housing development 
in the District expected to increase those numbers over and above the forecasts. 
School based forecasting (which uses the Year 7 forecasts for all schools in the ‘travel 
to school area’ that Sevenoaks South children attend) also indicates an increase in 
Year 7 numbers within the Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells Districts, meaning that 
schools within Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells will experience demand significantly over 
their existing capacity from pupils living within Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells, reducing 
the likelihood of pupils in Sevenoaks being offered a place. It should be noted that many 
primary schools in Tonbridge/Tunbridge Wells have also been expanded under the 
Basic Needs Programme to cater for increased pupil admission numbers, which further 
supports this case of need. The applicant has provided a forecast for the 12 schools 
that more than 95% of the pupils in the Sevenoaks South area attend, which identifies 
that all of them are expected to experience demand over capacity, with a shortfall in 
places for the Sevenoaks South ‘travel to school’ area forecast to be approximately 10 
forms of entry (FE) by September 2018. This forecast supports the case of need 
identified by local primary schools, which have experienced a dramatic increase in pupil 
admission numbers in recent years. 
 

46. The applicant is proposing to meet the forecasted 10FE shortfall in secondary school 
places by providing accommodation for Trinity Free School, enabling it to expand to 
4FE, and the provision of a 6FE Grammar Annexe. With regard to Trinity Free School, 
this existing school is already popular with pupils and parents alike and is in temporary 
accommodation which is not fit for purpose in addition to being at capacity. The 
applicant advises that over 40% of pupils in the Sevenoaks South area attend faith 
based primary schools, yet the nearest faith based secondary school (excluding Trinity) 
is 12 miles away and three times oversubscribed. In addition, the figures in paragraph 
42 above also demonstrate that a significant number of pupils within the Sevenoaks 
South area commute daily to non-selective schools in Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells. 

Page 72



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.29 

As outlined above, these schools will experience demand over capacity in the near 
future as the number of Year 7 pupils rises as the surge in pupil numbers progresses 
through the education system.  

 
47. Notwithstanding the additional 4FE provision that would be provided by Trinity Free 

School, the applicant is firmly of the view that there is a need to commission 6 FE of 
selective co-educational provision in the Sevenoaks South area by 2017. As can be 
seen by the figures in paragraph 42 above, 46% of Year 7 – 11 students in the 
Sevenoaks south area attend selective schools within Tonbridge or Tunbridge Wells. 
The representations received in support of this application emphasise the case of need, 
with Sevenoaks being the only major town in Kent without a Grammar School. 
Nevertheless, it is stated by local primary schools that not all pupils who pass their 11+ 
currently get offered a place at a grammar school even outside of the District, and that 
this situation will only worsen over time as pupil numbers grow, meaning selective 
schools in Tonbridge and Tunbridge Wells will have to reduce their catchment areas to 
cater for local demand.  

 
48. Based on the above, in my view it is evident that a clear case of need for additional 

selective and non-selective secondary school places within the Sevenoaks South area 
exists, which is largely within the Metropolitan Green Belt. Its needs to be borne in mind 
that the Green Belt covers a wide area where people live and that these people need 
local school facilities just as much as those outside of the Green Belt. The applicant has 
provided both existing and projected figures which demonstrate an existing shortfall 
within the Sevenoaks South area, and a future need which will be outstripped by 
demand unless additional places are provided. Support for the provision of school 
places is heavily embedded in the NPPF and local planning policy, and I consider that 
the need for the development should be given significant weight in this instance. Having 
accepted a need for additional secondary school places with the Sevenoaks south area, 
it is now important to consider how these places would be provided. 

 
Alternative Development Options  

 
49. As part of the applicant’s case of very special circumstances, alternative development 

options have been assessed and the applicant has concluded that there are two options 
- option 1 being to ‘do nothing’ and option 2 being to find an alternative less sensitive 
development site.  
 

50. The applicant concludes that option 1 does not represent a feasible solution as it would 
prohibit the change in the standard and level of local education required to meet the 
education need, as discussed above. Doing nothing would not address existing and 
future demand for additional selective and non-selective secondary school places within 
the Sevenoaks South area. Having accepted the case of need for such places, I 
consider a ‘do nothing’ approach to be unacceptable as it would not provide the 
educational facilities required, which is not in accordance with the underlying principles 
of Development Plan Policy or sustainable development. Therefore, the second option 
of ‘finding an alternative less sensitive development site’ must be considered and 
assessed.  

 
51. Option 2 requires finding a suitable less sensitive site (i.e. non Green Belt site) to 

accommodate the development proposals. The applicant advises that a list of search 
parameters was set out to assist in undertaking a desk-top exercise regarding the 
identification of a potential alternative site. These parameters were as follows: 
- Search Area; non Green Belt sites within Sevenoaks. 

Page 73



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.30 

- Available; currently available sites on the land and property market. 
- Suitable; sites with a reasonable potential to accommodate the development (7/8 ha). 
- Deliverable; sites with no significant environmental or financial constraints that would 
prohibit the delivery or implementation of the proposal. 

 
52. The applicant advises that despite undertaking discussions with established local land 

agents, and a significant online search exercise, it has not been possible to identify any 
currently available sites on the property market that might be considered suitable to 
accommodate the proposed development. Most, if not all, currently available sites had 
to be discounted immediately given their insufficient size. The applicant further advises 
that to provide the development across two or more sites would undermine the benefits 
triggered by co-locating the schools in respect of shared services, sustainability and 
securing the redevelopment of the Wildernesse School site.  
 

53. The applicant therefore concludes that it has not been possible to identify any other less 
sensitive sites in Sevenoaks which are currently available, suitable or deliverable for the 
development of the two co-located schools. In my view, it would not be appropriate to 
search for further alternative sites within the Green Belt as this would have no material 
benefit when compared to the current application site. In addition, I also consider that 
the application site represents the most suitable location to accommodate the proposed 
development in considering its established educational use, and the need to redevelop 
the site which is currently vacant in terms of use, with low quality educational buildings, 
many in a poor physical condition. Lastly, the applicant advises that, notwithstanding 
the above, relocating to an alternative site would present significant logistical and 
financial cost, not least from potential site acquisition, which could prejudice the viability 
and deliverability of the entire proposal.  

 
54. In summary therefore, and having considered the above, I am satisfied that the 

applicant has taken all reasonable endeavours to locate a less sensitive alternative site. 
The ‘do nothing’ approach is unacceptable given the case of need, and a lack of 
alternative sites leads me to conclude that development of the Knole (east) Academy 
site (former Wildernesse School site) is the only viable option in this instance. The site 
is available, suitable, deliverable and in the correct location to address the need for 
additional Secondary School places in the Sevenoaks south area. Moreover, the site 
has an established educational use, and is previously developed land within the Green 
Belt. In light of the above, I consider the redevelopment of the application site to be the 
most appropriate solution in this instance. Having accepted the need for the 
development, and the suitability of the proposed application site, the following sections 
of this report will concentrate on the very special circumstances put forward by the 
applicant with regard to the redevelopment of the application site itself. 

  
Wider Community and Sustainability Benefits 

 
55. The applicant considers that the proposed development would lead to several 

demonstrable community benefits. The first of these is the improved educational 
facilities that the proposals would provide, enabling greater parental choice, and both 
selective and non-selective education facilities within the Sevenoaks South area. A 
more direct community benefit would be the improved facilities, which would not only be 
available to pupils, but to the wider community. These facilities would include a 
refurbished sports hall, an additional 4-court sports hall, the replacement of the existing 
substandard tennis courts with two new Multi Use Games Areas, and various non-
sporting facilities such as theatres, libraries and large meeting areas.  
 

Page 74



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.31 

56. With regard to the sustainability benefits, as previously discussed within this report, a 
large proportion of students from the Sevenoaks South area currently have to travel 
some considerable distances to attend schools out of the District. This is unsustainable 
from an environmental perspective. The application as proposed seeks to provide both 
selective and non-selective secondary school places within the Sevenoaks south area, 
removing the need to local pupils to travel out of the District to obtain the necessary 
level of education. Furthermore, the proposals make provision for an extensive number 
of cycle spaces, a dedicated bus parking area, and improved pedestrian access 
facilities. The applicant considers that these attributes, in conjunction with the 
implementation of the School Travel Plan (to be discussed later in this report) would 
secure a highly sustainable development at both strategic and local levels.  

 
57. Although both of the above are positive attributes of the scheme as proposed, and do 

go some way to support the redevelopment of this Green Belt site, I do not consider that 
these benefits on their own would outweigh the presumption against inappropriate 
development within the Green Belt. I therefore consider that the impact of the 
development as proposed on the openness of the Green Belt needs to be addressed, 
which, in conjunction with the above, may collectively outweigh the harm to the Green 
Belt.  

 
Impact on the Openness of the Green Belt 

 
58. This development opportunity is unusual in that the existing school site is vacant and, 

therefore, the existing buildings can be demolished and the new buildings built upon 
existing areas of hardstanding. Most developments of this scale typically are seeking to 
provide replacement facilities on an existing operational school site and, therefore, new 
buildings have to be built on existing open areas of the site, and old buildings 
demolished upon decant into the new facilities. As detailed in paragraphs 10 and 11 of 
this report, the development as proposed would provide a total of 17,386sq.m gross 
external floor area, including the retained sports centre, whereas the existing buildings 
on site has a gross external floor areas of 10,312 sq.m. It is accepted, therefore, that 
the proposed development would lead to an intensification of use of the site, and an 
increase in on-site building massing. However, the applicant considers that a carefully 
thought-out high quality design and a package of appropriate mitigation measures 
substantially limit the impact of the proposal on the openness of the Green Belt, 
especially when compared to the previous school buildings.  
 

59. First, it is important to note that the existing site is well screened from public views by 
mature trees and other forms of soft landscaping along all of the site boundaries. The 
development proposals intend to enhance the boundary treatment, maintaining and 
improving this level of screening. The applicant is also of the opinion that the 
development as proposed would enhance the overall appearance of the site, which 
although not relevant to the openness of the Green Belt and its functioning, is relevant 
when considering the character and appearance of the site.  

 
60. The existing buildings on site are primarily situated in the south western corner, with the 

building heights staggered with single storey blocks closest to the site frontage with 
Seal Hollow Road, and two storey buildings behind, further into the site. The north 
western section of the site is predominately occupied by sports facilities, including 
tennis courts and a flood-lit all-weather pitch. The eastern half of the site is home to 
existing playing fields and an area of woodland, both of which would be unaffected by 
the proposed development. The applicant proposes to retain all built development in the 
western half of the application site, upon the broad footprint of the existing buildings. It 
is important to note that the Green Belt boundary runs around the boundary of the 

Page 75



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.32 

application site on the north, west and southern sides, with the eastern site boundary 
being the only boundary that links to the Green Belt beyond. The undeveloped eastern 
half of the school site would not be encroached into by the development proposals, 
resulting in the retention of the physical link of open space within the school site and the 
wider Green Belt beyond. By containing the development to the western half of the 
school site, adjacent to the built development of Sevenoaks, and upon the broad 
footprint of the existing built development, the functioning of the Green Belt would not, 
in my view, be adversely affected by the development proposals in principle. However, 
further details of the scale and massing must be considered in more detail.  
 

61. The development proposals involve the ‘rationalisation of the existing school 
accommodation’ to provide two modern fit for purpose educational buildings. As noted 
above and in paragraphs 10 and 11 of this report, the proposed development would 
result in an overall increase in floorspace across the site. However, the existing school 
buildings have a total footprint of 8,778 sq.m, whereas the proposed development 
would have a total footprint of 8,128 sq.m (both totals include the sports centre which is 
to be retained). The development as proposed would therefore result in an approximate 
7.5% reduction to the overall built footprint on the site, and 650 sq.m reduction. In the 
context of the impact of the proposals on the openness and functioning of the Green 
Belt, I consider this reduction in footprint to be a welcome element of the proposal, 
returning more of the site to two dimensional development, enhancing the perception of 
openness. The existing buildings on site are sprawled out in an unattractive 
arrangement, whereas the development as proposed would provide two purpose built 
rationalised school buildings, with clear separate identities.  

 
62. However, that reduction in footprint is achieved by proposing buildings of a larger 

massing and scale than those currently on site. As outlined in paragraphs 16, 17 & 18 
of this report, the proposed replacement buildings are a mix of two, three and (in a small 
part) four storeys. However, the applicant considers that the two buildings would have a 
limited impact on the openness of the Green Belt, and have been carefully sited and 
designed to minimise the visual impact of the development when viewed from outside of 
the site boundary. The siting and massing of the development in residential amenity 
terms will be considered later in this report, but in terms of siting and massing and the 
impact on the openness of the Green Belt, the applicant has carefully designed the 
scheme to take account of levels across the site, use of landscaping to screen and 
enhance the development, and careful selection of materials and elevational 
treatments.  

 
63. The cross sections submitted with this application give the buildings some context and 

show how the buildings would relate to the street level at Seal Hollow Road. Trinity Free 
School would be the closest element of the scheme to the site frontage, and the 
applicant has designed the building so the front of the building, on the highest plateau 
on site, is 2 stories in height. The levels on site drop as you move further away from the 
site frontage with Seal Hollow Road, so that as the storey height of the Trinity building 
increases, the drop in levels gives the impression of a building of 2.5 storeys in height, 
rather than the 3/in part 4 storey actually proposed. A building of this scale is now 
typical of modern educational establishments and, in my view, has been designed in 
such a way as to mitigate any perception of an inappropriate massing and scale.  With 
regard to the Grammar Annexe building, this building is proposed to be located towards 
the centre of the site, on the middle plateau, separated from Seal Hollow Road by 
existing and proposed car parking and, in part, by the proposed Trinity School building. 
Although this building would be 3 storeys in height, due to the degree of separation form 
Seal Hollow Road and the context within which is would be viewed, I do not consider 

Page 76



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.33 

that the massing of this building would be inappropriate or out of context with 
surrounding local development. 

 
64. Whilst the development proposals would inevitably have some impact on the Green 

Belt, I consider that the new buildings, and associated car parking and sports facilities, 
would be well contained within the immediate context of the existing school site, and 
that the impact of the proposals on the openness and functioning of the Green Belt 
would be limited. It is also of note that the large majority of the school grounds would 
continue to remain undeveloped or open in nature, reducing the overall impact of the 
development on the character of the site and its surroundings. As also noted above, the 
contribution made by the site to the Green Belt (which extends to the east) would, in my 
view, be unchanged by the development, with the open area of the site retained to the 
east, and built development on the broad footprint of the existing to the west, where it 
adjoins the built development of Sevenoaks.  

 
Summary – Very Special Circumstances/Green Belt Considerations 

 
65. Overall, I accept the applicant’s assessment and application of Green Belt Policy as set 

out in the submitted documentation, and I have considered this in the context of the 
amended policy following publication of the NPPF. The development is inappropriate 
development for the purposes of Green Belt consideration and is, therefore, by definition 
harmful. Nevertheless, in my view, the considerations summarised above are sufficient 
collectively to constitute ‘very special circumstances’ capable of outweighing the harms 
identified in this particular case.  Furthermore, I accept that the particular siting and 
design of the proposals has been carefully considered to help mitigate the impact of the 
development on the functioning and openness of the Green Belt. Accordingly, I do not 
consider that an objection on Green Belt grounds would be warranted in this particular 
case. If Members were minded to grant permission, the application would need to be 
referred to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government for his 
consideration before permission could be granted.   

 
Siting. Massing and Design – Conservation and General Matters including Residential 
Amenity 
 
66.  Having accepted the siting and massing of the proposed facilities in Green Belt terms, 

the siting, massing and design must also be considered in terms of residential and local 
amenity. The siting has not met with objection, which is a result of a significant amount 
of pre-application discussion undertaken by the applicant (including with local 
residents), which resulted in the development being moved further away from the 
southern boundary and some further design changes prior to the submission of the 
application. ‘Greensleeves’ is the property to the direct south of the proposed 
development, and is the closest property to the proposed buildings on site. The 
occupants of ‘Greensleeves’ have submitted representations on this application, and 
have sought the following:  
 - Concern is expressed that further development on the site in the future could 
undermine the carefully developed and designed scheme currently proposed. Some site 
specific development restrictions or assurance that the new buildings would not get 
planning permission to extend to the south or increase in height could address this; 
- The existing fence to the south of the site, between the school site and ‘Greensleeves’ 
is in a poor state of repair. A secure boundary needs to be provided, which should also 
offer year round screening. Existing trees on this boundary do not provide low level 
screening. A secure boundary should be established, and year round screening 
provided (wooden fence or hedge); 

Page 77



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.34 

- Screening should be provided along the southern site boundary with ‘Greensleeves’ 
during construction works; 

 
67. With regard to the first point, I must advise that the School (or others) could submit a 

planning application for further development in the future. However, given the nature of 
the proposals and the purpose built school building that would be provided, which would 
include all of the necessary and required facilities and space for a school of this size, I 
consider it unlikely that the School would wish to extend in the foreseeable future. 
Should the School wish, however, to extend to the south and/or upwards in height a 
planning application would be required which would have to be considered on its own 
merits at that time. However, due to the constraints of the access and car parking 
facilities around the Trinity School buildings, I consider it highly unlikely that the school 
would or could extend to the south.  

 
68. As the occupants of ‘Greensleeves’ state, the existing fence to the south of the site, 

between the school site and their property is in a poor state of repair. The occupants of 
the property consider that a secure boundary should be provided, which should offer 
year round screening as the existing trees on this boundary do not provide low level 
screening. It is therefore requested that a secure boundary be established, and year 
round screening provided (wooden fence or hedge). I consider this request to be more 
than reasonable given the nature of the proposals, and the applicant has confirmed in 
writing that as part of the proposals, a replacement fence would be provided along this 
southern boundary. However, no details of such a fence have been provided at this 
stage, and the applicants request that this matter be dealt with pursuant to planning 
condition, should permission be granted.  

 
69. Little detail has been provided with regard to fencing, gates and means of enclosure 

across the site, so I consider it appropriate that, should permission be granted, details 
should be submitted pursuant to condition for written approval. Such details must 
include the height, exact location, specification, material and colour finish to the fencing, 
gates and means of enclosure across the site. In addition, given the fact that 
‘Greensleeves’ directly adjoins the school site, and in essence shares a common 
boundary line, I consider that the applicant should consult with the occupants of that 
property to agree the proposed fencing to the southern boundary prior to submission of 
the details. The occupants would also be consulted on the submitted details to ensure 
that the details are acceptable.  

 
70. With regard to the required screening during construction works, I consider this to be 

appropriate, and will discuss this in further detail in the ‘construction’ section of this 
report.  

 
71. ‘Greensleeves’ would be the closest property to the proposed built development on site, 

specifically the Trinity Free School building. However, the nearest part of the Trinity 
School to the closest elevation of ‘Greensleeves’ would be 29.3 metres, and that part of 
the Trinity School would be the two storey sports hall, with no windows in either the 
south or west elevations. That distance is beyond the Kent Design Guidance acceptable 
window to window distances, and furthermore is at an oblique angle to rear facing 
windows of ‘Greensleeves’. The boundary here is also screened with existing tree 
planting, which offers high levels screening. Subject to the condition outlined in 
paragraph 69 above, which would secure low level screening and a secure boundary 
line, I am satisfied that the proposed development would not have a significant impact 
on the amenity of the occupants of ‘Greensleeves’. In addition, due to the distance to 
other neighbouring properties, the level changes on site and the existing and proposed 
planting and screening around the site, I do not consider that the buildings proposed 

Page 78



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.35 

would lead to any undue overlooking of neighbouring properties, or would be 
overbearing in nature. 

 
72. Further representations received suggest that four storey buildings are far too high, and 

that the proposals represent overdevelopment of the site. It is also noted that part of the 
southern boundary of the application site is adjacent to the Wildernesse Conservation 
Area. First, with regard to four storey development, only a very small element of the 
eastern end of the Trinity School building is four storey, with the remainder of the Trinity 
building being a mixture of single, two and three storey, and the Grammar Annexe 
building being three storey. It should also be noted that the applicant has carefully 
considered the levels across the site, as discussed in paragraph 63 above. The three 
and four storey elements are set at the lowest points of site (excluding the playing field), 
making us of lover ground floor stepped into the building design, giving an impression of 
a much lower building when viewed from Seal Hollow Road. With regard to 
overdevelopment of the site, I think that this matter has been addressed in the Green 
Belt discussion above, in that the total footprint of buildings across the site has reduced, 
and that the applicant has carefully rationalised space to create fit for purpose buildings 
at a scale and massing appropriate for the site and its surroundings.  

 
73. The County Council’s Conservation Architect was consulted on this application but no 

comments have been received to date. From my previous experience, this would lead 
me to believe that the Conservation Architect is not concerned about the impact of the 
proposal on the adjacent Conservation Area. Nevertheless, it is important to consider 
and address this matter. Wildernesse Conservation Area is characterised by large 
residential properties in large open plots with substantial mature natural landscaping. 
The boundary of the Conservation Area, as can be seen on the site location plan on 
page 2 of this report, adjoins the application site boundary to the south, to the west of 
the boundary of the site with ‘Greensleeves’. As can be seen on the plan on page 2, 
there are no buildings within the Conservation Area to the direct south of the existing 
buildings on site. However, the District Council has recently granted planning 
permission for two properties to be built on the empty parcel of land to the west of 
‘Greensleeves’. The replacement buildings on site, would not, in my view impact upon 
these properties or the Conservation Area. Trinity Free School is proposed to the south 
west of the application site, with only a very limited element of the eastern end of the 
building being in line with the Conservation Area boundary. The Grammar Annexe, 
which is proposed to the north west of the Trinity building, would lie to the north of the 
Conservation Area boundary, but would be over 60 metres from that boundary at the 
closest point.  

 
74. The boundary of the application site is well screened, especially to the south and east, 

with Summerhouse Wood occupying the eastern corner of the application site. In 
addition, the Conservation Area itself is characterised by mature landscaping and tree 
planting. Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states that ‘when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation’. Although some views of the school building 
may be afforded from vantage points within the Conservation Area, I do not consider 
that the proposals would have a negative effect on the character and/or appearance of 
the Conservation Area, in considering the established educational use of the site, the 
poor quality of existing buildings, the degree of separation and the significant amount of 
screening. I therefore see no reason to refuse the application on this ground.  

 
75. I do not have concerns over the general design as proposed, which is appropriate for 

the innovative uses of the internal space and the range of activities proposed. The two 
schools would read as one development but with clear individual characteristic’s giving 

Page 79



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.36 

each building a sense of identity. The applicant has provided indicative details of 
external materials, as listed in paragraph 20. However, in my view, it would be 
appropriate to seek further and final details of all materials to be used externally 
pursuant to condition, should permission be granted.  

 
76. In my view, the two school buildings would respect the character of the site, and would 

not detract from the overall quality of the surrounding area. The development is 
therefore, in my view, in accordance with the principles of Development Plan Policy and 
respects the character and appearance of the surrounding development in terms of 
scale, massing, design and appearance. Subject to the imposition of conditions 
regarding the submission of final details of external materials, I do not consider that the 
design, massing, or scale of the building would have a significantly detrimental impact 
upon the appearance or amenity of the locality and, therefore, would be acceptable.  

 
Access and highway matters 
 
77. As can be seen from the representations summarised in paragraph 36 of this report and 

the consultation responses summarised in paragraph 33, specifically the views of 
Sevenoaks Town Council and The Wildernesse Residents Association, this application 
has met with significant objection on the grounds of access and highway matters. It is 
considered by those that have raised objection that the local highway network, including 
the Seal Hollow Road/A25 junction, could not safely accommodate the traffic associated 
with the school, that insufficient on-site parking is proposed, that pedestrian and cycle 
access has not been adequately considered, and that the development as a whole 
would have a unacceptable impact on the highway network, exacerbating existing 
congestion, air pollution and safety issues.  

 
78. Before considering and discussing the points of objection raised, it is important to refer 

back to paragraphs 23-26 of this report, which summarise the access and parking 
arrangements proposed. This application is seeking approval for two schools on the 
former Knole (east) Academy site, an established school site which previously 
accommodated a 6 form of entry (FE) Secondary School with sixth form (1260 pupils). 
The Grammar Annexe proposed would also be 6 FE, accommodating the same number 
of pupils as the previous school on the application site did. However, the Trinity Free 
School would add a further 4 FE to the site, with an additional 790 pupils. In total, it is 
proposed that the site would accommodate 2,270 staff and pupils, with the break down 
as follows; 
• Grammar Annexe  -  1260 pupils 

 -  120 full time equivalent (FTE) staff 
• Trinity Free School     -  790 pupils 

  -  100 FTE staff 
 

79. In considering this proposal and its impact on the highway network, it is important to 
note the established 6 FE use of the site. In real terms, therefore, it is the implications of 
the additional 4 FE that must be considered and addressed in detail. Kent County 
Council Highway’s and Transportation advisor has made detailed comments on this 
application (see Appendix 1) following their thorough assessment of the submitted 
planning application documentation. It is the view of Highway’s and Transportation that 
a key part of the mitigation for the traffic impact of the proposal is the staggered schools 
hours (see paragraph 22), which in principle would reduce the traffic impacts to those 
associated with a 6 FE school (established at this site), and a smaller school with earlier 
arrival and departure times. In light of the mitigation proposed (to be discussed in detail 
in the following paragraphs), Highway’s and Transportation do not consider that there 
are sufficiently justifiable grounds to raise any objection to the proposals, subject to the 

Page 80



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.37 

imposition of planning conditions. The following paragraphs of this report will discuss the 
points of objection raised, consider the implications of the proposed development 
including mitigation proposed by the applicant and the conditions required by Highways 
and Transportation, and detail the considerations and final view of the Planning 
Authority with regard to whether or not the proposal is acceptable and sustainable in 
highway terms.  

 
 Impact on the local highway network including the Seal Hollow Road/A25 Junction 
 
80. Local residents, the Wildernesse Residents Association and Sevenoaks Town Council 

all express concern over the ability of the local highway network to accommodate the 
additional traffic associated with the proposals. As listed in more detail in the summary 
of representations in paragraph 36, it is considered that the proposals would generate in 
excess of 2000 extra traffic movements on roads that they consider to be over capacity, 
including the Bat and Bull junction, and the A25/Seal Hollow Road Junction. 

 
81. First, as stated in paragraph 79 above, the site has an established educational use and, 

until recently, accommodated a 6 FE Secondary School. The additional 4 FE proposed 
as part of this application would generate an additional 790 pupils over and above the 
1260 pupils a 6 FE school would accommodate. It is not, therefore, correct to state that 
the proposals would generate over 2000 new traffic movements each day, as the site 
has previously operated with 1260 pupils on site, all using the existing highway network 
and the existing access and parking facilities on site. In terms of highway considerations 
therefore, the applicant needs to address the impact and mitigation arising from the 
proposed additional 4 FE development on site. However, the wider points of objection 
raised must be considered and addressed in detail.  

 
82. Local representations suggest that the application sites access arrangements are not 

acceptable, and that an alternative access should be provided to the site from the A25 
and/or the traffic signalled A25/Seal Hollow Road junction should be removed and 
replaced with a roundabout. First, with regard to creating an access to the school site 
from Seal Hollow Road, specifically to the north eastern corner of the site (towards 
Seal), Highway’s and Transportation advise that the alignment of the A25 here and the 
extensive vegetation would result in poor visibility at any site exit so such a proposal 
would be considered unsafe and impractical. In my opinion, the provision of an access 
here, and the associated car parking/circulation space, would also meet with objection 
from Sport England as such a facility would result in a loss of playing fields. In addition, 
the eastern half of the application site is free of buildings and hardstanding which, given 
the site’s Green Belt location, is something that should be maintained. I therefore 
conclude that the provision of an access and its associated car parking/circulation 
routes direct from the A25 in the north east of the site would not be acceptable on 
highway safety, loss of playing field and Green Belt grounds.  

 
83. Several residents have suggested that a small amount of land in the northwest corner of 

the site be used to enable the construction of a roundabout. Such a roundabout would 
replace the existing signalised A25/Seal Hollow Road junction, and would also have 
direct access into the school site from it. This suggestion has been put to Highway’s and 
Transportation, who consider that such a scheme would not significantly change the 
number of conflicting traffic movements at the junction, and could indeed add to it by 
combining the school entrance to the junction. Highway’s and Transportation also 
advise that such a scheme would have a considerable expense, disproportionate to the 
net increase in pupil numbers proposed. Moreover, as will be discussed in the following 
paragraphs, Highways and Transportation are of the opinion that the mitigation 
proposed by the applicant is sufficient to address the highway impacts of the proposals. 

Page 81



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.38 

I am also of the opinion that such a major highway alteration would be disproportionate 
to the development proposed, and therefore, the existing highway and access 
arrangements should be considered and assessed in terms of their suitability to 
accommodate the traffic movements associated with the proposals.  

 
84. Having accepted that changing the access arrangements to the site and radically 

changing the signalised junction to a roundabout are not appropriate or feasible options, 
it is important to consider how the proposals would impact upon the existing highway 
network. The submitted Transport Assessment, including the supplementary document, 
has assessed the impact of the proposals on the local highway network, including 
junctions, in significant detail. Junction modelling and capacity assessments were 
carried out for the A25/Seal Hollow Road signalised junction for the current year and 
2018, both with and without the fully occupied schools. It should be noted that this 
modelling did not consider the established and permitted 6 FE use of the site and 
predicted impacts are, therefore, higher than would typically be the case. In addition, the 
modelling refers to AM peak periods only as PM traffic associated with the school would 
peak approximately an hour before the main highway network peak. PM modelling was 
not, considered necessary and/or undertaken. The Junction Modelling concludes that 
the A25/Seal Hollow Road junction in 2018 without the development would be operating 
with limited capacity. With the development, the junction would be operating over 
capacity at AM peak periods. In real terms, the Transport Assessment considers that the 
‘with development’ scenario would increase queue lengths by 18, 11 and 7 car 
respectively on the A25 east, A25 west and Seal Hollow Road approaches respectively.  

 
85.  It is accepted by Highways and Transportation that the development would result in the 

A25/Seal Hollow Road junction being over capacity at AM peak periods. However, the 
figures provided above do not take into account the established 6 FE use of the site. 
Should that have been considered, the junction would still be over capacity but the 
predicated additional queue lengths would be reduced by 60%. In addition, the applicant 
is proposing to introduce MOVA (Microprocessor Optimised Vehicle Actuation) to the 
signals to increase the effective capacity of the junction. It is estimated that this would 
reduce delays by 10%. Highways and Transportation have assessed the information 
provided, and considered the impact of the additional 4 FE on the operation of the 
junction. It is concluded that the impact would not be severe and, therefore, an objection 
regarding junction capacity would not be appropriate or justified in this instance. 

 
86. In addition to the introduction of MOVA, further mitigation measures are proposed by the 

applicant, including staggering the school start and end times. It has been suggested 
within the submitted representations that the staggered school hours would not mitigate 
the impact of the proposals. As outlined in paragraph 22 of this report, the school hours 
for both the Trinity School and the Grammar Annexe are yet to be confirmed, although 
they are expected to be generally 07.30 to 17.00, which would include a staggered start 
and finish time of both schools (30 minutes apart). This staggering in school hours is 
considered by Highways and Transportation to be a key part of the mitigation proposed 
by the applicant and, should permission be granted, a condition of consent would 
ensure that the core start and end times of the two schools would be offset by 30 
minutes. Highway’s and Transportation consider such an approach to be workable and 
effective, and point out the Dartford Grammar School and Dartford Grammar School for 
Girls (located on opposite sides of an A-classified road)  maintain staggered departure 
times which effectively reduces congestion around the schools, which have over 2,300 
pupils in total. In my view, although singularly not sufficient to mitigate the impact of the 
proposals in their entirety, the staggered start and end times would effectively reduce 
the traffic peak by spreading traffic movements out over a longer period.  

 

Page 82



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.39 

87. Further additional matters regarding the wider highway network have been raised by 
third parties and also need to be considered and addressed. First, local residents state 
that Seal Hollow Road is narrow in places, meaning that if two large vehicles need to 
pass traffic comes to a standstill. It is further suggested that the road is, therefore, 
unacceptable for use by large school buses. However, the applicant and Highway’s and 
Transportation have confirmed that school buses would use the existing bus routes 
which avoid the narrow southern section of Seal Hollow Road. I am therefore satisfied 
that the Seal Hollow Road would be able to safely accommodate buses associated with 
the school.  

 
88. Representations also express concern regarding additional congestion on Seal Hollow 

Road, the A25, the Bat and Bull junction, and other local roads. The proposals would 
create traffic congestion, as all Secondary Schools do. However, it is accepted that the 
introduction of MOVA and the staggered school start and end times, would effectively 
mitigate the impacts of the proposal in terms of congestion and junction capacity 
(including the Bat and Bull junction). In addition, the on-site facilities, to be discussed 
below, have been carefully designed to draw traffic into the site to prevent queuing onto 
Seal Hollow Road, and a substantial pick-up/drop-off facility is proposed. It should also 
be noted that the net impacts of the proposal would be during the morning weekday AM 
peaks for a maximum of 39 weeks of the year. In light of the mitigation proposed, and in 
considering that the site has an established 6 FE use, I do not consider that the addition 
of 4 FE on the site would create a significant amount of congestion on local roads. I 
would not recommend refusal of the application on this ground.  

 
89. With regard to air quality, the Bat and Ball Junction is an air quality ‘black spot’ and 

representations submitted suggest that this application would add to local air pollution 
along the A25, including the Bat and Ball Junction (a kilometre away from the 
application site). First, it is important to note that the majority of pupils who would attend 
the Trinity Free School and the Grammar Annexe would be attending schools outside of 
the District should this development not be granted permission. Those pupils would 
already be on the local highway network, albeit travelling a greater distance to school. 
Therefore, cumulatively, it could be argued that reducing journey times, and providing a 
local school for the Sevenoaks south area enabling a greater number of pupils to walk 
and cycle to school, would have a positive impact on air pollution levels. However, it 
could not be argued that the proposal would improve air quality at the Bat & Bull 
Junction or along the A25 in general, but I would suggest that the movements 
associated with a 4 FE increase above the 6 FE established use of the site would not 
materially change air pollution levels. I therefore see no reason to refuse the application 
on this ground.  

 
Site Access/Car Parking/Pick-up and Drop-off 
 
90. Further mitigation proposed by the applicant is the provision of onsite car parking, bus 

parking, and a significant amount of pupil pick-up/drop-off, carefully designed to draw 
vehicles into the site, off of Seal Hollow Road. As detailed in paragraphs 23 to 27 of this 
report, the three existing vehicular site accesses are to the retained, an additional 
vehicular access provided, and a new pedestrian access provided, to link with the 
pedestrian boulevard on site. This application proposes to provide a total of 242 car 
parking spaces, split into a larger car park to the north accessed via the existing 
‘entrance’ (widened) and ‘exit, and a smaller car park to the south, accessed via the 
new vehicular access point (in and out). The existing southern access would be retained 
for service access and deliveries only. The pedestrian boulevard would separate these 
two car parking areas.  

 

Page 83



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.40 

91. The smaller car park to the south would provide 25 car parking spaces for Trinity School 
staff, and would not be used by visitors or parents of pupils at either of the schools. The 
northern car park would be the main access point for both schools, and would included 
a 148 metre parent drop-off zone, 217 parking bays (including 24 parent parking spaces 
and 11 accessible bays), 13 motorcycle bays, and a coach parking/drop off area which 
has capacity for 8 buses and parking for 7 mini buses. It has been suggested in 
representations that pick-up and drop-off has not been considered, and that insufficient 
car parking is proposed. However, the car parking figures proposed accord with Kent 
County Council’s maximum parking standards for Secondary Schools, and I am more 
than satisfied that this is acceptable.  

 
92. A substantial amount of pick-up/drop-off is proposed, designed to ensure that vehicles 

are drawn into the site to prevent congestion around the site entrance/exit points. In 
addition, as requested by Highways and Transportation and the County Council’s 
School Travel Plan Advisor, should be permission be granted, a condition of consent 
would require the submission and approval of an ‘On Site Traffic Management Strategy’. 
That Strategy would detail how traffic would be managed on site, including the provision 
of staff to direct traffic at peak school times to ensure that the 148 metre drop off zone 
would work effectively. In addition, although not required by Highways and 
Transportation, they further recommend that the minor changes are made to the parking 
layout at the site entrance to effectively block the northern end of the first rows of car 
parking, giving vehicles no choice by to take the longer route around the site, further 
drawing them away from Seal Hollow Road. Highways and Transportation consider that 
the proposal is acceptable without such a change, but I consider that this would further 
mitigate potential congestion around the site entrance and exit points. Due to the minor 
nature of the changes, I consider that a revised plan should be submitted for approval 
pursuant to planning condition, should permission be granted, showing how the northern 
end of the first rows of car parking would be blocked to prevent vehicular access. 
Subject to these conditions, I consider the onsite car parking and pick-up/drop-off 
facilities to be acceptable to meet the demands of the proposals.   

 
93. With regard to the site accesses, Highway and Transportation require the new access 

onto Seal Hollow Road to be provided with visibility splays measuring 2.4 metres x 50 
metres, or other dimensions if agreed in writing by the County Planning Authority, and 
that the visibility splays be maintained at all times free from obstructions higher than 1 
metre above the carriageway. The applicant has confirmed that these visibility splays 
could be provided and, should permission be granted, a condition of consent would be 
imposed to accord with the wording above. In addition, it is suggested in a third party 
representation that the existing southern site access is dangerous. However, this is an 
existing access point and would be retained for service access and deliveries only. 
Highways and Transportation have visited the site and conclude that that access if 
adequate for the intended purpose. I therefore consider that site access arrangements 
to be acceptable.  

 
94. Local representations consider that controlled parking zones should be introduced in 

local roads to prevent parents picking-up/dropping off there. It is likely that some parents 
will drop-off and collect their children from surrounding roads, as happens at all schools. 
Highways and Transportation also point out that this would have been the case with the 
previous school on the site, and would be the case should those existing buildings be 
reused for an education purpose. However, it is the view of Highways and 
Transportation that the proposed drop-off/pick-up facility on site and the staggered 
school start and end times, in conjunction with bus use and pedestrian and cycle 
access, would provide a good basis for keeping any traffic impact close to the levels 

Page 84



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.41 

experienced when the established 6 FE school on site was in use. I therefore see no 
basis for requiring the introduction of controlled parking zones at this time. 

 
95. In addition to the above, should permission be granted, School Travel Plans for both 

schools should be submitted and approved prior to opening. This accords with the 
requirements of Highways and Transportation and the County Council’s School Travel 
Planner. However, before the school’s open, limited information would be available to 
enable an effective and robust Travel Plan to be prepared. I would therefore consider it 
appropriate that a review of the initial Travel Plan(s) be submitted within 6 months of the 
date of occupation of each school, and thereafter be subject to ongoing monitoring and 
review. The Travel Plan(s) would encourage and promote more sustainable methods of 
transport to the school, which would further mitigate congestion on the local highway 
network.  

 
Pedestrian Access  
 
96. The adequacy and safety of pedestrian access to the site has been raised within a 

number of third party representations, and in the consultation response from Sevenoaks 
Town Council. A lack of crossing facilities is raised, in addition to a lack of adequate 
pavements and previous records of pedestrian injuries. The applicant estimates that the 
number of pupils crossing Seal Hollow Road would be 430 in the morning and 492 in the 
afternoon. However, Highways and Transportation consider that this figure could be 
slightly more as some parents may choose to drop pupils off in local roads.   

 
97. The applicant is proposing to provide a new pedestrian crossing on Seal Hollow Road 

controlled by a school crossing patrol officer, to align with the new pedestrian site 
entrance and the access boulevard. In addition, ‘school ahead’ warning signs with wig-
wag flashing signs are proposed on both the A25 and Seal Hollow Road School 
approaches. The Public Right of Way Network/footway network is not proposed to be 
improved, and the County Council’s Public Rights of Way Officer has raised no objection 
to the application. Highways and Transportation consider the existing footpath network 
to be acceptable, and do not require any improvements to be made. However, the 
applicant does accept that there are some deficiencies in the footway network around 
the school, with footways further south along Seal Hollow Road swapping sides, with no 
dedicated drop kerb crossings. However, the applicant considers that the amount of 
pupils expected to travel from that direction would be minimal, and that safe crossing of 
the carriageway is possible. Routes used by pupils to walk to the site would be 
monitored as part of the Travel Plan process, and future improvements could be 
secured as part of the Travel Plan review process should they be deemed necessary.  

 
98. With regard to the lack of local crossing facilities and the number of accidents involving 

pupils crossing local roads in recent years, Highways and Transportation consider the 
proposed pedestrian crossing on Seal Hollow Road to be a safe and acceptable 
crossing facility in highway terms. Highways and Transportation state that personal-
injury crash record data shows that over the last 10 years there was one personal-injury 
crash on Seal Hollow Road involving a child pedestrian, and no records of accidents 
involving pedestrians on the A25. Highways and Transportation in their consultation 
response (see Appendix 1) do state that, with regard to the pedestrian crossing on Seal 
Hollow Road, it should be noted that at some times of the day there would be no 
crossing patrol, and that at some times of the day the volume of traffic may make it 
difficult for the crossing patrol to operate. In addition, Highways and Transportation refer 
to an existing traffic island, located to the west of the A25/Seal Hollow Road junction, 
which is currently only 1.47 metres wide. It is considered that that island would be likely 
to see increased pedestrian flows should this application be permitted.  

Page 85



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.42 

 
99. As can be seen in the Highways and Transportation consultation response, no objection 

is raised to the development as proposed. A number of ‘other recommendations’ are 
made by Highways and Transportation although the development is considered to be 
acceptable without them. The Highways and Transportations ‘other recommendations’ 
suggest that the western pedestrian island at the junction with the A25/Seal Hollow 
Road (referred to above) should be widened to 1.8 metres, and that the crossing to be 
provided on Seal Hollow Road should be upgraded to a signalised crossing. In 
considering the information in paragraph 98 above, I am of the view that the pedestrian 
island should be widened and a signalised crossing provided as part of this scheme, 
and would be justified in this instance. The applicant have agreed to provide both of 
these pedestrian access improvements, and I can consider that their provision can only 
encourage further pupils to walk to school, and enable safe crossing of both the A25 
and Seal Hollow Road. Therefore, should permission be granted, I consider that 
conditions of consent should be imposed requiring further/final details of the widening of 
the pedestrian island, and the provision of a signalised crossing, and a timeframe for 
implementation of the works. Given that the school has an established 6 FE use, I would 
consider it reasonable that the timeframe for implementation be linked to the amount of 
pupils of site. When the amount of pupils on site (both schools) reaches 1260, the 
facilities should be provided. However, such detail would be approved pursuant to the 
condition. Subject to the conditions outlined above, I am satisfied that the development 
would be acceptable in terms of safe pedestrian access.  

 
 Cycle Access 

 
100.Local representations, specifically those from the Sevenoaks Cycle Forum, raise 

concerns regarding the provision of safe cycle access to the site. The Sevenoaks Cycle 
Forum are of the view that the submitted Transport Assessment(s) and Travel Plan 
made no reference to the Sevenoaks District Cycle Strategy, a document prepared by 
Kent County Council Highway’s and Transportation, Sevenoaks District Council and the 
Cycle Form. The Sevenoaks District Cycle Strategy includes a proposed ‘school-
friendly’ cycle route across the north of Sevenoaks, linking primary and secondary 
schools, which at its eastern end would terminate at the application site (Riverhead 
School marks the western end). The route follows residential streets and footpaths, 
providing an alternative to the A25. Sevenoaks Cycle Forum consider that the 
implementation of the route would play a vital part in meeting the goals of the Travel 
Plan for the former Wildernesse site and that without the implementation of the route, 
there is no safe route to the school by bike and cycling on many roads, including the 
A25 is hazardous. The applicant has considered the points raised by the Cycle Forum 
and included reference to the Cycle Route within the supplementary Transport 
Assessment. However, the applicant was of the view that the route, which links St Johns 
Hill to the application site via Wickenden Road, Littlewood, Hillingdon Avenue and The 
Crescent, is already available for use by cycles, although not specifically signed as a 
cycle route. Highway’s and Transportation consider that that section of the route should 
be sign posted to encourage use of the route, and request that a condition of consent be 
imposed to require the provision of cycle signage to the school. Details of the location of 
the signage and a timeframe for installation would be required as part of the condition. 
The applicant has subsequently agreed to provide the required signage, and I am of the 
opinion that this should be provided to further encourage sustainable transport by the 
provision of a safe clearly signed route. Therefore, should permission be granted, I 
consider that the provision of cycle route signage should be secured by way of a 
planning condition, with details of location, type of signage, and a timeframe for 
implementation to be submitted for approval.   

 

Page 86



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.43 

101.Within the application site, the applicant is proposing to provide 90 cycle stands (180 
cycle parking provision) adjacent to the main entrance of the Grammar Annexe and a 
further 50 cycle stands (100 cycle parking provision) adjacent to the Trinity School. Safe 
cycle routes would also be provided within the site, joining the site entrances with the 
cycle parking facilities. However, Highway’s and Transportation consider that further 
details of the cycle routes within the site and the cycle parking facilities should be 
submitted for consideration and further approval. Therefore, should permission be 
granted, a further condition of consent would require the submission of further details 
with regard to the on-site cycle access and parking facilities. Subject to that, and the 
cycle route signage condition discussed above, I consider that the proposal would be 
acceptable in terms of the provision of safe cycle access.  

 
Summary – Access and Highway Considerations 

 
102.In my view, the introduction of MOVA at the A25/Seal Hollow Road junction, the 

staggered school start and end times, the on-site pick-up/drop-off arrangements and 
improvements to car and bus access, parking and manoeuvring areas, collectively 
effectively mitigate the impact of the proposals on the highway network, especially in 
considering the established 6 FE use of the site. In addition, the improvements required 
to pedestrian and cycle access, including the provision of a signalised crossing and 
cycle route signage, would, in conjunction with the required School Travel Plan, 
encourage the use of more sustainable modes of transport. Subject to the imposition of 
conditions, as discussed in paragraphs 80 - 101, I do not consider that the proposed 
development would have a significantly detrimental impact on the highway network and 
therefore see no reason the refuse the application on this ground.  

 
Landscaping 
 
103.As outlined in paragraph 27 of this report, an Arboricultural Assessment/Survey has 

been submitted in support of this application. The proposed development layout (as 
amended) would ensure that all Grade A trees would be retained. The woodland habitat 
to the east of the site would also be unaffected by the proposals as would the majority of 
trees to the site boundaries. I am advised that a total of 60 trees would be removed to 
accommodate the proposals (including some small groups), but that the applicant 
intends to replace these trees and provide additional planting as part of a detailed 
landscaping scheme. Whilst 60 trees might sound excessive, this is an extensive 
development site in a sylvan setting, comprising mature woodland and a large number 
of trees that would be otherwise unaffected by these proposals. The applicant intends 
that all trees to be retained within works areas would be protected during construction to 
BS5837:2012 ‘Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction’. 

 
104.Tree planting and landscaping are important features and characteristics of the site, and 

also play a significant role in screening the development and ensuring it sits well within 
the locality and wider landscape. The County Council’s Landscape Advisor has been 
consulted on this application, including the revised documentation, and has no objection 
given the amendments made to retain the Grade A trees, subject to conditions to ensure 
that retained and newly planted trees would be sufficiently protected. It is requested that 
a detailed Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) be submitted for approval prior to 
commencement of the development to explain how the demolition would be carried out 
with regard to the retained trees. In addition, a scaled Tree Protection Plan (TPP) is 
required, again to be submitted and approved by the County Planning Authority prior to 
the commencement of the development. Should permission be granted, I consider it 
appropriate that these conditions be imposed to ensure retention and ongoing protection 
of trees across the site, including a number of Grade A trees and a veteran oak. 

Page 87



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.44 

 
105.However, I am also of the view that a detailed final landscaping scheme should be 

submitted for approval pursuant to condition, should permission be granted, to ensure 
that sufficient replacement trees are provided, and additional screening and planting 
proposed where necessary and appropriate. Again, should permission be granted, this 
matter would be covered by a relevant planning condition.  

 
Ecology 
 
106.As outlined in paragraph 28 of this report, the submitted ‘extended Phase 1 habitat 

survey’ identified suitable habitats on site for nesting birds and a potential reptile habitat 
on the southern boundary. The woodland to the east of the site (unaffected by the 
proposals) was identified as suitable habitat for dormice and badgers. As a result of the 
above, the applicant submitted further supporting information in the form of a ‘Method 
Statement for Works to Avoid Impacts on Wildlife’, an ‘Outline Ecological and 
Management Enhancement Plan’, and a document titled ‘Pre-Planning Ecological 
Issues’.  

 
107.The County Council’s Biodiversity Officer has assessed this additional supporting 

information and is satisfied that the proposed development would not have an adverse 
impact on protected species, subject to the imposition of conditions. First, the 
development must be carried out in strict accordance with the conclusions and 
recommendations of the submitted surveys. With regard to reptiles, a precautionary 
mitigation approach is considered appropriate to enable clearing of the southern site 
boundary but, should permission be granted, a detailed mitigation strategy should be 
submitted pursuant to condition for further comments. Lastly, one of the principles of the 
National Planning Policy Framework is that “opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in 
and around developments should be encouraged”. The County Council’s Biodiversity 
Officer considers that a detailed Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMPs), 
should be produced for the whole site as a condition of planning permission. The 
wording of the required condition is set out in section 33 of this report, and I consider 
that that condition should be imposed should permission be granted. Subject to the 
imposition of the condition outlined above, I am satisfied that the development would not 
have a detrimental impact upon protected species and/or their habitats.  

 
External lighting 
 
108.No details have been provided regarding external lighting for the development. If 

permission is granted it would, therefore, be appropriate to reserve details by condition 
so that the type and position of any external lighting, including lighting of the buildings 
for security and wayfinding, and lighting of the car parking and access areas, can be 
controlled to ensure any potential nuisance from light pollution can be minimised. The 
lighting details must adhere to the Bat Conservation Trusts ‘Bats and Lighting in the UK’ 
guidance. It should also be noted that there is an existing outdoor floodlit sports facility 
on this site, unaffected by these current proposals.  

 
Sports Facilities/Community Use  
 
109.It is suggested within a representation that the site has inadequate sports facilities to 

support two schools. However, as outlined in paragraph 21 of this report, the site would 
accommodate (retained and proposed facilities) the existing floodlit Multi Use Games 
Area (MUGA), the Wildernesse Sports Centre, a 4-court Sports Hall attached to Trinity 
School, two tennis court sized MUGAs which would accommodate 1 netball/basketball 
court or 2 tennis courts each, and grass playing pitches providing a rugby and football 

Page 88



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.45 

pitch, and 400 metre running track. Sport England has been consulted on this 
application and has not raised objection to the proposals on the basis that there is a net 
gain in sports facilities and sufficient to accommodate the needs of the two schools. 

 
110.Sport England’s no objection is, however, subject to the imposition of two conditions of 

consent. First, Sport England requires the imposition of a condition requiring the 
submission and approval of a Community Use Agreement prior to the first 
use/occupation of the development. Some existing facilities on site, such as the floodlit 
MUGA and Wildernesse Sports Centre are already used by the wider community, and it 
is the applicant’s intention to maintain this community use. Furthermore, the applicant 
intends to open up further facilities on site to controlled community use such as the 
library, performance and dining spaces and the 4 court sports hall. The existing 
Wildernesse Sports Centre is available for use until 22.45 Monday to Friday, 22.15 on 
Saturdays and 22.15 on Sundays. This is expected to remain unchanged.  However, I 
consider is appropriate that further details of community use be submitted for approval, 
and therefore I am of the opinion that the a Community Use Scheme, as required by 
Sport England, should be submitted for approval prior to occupation/first use of the 
development.  

 
111.The second condition required by Sport England requires the completion of the 

replacement tennis courts, new sports hall, activity studio and changing rooms prior to 
the first use of the development. These facilities, in the view of Sport England, must be 
fully operational and available for use. However, the applicant is of the opinion that the 
development could be constructed in phases, and that an element of the new build 
school facilities could be operational and in use prior to completion of other elements of 
the scheme, which could include some of the sports facilities. The details of the phasing 
are unknown at this stage, and the applicant has therefore requested that some 
flexibility be included within the required condition to add a caveat of ‘unless otherwise 
approved in writing by the County Planning Authority, in consultation with Sport 
England’. This would enable the applicant to submit a programme of works and a 
phasing of the provision of the sports facilities should it become apparent that the 
specified facilities would not all be completed and operational prior to first occupation of 
the development. Sport England have agreed to the amended wording of the condition, 
which would be imposed should permission be granted. 

 
Flood Risk Assessment, Drainage and Contaminated Land  
 
112.In accordance with the principles of Development Plan Policy the applicant has 

submitted a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) with this application, which has not met with 
objection from the Environment Agency, nor have they questioned its content. However, 
representations from the local community suggest that part of the site is within the flood 
risk zone, and that any development would exacerbate an ‘already sensitive flooding 
position’, and exacerbate surface water flooding on Seal Hollow Road and along the 
A25. First, it is important to note that the building footprint on site would actually be 
reduced as a result of this development, that the new built development would have a 
drainage system conforming to modern exacting standards, and that any proposed hard 
surfaced car parking, amenity of sports spaces would be properly drained and 
managed.  

 
113.The submitted FRA states that the majority of the site is located within Flood Zone 1, 

which means that most of the site has a low (less than 0.1%) annual probability of 
flooding from rivers of the sea. All of the existing and proposed development on site is 
within Flood Zone 1(i.e. the lowest category of flood risk). However, a valley feature 
within the site (and beyond) is identified as being within a Flood Zone 2. This valley 

Page 89



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.46 

feature runs across the lowest level on site, from north to south across the eastern 
playing fields. The valley continues through existing housing development to the north 
and south (when viewed on the Environment Agency website). In the preparation of the 
FRA, no watercourse was observed, and there are no specific records of flooding in this 
location.  

 
114.The Environment Agency raises no objection to this application subject to the 

impositions of conditions. The Environment Agency is satisfied with the content of the 
FRA, and states that should permission be granted, a condition of consent should 
require the development to be carried out in accordance with the approved FRA. A 
further condition of consent would require the submission and approval of a detailed 
surface water drainage scheme. The two conditions outlined above would ensure that 
drainage at the site was acceptable, and that the development would not lead to an 
increased risk of flooding. The Environment Agency also requires the submission of 
various components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of 
the site and the submission of a verification report demonstrating completion of the 
remediation strategy. Therefore, should permission be granted, conditions would be 
imposed covering the matters raised above. That would ensure that the development 
would not result in an unacceptable level of pollution or increase the risk of flooding, in 
accordance with the principles of Development Plan Policy. In addition, the Environment 
Agency’s advice and guidance regarding waste on site, waste to be taken off site, and 
storage of fuels and chemicals should be covered by way of an informative. 

 
Secured by Design 
 
115.The applicant advises that the principles of Secured by Design, as they apply to 

schools, have informed the design process, as outlined in paragraph 30 of this report. 
The proposed development would provide enhanced security to the site as a whole, 
including the new school buildings. Some of these matters, such as on-site fencing and 
security lighting, would need careful consideration to ensure they were applied in a 
balanced way so that, for example, the visual appearance of the site was not 
compromised by inappropriate security lighting. However, they would otherwise accord 
with Development Plan Policy in respect of providing a safe and secure environment. If 
planning permission is granted these matters would be dealt with in the drawing up of the 
detailed design drawings and, in part, by planning condition i.e. details of lighting and on-
site fencing. However, although raising no objection to this application, Kent Police’s 
Crime Prevention Design Advisor requests that should planning permission be granted, a 
condition of consent be imposed to require the submission and approval of details of 
‘measures to minimise the risk of crime’, to accord with the principles and physical 
requirements of Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design. The approved 
measures should thereafter be implemented before the development is occupied and 
thereafter retained. Although indicative details have been provided, and lighting and 
fencing would be controlled by separate planning conditions, the applicant has accepted 
the imposition of the required condition to ensure that Secure by Design principles are 
met. Therefore, should permission be granted, a condition of consent to accord with that 
outlined above would be imposed. 

 
Archaeology 
 
116.The County Archaeologist has concluded that in order to secure the appropriate level of 

evaluation and mitigation of archaeological potential at the site, a condition of consent 
should be imposed. It is requested that no development takes place until the applicant 
has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance 
with a written specification and timetable. I consider that the suggested condition would 

Page 90



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.47 

be an appropriate requirement in ensuring an acceptable level of evaluation and 
mitigation of the archaeological potential of the site. Therefore, subject to the imposition 
of the required condition, I do not consider that this proposal would have a detrimental 
impact on archaeological remains.  

 
Sustainable construction 
 
117.The applicant advises that the project would achieve a minimum ‘Very Good’ rating 

under BREEAM for schools. As outlined in paragraph 31 of this report, the buildings 
would include a number of sustainable features and I consider that the applicant has 
given sufficient information within the planning application to demonstrate how the rating 
of ‘Very Good’ would be achieved. I therefore consider it sufficient and acceptable to 
condition that the development achieve at least a ‘Very Good’ rating, but not to request 
the submission of further details in relation to this. In particular, the developers are 
already tasked with meeting the exacting design standards demanded of them by the 
Department for Education funding process and any planning controls in this regard 
could be duplicating, and potentially conflicting with, such requirements.   

 
Construction 
 
118.Given that there are nearby residential properties, if planning permission is granted it 

would, in my view, be appropriate to impose a condition restricting hours of construction 
and demolition in order to protect residential amenity. I would suggest that works should 
be undertaken only between the hours of 0800 and 1800 Monday to Friday and between 
the hours of 0900 and 1300 on Saturdays, with no operations on Sundays and Bank 
Holidays.    

  
119.Local residents have expressed concern that Seal Hollow Road is not sufficient to 

accommodate construction traffic, and that the development could be under construction 
at the same time as a potential major development at the nearby Wildernesse House 
(formerly Dorton House). In addition, the residents of ‘Greensleeves’ have requested that 
screening should be provided along the southern site boundary during construction. 
First, with regard to the suitability of Seal Hollow Road, Kent County Council Highways 
and Transportation have been specifically asked to comment on this matter, and 
consider the road and associated access arrangements to be acceptable. In addition, it 
should be noted that Seal Hollow Road has provided access to construction vehicles 
associated with previous developments at the school site and that this has been 
managed in conjunction with an operating school. In this instance, the school site is 
vacant, so construction traffic would not conflict with school traffic. With regard to 
possible conflicts with potential construction traffic associated with Wildernesse House, 
this is not relevant to the determination of this application. However, Kent County Council 
Highways and Transportation confirm that construction traffic associated with the 
proposal before us would be required to comply with a ‘Construction Traffic Management 
Plan’ or similar. The same would apply to the Wildernesse House development, should it 
go ahead.  

 
120.In light of the above, and in accordance with the recommendation of Kent County 

Council Highways & Transportation, I consider it appropriate that details of a 
Construction Management Strategy be submitted for approval prior to the 
commencement of development. Such a document would incorporate all of the 
requirements of a ‘Construction Traffic Management Plan’, but go beyond this to include 
details of the methods and hours of working, location of site compounds and 
operative/visitors parking, details of site security and safety measures, lorry waiting and 
wheel washing facilities, and details of any construction accesses. In considering the 

Page 91



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.48 

representation from ‘Greensleeves’ which requested that screening be provided along 
the southern site boundary during construction works, I also consider that it would be 
appropriate to require details of site hoardings/screening within the Construction 
Management Strategy. In my view, screening must be provided along the southern 
boundary during construction works, and I would expect this to be included within the 
submitted document. Therefore, should permission be granted, a Construction 
Management Strategy would be required pursuant to condition and the development 
would thereafter have to be undertaken in accordance with the approved strategy. 

 
121.In addition to the above, should permission be granted, conditions of consent would 

ensure that dust, noise, mud on the local highway network, and other matters associated 
with construction, would be mitigated as far as reasonably possible so as to minimise 
disruption to local residents.   

 
Other matters 
 
122.The Governing Body of Knole Academy express concern that the County Council is 

determining a planning application submitted by the County Council. The power to 
determine planning applications such as this is governed by Regulation 3 of the Town 
and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. This requires the County Council to 
determine such planning applications as long as the development is to be carried out by 
(or on behalf of) the County Council or jointly with another named party. The 
development may be on land within the County Council’s ownership, or any other land.   
The legislation in this case is very well established and clear.  Further, it gives the 
County Council no discretion as to where the planning application should be submitted.   
This is the same planning process that is followed by every local authority wishing to 
carry out development in the circumstances described above. In an event, this 
application will be referred to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government for consideration should Members agree with the recommendation in 
paragraph 125 of this report. This latter point is also relevant in answering the second 
concern raised by Knole Academy below.  

 
123.Knole Academy (and some local representations) suggest that the building of a 

Grammar Annexe, as proposed in this planning application, is in direct contravention of 
the Secretary of State for Education’s decision. The background to this is summarised in 
paragraph 6 of this report. Members will be aware that this application must be 
considered and determined on its own merits, assessed against relevant planning law, 
policy and guidance. Whether or not the proposal could be implemented is a matter for 
the applicant and not the Planning Authority.  
 

Conclusion  
  
124.This proposal has given rise to a variety of issues, including the need for very special 

circumstances to justify inappropriate development in the Green Belt, the impact of the 
proposed development on the openness of the Green Belt, and the impact of the 
development on the highway network. I consider that very special circumstances have 
been demonstrated in this particular case for overriding Green Belt policy constraints. I 
also consider that the development has been designed to minimise the impact of the 
development on this part of the Green Belt, and its functioning. In addition, subject to 
the imposition of the conditions outlined throughout this report, I consider that the 
proposed development would not have a significantly detrimental impact on the local 
highway network, the amenity of local residents or the adjacent Conservation Area, and 
would accord with the principles of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF. In 
addition, support for the provision of school places is heavily embedded within the NPPF 

Page 92



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.49 

and local planning policy, and this development would satisfy a required need for 
secondary school places in the Sevenoaks South area. Therefore, subject to the 
imposition of conditions, I am of the opinion that the proposed development would not 
give rise to any material harm, is sustainable, and is otherwise in accordance with the 
general aims and objectives of the relevant Development Plan Policies and the 
guidance contained in the NPPF. Therefore, I recommend that the application be 
referred to the Secretary of State as a departure from the Development Plan on Green 
Belt grounds, and that subject to his decision, permission be granted subject to 
appropriate conditions 

 
Recommendation 
 
125.I RECOMMEND that the application BE REFERRED to the Secretary of State as a 

departure from the Development Plan on Green Belt grounds, and that subject to his 
decision that PLANNING PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT TO conditions, 
including conditions covering: 

 the standard 5 year time limit for implementation; 
 the development to be carried out in accordance with the permitted details; 
 the submission and approval of details of all materials to be used externally; 
 the submission and approval of details of all external lighting, including hours of  

operation; 
 the submission and approval of a scheme of landscaping, including replacement 

tree planting, soft landscaping, hard surfacing, its implementation & maintenance; 
 the submission and approval of details of all gates, fences and means of 

enclosure, including a fence to the southern site boundary adjoining 
‘Greensleeves’ (to be agreed in consultation with the occupants of  the 
‘Greensleeves’.) 

 the submission and approval of an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) prior to 
commencement of the development to explain how the demolition would be 
carried out with regard to the retained trees; 

 the submission and approval of a scaled Tree Protection Plan (TPP) prior to the 
commencement of the development. 

 development to accord with the recommendations of the submitted ecological 
surveys/reports; 

 the submission and approval of a detailed Landscape and Ecological 
Management Plan (LEMPs); 

 the submission and approval of a detailed mitigation strategy with regard to 
reptiles and clearance of the southern site boundary; 

 the submission and approval of a specification and timetable for a programme of 
archaeological works.; 

 the submission and approcal of details of ‘measures to minimise the risk of crime’; 
 a BREEAM rating of ‘Very Good’ to be achieved; 
 the submission and approval of a Community Use Scheme relating to use of the 

indoor and outdoor facilities, including hours of use; 
 the provision of replacement tennis courts and proposed new sports hall, activity 

studio and changing rooms prior to occupation, unless otherwise agreed by the 
County Planning Authority; 

 the submission and approval of details of cycle route signage, including location, 
type of signage, and a timeframe for implementation; 

 the submission and approval of details of on-site cycle parking and access routes; 
 staggered/offset school start and finish times; 

Page 93



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.50 

 the submission  and approval of a Travel Plan for each school prior to occupation, 
and submission of a review within six months of occupation, and thereafter 
ongoing monitoring and review; 

 the submission and approval of details of widening to the pedestrian island on the 
A25, including a time frame for implementation; 

 the submission and approval of details of a signalised crossing on Seal Hollow 
Road, including a time frame for implementation; 

 provision and retention of car parking, coach/bus parking/waiting, cycle parking, 
access, circulatory routes and turning areas; 

 the provision of the required visibility splays at the new entrance; 
 the submission and approval of an ‘On Site Traffic Management Strategy’; 
 the submission and approval of a revised car parking layout.; 
 the development to be carried out in strict accordance with the approved FRA; 
 the submission and approval of further works with regards to contaminated land; 
 the submission and approval of details of a surface water drainage scheme; 
 hours of working during construction and demolition to be restricted to between 

0800 and 1800 Monday to Friday and between the hours of 0900 and 1300 on 
Saturdays, with no operations on Sundays and Bank Holidays; 

 the submission and approval of a construction management strategy, including 
access, lorry routing, parking and circulation within the site for contractor’s and 
other vehicles related to construction, site hoarding/fencing details, and  
demolition operations, and the provision of site hoardings/screening (particularily 
with regard to ‘Greensleeves’), specifically along the southern site boundary; 

 measures to prevent mud and debris being taken onto the public highway. 
 
126.I FURTHER RECOMMEND THAT the applicant BE ADVISED of the following 

informatives: 
 Account should be taken of the Environment Agency’s advice regarding waste on 

site, waste to be taken off site, and storage of fuels and chemicals; 
 The external lighting scheme must adhere to the Bat Conservation Trusts ‘Bats and 

Lighting in the UK’ guidance;  
 

Case officer – Mary Green        01622 221066                                   
 

Background documents - See section heading 
 
 

Page 94



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.51 

Appendix 1  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.52 

Appendix 1  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.53 

Appendix 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.54 

Appendix 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.55 

Appendix 2 
 

Proposed redevelopment of the former Wildernesse School  
KCC/SE/0375/2013  Response to KCC enquiry 6 January from Wildernesse Residents 
Association. 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
  
We wish to emphasise from the outset that our planning objections are not raised 
against efforts to redevelop this site for educational purposes.  We share popular support for 
that objective. Our objections relate to major planning issues relating to access, traffic 
congestion, and possible over-development, issues we feel are being poorly considered and 
are being allowed to go by default. As presently submitted we consider the development will 
- to the contrary - prevent these issues being addressed either from the outset or in the 
future. 
  
1. We have obtained initial comments from a well-qualified professional WRA member upon 

the Transport Assessment included with the application. His remarks are attached. Whilst 
self-explanatory it should be observed that they are extremely questioning of the present 
advice upon which the application appears to rely. 

2. When Wildernesse School - essentially serving its near locality - was fully operational at 
the peak evening period (from 4 - 6pm) standing traffic invariably reached back as far as 
Blackhall Lane. As a resident along this stretch I was personally well-placed to witness 
this and the consequent air pollution. In the mornings I understand there was equivalent 
congestion along the A25 Seal Road east of the traffic lights.  The application now 
proposes two schools of more than double the capacity with simple T-junction access to 
Seal Hollow Road. This implies a very high increment of traffic movements (2000 or more 
has been suggested), whether of bus, coach or parents "dropping off" (see remarks in 
'initial comments' on user profiles). Like other main access routes to Sevenoaks to the 
west and south it appears the town's eastern access is also now likely to be blocked for 
extended periods.  

3. Seal Hollow Road and the roads connected to it are highly unsuitable for heavy commuter 
traffic, coaches or the double-deck buses which may be contemplated, particularly at its 
top (southern) end. In the past five years the road has also suffered noticeable 
escalation in use at peak - indeed all - hours as a major route into the town and as a short 
cut to the A21. This is considered to be the direct knock-on effect of congestion at Bat & 
Ball, at Riverhead, and the perennial M26 slip road issue. 

4. The building work is likely to be taking place at the same time as a development in 
preparation at Wildernesse (formerly Dorton House) creating a substantial increment of 
heavy vehicles in the area. 

5. The A25 at Bat & Ball is notorious for heavy air pollution. The likely heavy congestion from 
the contemplated developments will substantially add to air pollution around the A25/Seal 
Hollow Road junction reaching back to Seal village and southwards up to Blackhall Lane. 
Quite apart from health considerations and the nuisance to local residents this is quite 
contrary to any programme Kent CC may have in place to reduce air pollution at hotspots 
in the Sevenoaks /Seal area, notably along the A25. 

6. Significant surface flooding occurs along Seal Hollow Road and along the A25 after 
modest rainfall and the NE part of the school site is also subject to medium flooding risk. 
It is difficult to see that the substantial increment of developed area (car-parks, roofing, 
footpaths etc.) will not exacerbate this tendency. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.56 

Appendix 2 
 
7. The T-junction access points proposed to Seal Hollow Road are totally misconceived and 

wholly inadequate. There appears currently ample opportunity for the design of the site to 
allocate area that will allow access for vehicles without interrupting the flow of traffic along 
the A25 and Seal Hollow Road. Whether this is achieved by a one-way system, some 
form of gyratory or even a roundabout or equivalent realignment of the A25 obviously 
should be studied. It is not acceptable for a design for the two schools to be 
approved without consideration of these issues. As proposed the layout would  severely 
limit any future attempt to address such problems. 

  
As noted at the outset we fully support the redevelopment of a school on this site. However 
we note the appearance of four-storey units since the earlier presentation and suspect other 
necessary additions may follow. It would be particularly unfortunate if the (understandable) 
desire to cram two schools on to one site is promoting over-development, 
and inadequate regard for the very real access and congestion problems we have identified. 
  
Tony Aston 
as Chairman - Wildernesse Residents Association 
Eildon, Seal Hollow Road, Sevenoaks, TN13 3SF  
  
  
  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.57 

Appendix 2 
 

INITIAL OBSERVATIONS ON TRANSPORT ASSESSMENT  - KCC/SE/0375/2013 
Wildernesse Site Redevelopment Proposals Transport Assessment 
 
I write as a strong supporter of the schools development, a local resident and as a highly 
experienced consulting civil/highway engineer responsible, in the past, for numerous 
multidisciplinary infrastructure developments. 
 
I wish to raise my considerable concerns regarding the findings and conclusion of this 
Transport Assessment for the reasons I cite below:- 
 
1. This is one of the most optimistic traffic surveys/assessment I have ever read. Each and 

every assumption is based on the “best” possible situation in traffic terms occurring; 
finding there is no reason not to progress as shown, yet the conclusions still are forced 
to include the statement that the junction capacity at the connection of the A25 and Seal 
Hollow Road will be exceeded at times. 

 
2. Local experience shows this junction is indeed often congested at present and given 

that the former school closed in 2010, the impact of some 2050 pupils plus over 200 
staff gives measure to the problems that can be expected when the planned schools 
open. The new schools are expected to operate successfully with virtually the same 
egress and exit points into the narrow Seal Hollow Road as that for the previous 
Wildernesse school which at peak had approximately only 50% of the pupils/staff 
proposed, reduced to only 538 by 2009. 

 
3. The traffic survey was conducted in June when the days are at their longest and the 

weather generally “good". Had the survey been taken in January, either last year when 
on occasions there was significant snowfalls or this year when Seal Hollow Road was 
subject to flooding, the figures would be entirely different. Excluding those “extreme 
events”, it is obvious to all those who live in Sevenoaks and its environs that traffic 
levels are much higher in poorer weather and when the days are short, than in the 
summertime. So these are the wrong baseline figures on which to establish whether 
there is a potential traffic problem with this development. Perfectly acceptable as a basis 
to establish that there is “little or no problem". 

 
4. Even if bus usage levels are those stated, the suggestion that they will run at full 

capacity as quoted in the document carrying 75 to 90 pupils is clearly overoptimistic and 
furthermore noting that very few buses hold 90-seated passengers. Allowance must be 
made for the fact that these levels will not be achieved and therefore the pupils must 
arrive by a greater number of bus movements or other means. 

 
5. There is no experience that can establish the future likely geographic home location of 

the attendees of the Faith/Free School. Putting any reliance on the “expressions of 
interest" today when the school has only just started functioning on a different site would 
be wrong. 

 
6. With regard to the grammar school Annex, it is a matter of published fact that the 

majority of the pupils come from “better off families" and these will typically always 
choose to deliver their children by car --- as is the experience across Sevenoaks 
currently with other schools with “not-dissimilar” pupil profiles. The old Wildernesse 
School had a totally different pupil profile and therefore no meaningful comparison 
should or could be made.  

Page 101



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.58 

Appendix 2 
 

7. “These” Wildernesse School pupils will now have transferred to the Knowle Academy. 
Therefore while reference to the Knowle Academy could give some guidance, by 
definition, there will be significant differences between its pupil profile and the two 
proposed schools on this site. 

 
8. The layout proposed for the school egress, exit and parking gives rise for considerable 

concern. Even if the assessment of vehicle movements are as predicted, the likelihood 
of the system functioning satisfactorily is extremely low for the following reasons:- 

 
• To introduce a 30 minutes displacement of school starting times is a positive decision, 

but to imagine that this will lead to a “uniform distribution across the entire period” 
would be highly optimistic. Arrival times will depend on a whole host of factors entirely 
outside the control of the schools and hence unexpected but frequent “peaks and 
troughs” must be factored into the figures and their impact assessed. 

• Seal Hollow Road is a single carriageway with relatively narrow lanes and a footpath 
only on the West side. Stationary vehicles waiting to turn into the school totally block 
the northbound traffic that wishes to pass through to the junction with the A25. 

• The distance between the egress and exit is approximately 50m with the stacking 
capacity to hold just 8 cars waiting to turn into the school before the rear vehicle is 
approximately opposite the exit. This will occur either because of oncoming traffic 
preventing turning into the school or congestion within the car/bus park. There will then 
be a buildup of traffic behind, which when released will reach the traffic lights, they 
being only 50 m further on. If stopped, traffic wishing to enter the school will be 
prevented from doing so thus adding further to the congestion. A total “logjam” of 
vehicles is almost inevitable since this section of road will include the buses returning 
to the A25 having delivered the pupils to one of the schools, noting that it takes only 3 
buses to reach from the traffic lights to the egress point of the school 

• With stationary traffic in front of it, exit from the site northbound along Seal Hollow 
Road will be impossible.  

• The Vehicle Sweep diagrams purport to show only entry and exit of buses from the 
A25 with almost frightening potential for collision or delay for entry. This raises serious 
question about the hazards to “pedestrians” within the site. Couple this with the 
summary as given in Para 9.10 of the Report, the potential for very long and frequent 
delays at the A25 Seal Hollow Road junction is extremely high. The narrowness of the 
south end of Seal Hollow Road makes alternative bus routes virtually impossible. 

 
Para 9.10 “Junction capacity assessments were carried out for A25/Seal Hollow 
Road signalised junction for the current year and 2018 with and without the fully 
occupied schools. The previous traffic associated with the permitted use of the Site 
for a 1260 student roll was not used in the assessment as requested by KCC 
Highways. The planning fallback position has therefore been removed so the impacts 
are predicted to be far higher than would typically be the case. The junction is 
operating in 2018 without the development with limited capacity but over 
capacity with the development. The ‘with development’ scenario would increase 
queue lengths by 18,11 and 7 cars on the A25 east, A25 west and Seal Hollow Road 
approaches respectively. To help alleviate these flows the traffic signals would be 
installed with MOVA equipment (Microprocessor Optimised Vehicle Actuation) which 
can reduce delays by 10% at urban junctions”.  

 

Page 102



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.59 

Appendix 2 
 

• Many parents will choose to deliver their children by car as stated in the Report by 
dropping them off “remote from the site”. The important question has not been 
addressed as to where this could be and, as importantly, the level and nature of traffic 
movements/congestion/parking that this introduces in some of the local roads, of which 
there are very few. 

• Much of the AM traffic is said to be travelling north along Seal Hollow Road. If it is from 
central Sevenoaks, then it is introducing very large traffic volumes along the extremely 
narrow section of the southern end of Seal Hollow Road adjacent to the Knowle 
Estate, bounded by the stone wall. If the cars and mini-buses do not come by this 
route, what roads can be realistically used? All are narrow and the local estate urban 
roads lined with residents parked cars. In any event, none have the capacity to 
accommodate large traffic volumes. 

• It is obvious that traffic levels will be extremely high on all the roads approaching the 
schools, indeed very much higher than at present. Yet even at present, very few 
cyclists, let alone children, choose to risk their lives on these roads even in summer. It 
is almost unimaginable to think that parents will allow their children to cycle to this 
school, certainly in anything other than perfect summer conditions. They will come by 
other means and the figures need to realistically acknowledge this. 

• The numbers of children said to walk to the school is going to be highly dependent on 
the “social profile" of the pupils. While optimism may lead to the view that car delivery 
by parents will be relatively low and perhaps forced by circumstance to be lower, this is 
a very unsatisfactory way in which to assess the probable traffic movements to this 
site. It is worth noting that Sevenoaks has one of the highest number of cars per 
household in the UK at it is very unlikely that these vehicles will not be used when 
children's lives are potentially at risk, as parents see it. 

 
9. Most worrying of all, is that there appears to be an acceptance that nothing can be done 

in the future to improve the road network or access to this proposed development. 
Certain proposed mitigating measures appear to add further vehicular traffic problems 
e.g. pedestrian crossing to allow large numbers of pupils to enter and leave the school. 
There is no suggestion of even a subway or pedestrian bridge that could be regarded as 
the least expensive of any physical problem alleviating solutions. These are often not 
ideal solutions, for various reasons, which suggests far-reaching proposals must be put 
in place to separate pedestrians and traffic while allowing free traffic movement. 

 
10. Reference has been made to the Knole Academy, where a vehicular underpass 

provides connection for traffic travelling on the westbound A25. At the entrance/exit the 
A25 is 3 lanes wide, the centre lane potentially providing turning vehicle refuge and also 
allowing the safe turning of large vehicles that could otherwise confront oncoming 
vehicles. This is in stark contrast to what is being proposed at the Wildernesse schools 
site. Knole Academy with some 1550 pupils is not without its traffic problems and surely 
the warning signs are more than evident that the problems at the Wildernesse site with 
approximately 25% more pupils being 2050, will be many times worse. When in the 
future that is clearly demonstrated with the school fully functioning, what happens next? 

 
11. The impact of the congestion that will be introduced by this school development will be 

not be limited to those attending but on all the surrounding roads with regard to traffic 
congestion and parking. Furthermore the A25 is often congested due to problems on the 
M25, which never has had the connections at the M25 Junction 5 that would have done 
much to alleviate this problem. 

Page 103



Item D3 
Sevenoaks Grammar Annexe and Trinity Free School at Knole (east) 
Academy (former Wildernesse School)– SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) 
 

 D3.60 

Appendix 2 
 

12. Much of the traffic that currently leaves Sevenoaks to take the pupils to local grammar 
schools elsewhere will now travel to this new school site. It is clear that this will lead to 
much higher levels of traffic through the Bat & Ball junction, which again has been 
stated to remain unchanged after the opening of the school. Congestion daily at this 
junction is normal on many days of the year and mainly at the school opening and 
closing times. 

 
The proposals on how to accommodate the construction traffic from this very large site are 
yet to be published but it is clear that the use of the existing egress and exit will lead to very 
significant problems. An alternative must be found. 
 
In summary, despite the reassuring conclusion in Para 9.14 of this Report, that:- 
 
 “there are no transport or highways reasons to prevent the re-development of the site for 
continued school use with the site improvements and mitigation measures proposed”. 
  
The reality is that there will be very considerable problems with traffic both entering and 
leaving the school complex and in the surrounding roads to this site as lightly alluded to in 
Para 9.11 
  
“In terms of traffic impact the assessment of the local highway network would suggest that 
the immediate junctions would operate over capacity in the AM peak hour only, with the 
proposed development, despite the mitigation measures being implemented”. 
  
No detailed consideration has been given to the PM “leaving school” time period which is 
likely to also be problematic. The Report presumes it is “non-peak” however experience of 
local residents shows that there are significant levels of traffic occurring at this time, not 
least, because of the activity associated with the journeys related to other schools nearby.  
 
Despite all the warning signs, no physical solutions have been put forward or indeed allowed 
for in the future, when the inevitable occurs. To overtly recognise this and not to identify 
potential highway solutions and apportion a budget to resolve them, would be little short of 
irresponsible. The very real problems presented by the development of this site for such a 
large number of pupils needs to be addressed frankly and very urgently. This issue cannot 
be brushed aside until the inevitable occurs, if for no other reason than major construction 
works local to the schools would introduce considerable new hazards to the very large 
number of pupils attending the schools, and be even more difficult to resolve than if 
undertaken prior to the school openings. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
Allan E. Churchman BSc, MSc, FREng, FICE, (FIHE Retd.) 

 

Page 104



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes 
Road, Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
 
 
A report by Head of Planning Applications Group to Planning Applications Committee on 11 
June 2014. 
 
Application by Kent County Council, Property & Infrastructure Support for Construction of a 
new two-storey and part single storey classroom block, incorporating welfare facilities and 
storage; extension of existing school hall; the provision of a parents drop-off facility and 10 
off-site parking spaces; and the provision of 7 additional car parking spaces in the school car 
park at Stone Church of England Primary School, Hayes Road, Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 
(KCC/DA/0372/2013). 
 
Recommendation: permission be granted subject to conditions. 
 
Local Member: Mrs Penny Cole Classification: Unrestricted 

 
 D4.1 

 

 
 
 
Site Description 
 
1. Stone C of E Primary School is located in the village of Stone on Hayes Road, 

approximately 2km southwest of Greenhithe and 3km east of Dartford. St James’ Lane 
(B2174) runs along the eastern boundary of the site with Bluewater Shopping Centre 
situated adjacent to the school, to the east. The site is located in a predominantly 
residential area, with residential properties situated along the western and southern 
boundaries of the school. Properties to the schools southern boundary are separated by 
a private access road. Stone Pavilion (a multi-use community facility) is located to the 
north west of the site. There is a recreational ground and car park associated with the 
Stone Pavilion located adjacent to the school. 

  
2.  The site comprises two buildings of brick construction with the main school building 

being primarily single-storey with a part two-storey element with flat roof. A standalone 
single-storey timber framed classroom block with double pitched roof was constructed 
in 2004. The main hard surfaced playground is located to the south of the site with a 
smaller playground used by reception class pupils to the north of the site. The school’s 
sports field is located to the north east of the site. The school’s pedestrian and vehicular 
entrances are located on Hayes Road.  

 
3. There are no site-specific Development Plan Policies identified in connection with the 

application site itself, although general policies are set out in paragraph (15). 
 
 
 
 

Page 105

Agenda Item D4



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 

D4.2 
 

 
Wider Site Location Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bluewater Shopping 
Centre Stone C of E 

Primary School
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Watling Street 
(A296) 

St James’ Lane 
(B2174) 

A2

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 

D4.3 
 

 
Site Location Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Stone C of E 
Primary School 

Bluewater Shopping 
Centre 

Stone Pavilion 
Hayes Road 

St James’ Lane 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Areas of proposed development 
 

Page 107



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.4 
 

Relevant Planning History 

4. In recent years, Stone C of E Primary School has been granted planning permission for 
an application for replacement fencing and gates to the school site (DA/07/183) and an 
application which included the relocation of an existing mobile classroom; erection of a 
new single-storey teaching block and ancillary accommodation and adjoining reception 
playground; the refurbishment of the existing main entrance area; adaptations and 
extension to existing staff room; Headteachers office and M.I room and the provision of 
16 new car parking spaces ( DA/04/266). 

 
Background and Proposal 
 
5. This application has been submitted by Kent County Council Property and Infrastructure 

Support and is part of the countywide Basic Needs Programme for educational 
purposes. The applicant states that the Borough of Dartford has seen significant growth 
in the pupil population over the last few years due to factors including the scale of 
housing development over the last decade, inward migration of families both from 
London and other parts of Kent and a rise in the birth rate. This inward migration has 
been far beyond historic levels and has resulted in a pressure on primary school places 
across the Borough.  

 
6. The Commissioning Plan for Education Provision in Kent 2013-2018 provides forecasts 

that indicate an increase in the demand for primary school capacity which shows no 
signs of reducing over the forecast period. Stone C of E Primary School currently has 
428 pupils enrolled at the school. The expansion programme would enable an increase 
from 2 form entry to 3 form entry with an additional 30 places each year for six years, 
creating an addition of 202 pupil places. The proposed accommodation would allow for 
the provision of a total of 630 pupils at the school. 

 
7. The School currently employs 42 full time equivalent (FTE) staff positions who are at the 

school site on a daily basis. The proposal would lead to an increase of 18 FTE 
additional staff members, bringing the total members of full time staff to 60. An 
additional 4 part time members of staff would be employed at the school. 

 
8. The application proposes an extension to the existing school hall, an 8 classroom 

teaching block with associated facilities; the provision of a parents drop off facility and 
10 off-site parking spaces and 7 additional car parking spaces in the school car park. 
The proposals would allow the provision of accommodation for another form of entry 
each year thereby increasing Stone C of E Primary School from 2 form entry to 3 form 
entry. Two existing classrooms would be converted to a small hall and studio space but 
do not require planning permission. 

 
9. The proposed hall extension would be a single storey construction with single 

membrane flat roof and brickwork to match the existing school hall. High level windows 
would be retained to maximise natural daylight to the rear of the school hall and white 
aluminium double glazed windows would be used on the eastern façade.  

 
10. The proposed classroom block has been designed to be a part single storey, part two 

storey standalone building with the two storey element being stepped back from 
residential properties to the southern boundary of the school site. The proposed 
classroom block would be constructed of brickwork which matches the existing 
standalone classroom block. It was originally proposed to have a white render external 
finish to part of the proposed buildings eastern and southern façades. However 

Page 108



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.5 
 

concerns were raised by a local resident whose property lies to the school’s southern 
boundary that the external finish would not be in keeping with the existing school 
buildings. Consequently, it is proposed by the applicant that the white render to these 
elevations is replaced with timber cladding which would be a similar colour to the 
proposed brickwork. Coloured feature panels are proposed with curtain wall glazing and 
an opposing angled mono pitched zinc seam roof. 

 
11. The proposed classroom block would be built on an area of land currently designated as 

soft play which is currently 69% over provided and would still be within requirements for 
a 3FE school if the proposed classroom block is constructed. 

 
12. Nine trees are proposed to be removed as part of the proposed development; including 

a single tree on the site of the proposed hall extension, 2 trees within the school car 
park to allow the rearrangement and provision of 7 additional car parking spaces and 6 
trees located on the soft play area where the proposed classroom block extension 
would be situated. The applicant proposes to replant the trees that would be removed 
from the proposed hall extension area and proposed classroom block area and replant 
these along the school’s eastern boundary. The proposed classroom block would be 
connected to the existing school buildings by extending the existing pathways around 
the perimeter of the proposed building. 

 
13. The application as originally submitted was amended to include a parents drop off 

facility and 10 off-site parking spaces as part of the development. This facility would be 
located on Hayes Road, adjacent to the north of the school playing field. To 
accommodate the proposed parking spaces, the footway would be realigned, making 
use of an existing grass verge which runs along the footway. The parking bays would be 
available for use by parents during the start and end of the school day and typically limit 
parking in these spaces to 30 minutes. That would be controlled through the 
implementation of a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to restrict vehicles parking and 
waiting in the bays during specified times. The applicant has agreed to pay a financial 
contribution to KCC Highways and Transportation to pursue a TRO as a separate 
application to the planning process. 

 
14. The application is accompanied by a Transport Statement setting out the potential 

impact the proposed expansion of pupil numbers would have on the surrounding local 
highway network. Through the successful adoption of the School’s Travel Plan, the 
applicant’s transport consultant concludes that this will help to mitigate the traffic 
impacts of the proposed development. The proposed parents drop off facility and 10 off-
site parking spaces along Hayes Road have been proposed to mitigate the current and 
potential future congestion issues along Hayes Road. In light of concerns raised by 
statutory consultees and local residents, the proposal was amended to include an 
additional 7 car parking spaces within the school car park for the use of staff and 
visitors. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.6 
 

Proposed Site Plan 

 

Page 110



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.7 
 

Existing and Proposed Block Plans 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 111



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.8 
 

Proposed Floor Plan of Hall Extension and Classroom Block 
 
 

 
 

Page 112



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.9 

Proposed Hall Extension Floor and Elevation Plans 

 
 

 Page 113



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.10 
 

Proposed Floor and Roof Plans – Classroom Block 

 

Page 114



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.11 
 

Proposed Elevations Plan – Classroom Block 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.12 
 

Proposed Sections – Classroom Block 
 

 

Page 116



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.13 
 

Proposed Views of Proposed Classroom Block from School Field 
 

Proposed Views of Proposed Classroom Block from Entrance & School 
Playground 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 117



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.14 
 

Planning Policy Context 
 
15. The following Guidance/Statements and Development Plan Policies summarised below 

are relevant to the consideration of the application: 
 
(i) National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) March 2012 and the National 

Planning Policy Guidance (March 2014) sets out the Government’s planning policy 
guidance for England at the heart of which is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The guidance is a material consideration for the determination of 
planning application but does not change the statutory status of the development 
plan which remains the starting point for decision making. However the weight given 
to development plan policies will depend on their consistency with the NPPF (the 
closer the policies in the development plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater 
the weight that may be given). 

 
In determining applications the NPPF states that local planning authorities should 
look for solutions rather than problems, and decision-takers at every level should 
seek to approve applications for sustainable development where possible.  
 
In terms of delivering sustainable development in relation to this development 
proposal, the NPPF guidance and objectives covering the following matters are of 
particular relevance: 

 
- consideration of whether the opportunities for sustainable transport have been 

taken up and safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people;  
 

- achieving the requirement for high quality design and a good standard of amenity 
for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings; 

 
- the great importance that the Government attaches to ensuring that a sufficient 

choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities, and that great weight should be given to the need to create, 
expand or alter schools; and that   

 
-  Local Planning Authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative 

approach to meeting this requirement and to development that will widen choice 
in education; and  

 
(ii)  Policy Statement – Planning for Schools Development (15 August 2011) which 
sets out the Government’s commitment to support the development of state-funded 
schools and their delivery through the planning system.  
 
(iii) The adopted 1995 Dartford Borough Council Local Plan (Saved Policies): 

 
Policy B1 Development proposals should be appropriate for the location and 

should not have a detrimental amenity impact on the local area. A 
high standard of design should be implemented in proposals with 
layout, materials, adequate infrastructure, access and parking taken 
into consideration.  

 
 

Page 118



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.15 
 

Policy B12 Archaeological sites will be preserved and protected. 
 

Policy RT15 Development proposals involving the loss of educational open space 
will not normally be permitted where the open space is important to 
the environment and amenity of the area in which it is situated, or 
where the use of the site meets an important local need. 

 
Policy S6 Development proposals should conserve and improve the existing 

built environment and a high quality and standard of design shall be 
achieved in new development. 

 
Policy T18 Traffic regulation orders will be made where practicable to prohibit or 

restrict the use of through traffic in sensitive environmental areas or 
on roads.  

Policy T19 Development proposals should be appropriately related to the 
highway network and not generate volumes of traffic in excess of the 
capacity of the highway network. 

Policy T23 Development proposals should include adequate off-street parking 
facilities. 

 
Policy T27 Development proposals shall make adequate provision for 

pedestrians. 
 

(iv) Dartford Borough Core Strategy (2011)  
 

Policy CS21 Community Services: Ensure the effective provision of community 
services. 

 
Policy CS22 Sports, Recreation and Culture Facilities: Appropriate existing 

sport facilities will be protected. 
 

Policy CS23 Minimising Carbon Emissions: Development proposals shall 
ensure reductions in energy use through design and layout of 
development  

 
Policy CS25 Water Management: Development proposals shall ensure that the 

quality of surface and groundwaters is protected and enhanced. 
 

Policy CS15 Managing Transport Demand: Development proposals which 
generate additional traffic should use measures to encourage 
sustainable patterns of travel including travel plans and Car Parking 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
(v) Dartford Car Parking Supplementary Planning Document (Adopted July 2012) 

Recommendation that schools should have a parking standard of 1 space for every 15 
pupils for employees and 1 space per 2 classes for visitors. 
 

(vi) Sport England Planning Policy Statement: Policy on planning applications for 
development on playing fields 
Policy P1 Sport England will oppose the granting of planning permission for 

any development which would lead to the loss of any part of playing 
field unless specific exception criteria can be met. 

Page 119



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.16 
 

 
Consultations 
 
16. Dartford Borough Council – Objects to the proposal in its original and revised format 

on the grounds that the proposed development does not provide sufficient additional car 
parking spaces in line with the Borough Council’s Parking Standards Supplementary 
Planning Document. The Borough Council has requested that a minimum of 22 
additional parking spaces should be provided at the site. It should be noted that Dartford 
Borough Council did consider additional car parking options 1 and 2 for the provision of 
14 and 22 spaces respectively within the school car park which were proposed by the 
applicant’s agent. The Borough Council would have considered either car parking option 
1 or 2 to be acceptable. However the school governors considered that implementing 
either option 1 or 2 would have a detrimental impact on the provision of playing field 
land on the school site which is already undersized. Consequently, a third car parking 
option; the provision of 7 additional car parking spaces was proposed which the 
Borough Council wishes to maintain objection to, considering that the revision does not 
overcome its original concerns. 

 
Stone Parish Council – Objects to the proposal on the following grounds: 

 
“The Council is acutely aware of existing daily problems on surrounding roads, 
particularly Hayes Road, by traffic generated from existing school places. This includes 
triple-parking, parking on zig-zag lines, parking over residents’ drives and entrance 
barriers to neighbouring properties. At 3pm, Hayes Road is virtually impassable and this 
has a detrimental effect on visitors to community facilities, and residents of Hayes Road. 
As such, the Council feels that the additional traffic generated by this application will be 
completely unsustainable. 

 
Opposite the school's main entrance sits Stone Pavilion, a multi-use community facility 
providing a significant number of weekly activities for local residents and which is also 
used extensively by local businesses for conferences, training and meetings. The 
income the Council creates from the hire of this facility supplements the annual budget 
and enables the Council to keep tax rises to a minimum, however there have been a 
number of times that patrons of the facility have been seriously affected by school traffic 
which has, in a few cases, resulted in the decision to choose an alternative venue due 
to aggravation encountered when trying to access the facility. As such, the Council has 
grave concerns about the detrimental impact on business which it is felt will be brought 
by additional traffic generated by this application. 

 
Although the School has tried a number of initiatives to discourage journey by car for 
those living in close proximity or encourage an informal one-way system around Hayes 
Road, the problem continues to be significant and raises concerns over the School's 
ability to positively influence further exacerbation from increased traffic. 

 
The Council's Chairman and Parish Clerk were invited to an informal meeting ahead of 
application submission where traffic/parking problems were discussed and emphasis 
was made about the proposed application addressing existing problems through an 
alternative access, introduction of a drop off zone, or amendments to parking, however 
there is a complete omission of reference to either parking or traffic generation in the 
application documents which is of great concern. Omission of such significant points 
cannot form the basis of a credible application. 

 

Page 120



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.17 
 

Review of the application suggests it would also generate the need for additional 
parking spaces for staff or visitors yet there is no reference to such provision. 

 
Following discussion with local residents, the Council is aware only a small number of 
properties on Hayes Road have been formally consulted. We understand 2-28 Hayes 
Road and 42 and 44 St James Lane have not been formally consulted on this 
application, yet these properties will be directly affected by the additional traffic 
generated by this proposal. [Note that following amendments to the application to 
include the parents drop off facility and 10 off-site parking spaces, Neighbour 
Notification letters were sent out to these properties]. 

 
The Council does acknowledge the need for additional school places and supports 
achievement of this through sustainable means, however it is felt that this application, in 
its current form, is not sustainable and is likely to have an adverse effect through traffic 
generation and the effect on local business significant enough to warrant refusal. 

 
A site visit for KCC Planning Committee Members should also be required for school-
expansion applications to ensure Members observe the existing situation to provide first-
hand knowledge of the likely impact of up to a further 210 cars attempting to access the 
school”. 

 
As stated previously, amendments have been made to the original application as 
submitted including the proposed parents drop off facility with 10 off-site parking spaces 
with more recent amendments proposing an additional 7 parking spaces within the 
school car park. Following consultation on the parents drop off facility with 10 off-site 
parking spaces, Stone Parish Council adds that the revised application does not 
mention the Stone Pavilion facility which they state is in constant use by community 
groups and private hirers at various times of the day and evening and a potential 
increase in volumes of traffic generated as a result of the proposal could cause conflict 
with users of this facility, local residents and other businesses within the immediate 
vicinity. Following consultation on the revised proposal to include an additional 7 car 
parking spaces within the school car park, the Parish Council wishes to reiterate all their 
original comments (as stated above) and add that they consider the provision of spaces 
is inadequate. 

 
Kent County Council Highways and Transportation –Raises no objection to the 
application. Following amendments being made to the size of the off-site parking bays 
KCC Highways and Transportation consider that the off-site parking bays are now of a 
reasonable size for vehicles to manoeuvre in and out. They note that as the parking bays 
would be located on the public highway, a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) would need to 
be implemented to restrict waiting in the bays to typically 30 minutes during the hours at 
the start and end of the school day, to enable parking to be available for parents to drop 
off and pick up their children. Consequently, the TRO would allow Dartford Borough 
Council Parking Attendants to enforce any parking restrictions that may take place. Staff 
parking should not take place in these bays and they would be expected to park off-site 
but not in locations that would restrict traffic flow on Hayes Road at the busy times. 
 
KCC Highways and Transportation consider that although the expansion of the school 
would put additional pressure on parking in Hayes Road, the creation of 10 roadside 
parking bays near the school entrance and the measures referred to in the School 
Travel Plan (such as car sharing and a Walking Bus) would play a key role in mitigating 
the potential impact of increased levels of traffic. As the expansion of the school 
progresses, the School Travel Plan would require updating and review and should 

Page 121



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.18 
 

encourage responsible driving and parking on the public highway by parents. Methods 
which are mentioned in the School Travel Plan including a ‘name and shame’ policy 
used to report individuals who persistently park irresponsibly indicates that the School 
are aware of the current and potential problems and would intend to take action to 
address them. 

 
KCC Highways and Transportation raise no objection to the application subject to the 
implementation of conditions including the provision of the proposed off-site parking 
bays; the updating of the School Travel Plan and the use of vehicle cleansing and wheel 
washing equipment during construction to prevent mud and other debris being 
deposited on the public highway. Additionally, subject to planning permission being 
granted for the application, an informative requiring the provision of £3,000 from the 
applicant to pursue a Traffic Regulation Order to control the use of the off-site parking 
bays would be appropriate. 
 
Following consultation on the revised proposal to include an additional 7 car parking 
spaces within the school car park, KCC Highways and Transportation consider that the 
revised layout to the existing car park provides a compromise between maximising car 
parking spaces without encroaching on the school playing field. It is noted that the car 
parking provision at the School is currently below levels that would be desirable and it is 
accepted that this would put additional demand on off-site parking. KCC Highways and 
Transportation appreciates the confirmation from the Headteacher of the school that 
staff would not be permitted to park in the proposed off-site parking bays which would 
be dedicated to parent parking and would park off-site. 
 
In summary, KCC Highways and Transportation state the following: 

 
“Overall, I recognise that the expansion of the school will cause more congestion on 
Hayes Road at the start and end of the school day, and that the staff, parents, and local 
residents will be obliged to cope with the consequences of this. However, the alternative 
would appear to be to create additional on-site parking for both staff and parents by 
removing a substantial part of the playing fields. In these circumstances, I would 
consider that the management of the parking of the staff and parents, and the promotion 
of sustainable transport through the updated School Travel Plan, will be the keys to 
dealing with the additional demand, and I would not wish to raise an objection to the 
application.” 

 
The County Council’s School Travel Plan Advisor – provides various comments on 
the content of the School Travel Plan and suggests updates that should be made in the 
next review.  
 
Environment Agency – originally objected to the proposed development on the grounds 
that there was insufficient information to demonstrate that the risk of pollution to 
controlled waters is acceptable as the site lies on the chalk formation classified as a 
principle aquifer and is in Groundwater Source Protection Zone 3. Further information 
including a Ground Investigation Report and Stage 1 Desktop and Walkover Study were 
submitted resulting in the Environment Agency withdrawing their objection subject to the 
implementation of two planning conditions including the submission of a remediation 
strategy if any contamination not previously identified is found to be present on site and 
no infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground without prior approval from the 
County Planning Authority. 
 
County Archaeologist – raises no objection, subject to the imposition of a condition 

Page 122



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.19 
 

requiring the applicant to submit details of a programme of archaeological work prior to 
commencement of the development. This is due to the application site being located in 
an area of potential archaeological interest. Therefore it is possible that proposed 
development works may disturb archaeological remains. 

 
Local Member 
 
17. The County Council Local Member Mrs Penny Cole was notified of the original 

application on the 23 December 2013 and subsequent amendments to the proposal on 
4 March 2014 and 6 May 2014. Mrs P Cole commented on the addition of a proposed 
drop off facility offering her support to this element of the proposal. 
 

Publicity 
 
18. The application was publicised by the posting of 2 site notices at the vehicular and 

pedestrian entrances to the school located on Hayes Road. The individual notification of 
27 neighbouring properties was carried out as part of the original consultation with a 
further 18 neighbouring properties notified with the addition of the proposed drop off 
facility. 9 neighbouring properties including 7 local residents who made representations 
were notified of the amendments to the proposal to include 7 additional car parking 
spaces within the school car park.  

 
Representations 
 
19. I have received 8 letters/emails of objection to the proposal to date. The main points of 

objection are summarised as follows:- 
 

Access, Parking and Highway Safety 
 Concerns regarding the current levels of traffic along surrounding roads and the 

safety implications that this currently creates and the belief that the school expansion 
would exacerbate the problem; 

 No provision for increased levels of traffic has been made for the initial staggered 
increased intake of pupils in September 2013; 

 Concerns regarding vehicles being driven dangerously and parents parking in local 
roads and blocking driveways which is a nuisance to local residents and has caused 
damage to their vehicles; 

 The behaviour and attitude of some parents towards local residents in relation to 
parking issues is reportedly poor and can be aggressive. 

 Hayes Road effectively becomes a single lane during school peak hours due to 
vehicles being parked 4 or 5 cars deep where the road widens and vehicles parked 
on the opposite side of the road;  

 Concerns regarding lack of access for emergency service vehicles when cars are 
parked on both sides of Hayes Road; 

 Request to relocate the pedestrian entrance and proposed parents drop off facility to 
St James’ Lane; 

 Concern that the new intake of pupils would not be local to the area so would be 
driven to the school; 

 Vehicles parked on ‘School Keep Clear’ yellow marking which is dangerous for pupils 
and parents; 

 The parking needs to be improved before the school is extended; 
 The lack of additional parking provision for extra staff that will be working at the 

Page 123



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.20 
 

school; 
 Query the feasibility of providing additional parking on land the north east of the 

school site; 
 Query the feasibility of negotiating with Stone Parish Council for the use of the car 

park to the north of the school during school peak hours in term time  
 

Need for the development and impact on the school 
 Sympathetic with the need to expand the school but feel the overall impact of the 

expansion on the area needs to be taken into consideration. 
 
Noise Disturbance and Air Pollution 

 Additional pupil numbers would put pressure on and intensify the use of hard play 
areas causing increased levels of noise; 

 The location of the proposed classroom block to the east of the main hard surface 
playground would enclose the playground increasing levels of noise for residents 
whose properties lie adjacent to the south of the site; 

 Request that double-glazing be installed to properties to the south of the site to 
mitigate increased noise levels; 

 Increased traffic would reduce air quality. 
Design 

 Consider that the proposed classroom block would be better suited as a single storey 
building due to its proximity to the school’s south eastern perimeter; 

 Request that the external finish of south facing façades of the proposed classroom 
block are in keeping with the existing classroom block and not the white render 
proposed [Note that the applicant has revised the external finish of the building, 
proposing timber cladding to instead of white render to the schools southern and 
eastern elevations]. 

 Request that multi-coloured panels are not used on the proposed classroom 
buildings eastern and western elevations as they would not be in keeping with the 
previous build or main school building; 

 Request that there are no overlooking windows on the south facing façade of the 
proposed classroom block. [Note from the application drawings that there are no 
windows located to the southern elevation of the proposed building]. 

 
General Matters 

 Concern regarding trees located to the school’s southern boundary which are 
recognised as offering a noise buffer but due to their height and density of foliage 
reduce natural light to properties located to the south of the school; 

 Request that the trees be sufficiently maintained [Note the School currently operates 
a tree maintenance programme and surveys regarding proposed works to the trees 
and hedges on site are carried out annually]; 

 Request that a tree to the school’s southern boundary is removed as its canopy 
overhangs the private access road and causes an issue with large vehicles using the 
road; 

 Request that fencing to the school’s southern and eastern boundary be removed and 
the area left in a safe and tidy condition which was overlooked when the fencing was 
replaced [Note that this has been raised with the applicant]; 

 Request that construction traffic and operatives vehicles do not park or block access 
to the private road to the south of the school site; 

 That service work is not undertaken in the private access road without prior consent 
from landowners; 

 Controls requested on construction hours so as not to inconvenience local residents. 

Page 124



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.21 
 

 
Discussion 

 
Introduction 
 
20. The application seeks planning permission for an extension to the existing school hall, 

an 8 classroom teaching block with associated facilities; the provision of a parents drop 
off facility and 10 off-site parking spaces and 7 additional car parking spaces in the 
school car park. The application is being reported to the Planning Applications 
Committee as a result of the objections received from Dartford Borough Council, Stone 
Parish Council and local residents regarding the proposal. 

 
21. In considering this proposal regard must be had to Development Plan Policies outlined 

in paragraph 15 above. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
(2004) states that applications must be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Therefore, the 
proposal needs to be considered in the context of Development Plan Policies, 
Government Guidance and other material planning considerations including those 
arising from consultation and publicity.  

 
22. The main aspects to consider are the issues to do with the design, layout and scale of 

the development, residential amenity concerns including noise disturbance and impact 
on air quality and implications of the proposal on the local road network and highway 
safety considerations. The strong policy support for the development of schools should 
also be considered to ensure that there is sufficient provision to meet growing demand, 
increased choice and raised educational standards, subject to being satisfied on 
amenity and other material considerations. In the Government’s view the creation and 
development of schools is strongly in the national interest and planning authorities 
should support this objective, in a manner consistent with their statutory obligations. In 
considering proposals for the creation, expansion and alteration of schools, the 
Government considers that there is a strong presumption in favour of state funded 
schools, as expressed in the National Planning Policy Framework and reflected in the 
Policy Statement for Schools. Planning authorities should give full and thorough 
consideration to the importance of enabling such development, attaching significant 
weight to the need to establish and develop state funded schools, and making full use 
of their planning powers to support such development, only imposing conditions that 
are absolutely necessary and that meet the tests set out in Circular 11/95. 

 
Design, Layout and Scale of Development Issues 
 
23. The Dartford Borough Council Local Plan (1995) and Core Strategy (2011) promote high 

quality design and sustainable development. The proposed layout, scale and design of 
the development should be considered to establish whether the development, as 
proposed, is acceptable and is in keeping with the existing predominantly residential 
setting. The layout of the proposed development aims to provide the most feasible 
option for providing more teaching accommodation to allow for the proposed expansion 
of pupil numbers at the school. The application documents show other layout options for 
the proposed development which were investigated by the applicant’s architect including 
an option to construct a single storey extension above the existing standalone 
classroom block and a large hall extension however this would involve extensive 
structural alterations and require the use of temporary accommodation during 
construction. Another option to locate a single storey extension for the proposed 
classroom block mainly on the soft play area with a small part being sited on part of the 

Page 125



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.22 
 

school’s sports field and a small hall extension. However, this would was not considered 
as being feasible as it would impinge on a section of the sports field, which is already 
undersized. The option which has been proposed as part of this application is for a part 
single storey, part two storey classroom block located on the soft play area, to the south 
east of the site and small hall extension to the existing hall. In my view the proposed 
layout of the development is acceptable and the most coherent option considered by the 
applicant’s architect. 

 
24. The proposed development has been designed to bring a modern outlook to the school 

whilst retaining the characteristics of the existing school buildings. This is reflected in 
the choice of external materials and colour scheme chosen for the proposed 
development. The proposed classroom block would be constructed of brickwork that 
matches the existing standalone classroom block with timber cladding to part of the 
proposed building’s eastern and southern façades. The applicant originally proposed a 
white render external finish to the eastern and southern façades of the classroom block. 
However, local residents voiced concerns that the large expanse of white render would 
not be in keeping with the existing school buildings. Consequently, the applicant’s 
architect proposed timber cladding which I consider would complement the brickwork. 
Concern was also raised regarding the use of multi-coloured panels as part of the 
external finish to the proposed classroom block; however, I consider on balance these 
would not be visually intrusive. The boundary of trees and hedges on a bank along the 
school’s southern boundary would also help to provide adequate screening from 
residential properties. The design of other new school buildings within Kent and 
elsewhere also feature multi-coloured panel external finishes which help to provide a 
stimulating learning environment, corresponding with internal colour schemes. Subject 
to permission being granted, a planning condition requiring the submission of details of 
external materials prior to the construction of the development could be stipulated.  

 
25. A local resident has raised concerns regarding the scale of the proposed development, 

considering that a single storey building would be more appropriate due to the proposed 
classroom block’s location on the south east area of the school site. The closest 
residential properties are located adjacent to the school’s southern boundary, separated 
by a private access road. The south west corner of the proposed classroom block is 
located approximately 12m from the southern site boundary with the property adjacent 
to the proposed building separated by the private access road and a row of garages. To 
limit the perceived scale of the proposed classroom block, the building has been 
designed with part single storey, part two storey elements. The precedent of two storey 
construction already exists on the site with part of the main school building located to 
the south west of the site being of a two storey construction. In my opinion, the scale 
and massing of the proposed development is acceptable and in keeping with the 
existing school buildings. In addition the visual impact of the scale of the development 
would be reduced due to the two storey element being stepped back from the southern 
boundary. Trees and hedging located on a bank to the school’s southern boundary also 
assist in adequately screening the proposed building from residential properties to the 
south. Consequently, I consider the design of the building to be acceptable and in 
accordance with Development Plan policies. 

 
 
 

Page 126



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.23 
 

Access, Parking, Traffic and Highway Safety 
 
26. Dartford Borough Council, Stone Parish Council and local residents have objected to 

the number of proposed additional parking spaces that would be provided on site as 
part of the application. Additionally Stone Parish Council and local residents have raised 
concerns that the local highway network already struggles to accommodate traffic 
associated with the school, and that on-street car parking by parents and staff is 
dangerous, and an inconvenience to local residents, particularly during peak school 
times.  

 
27. As with other schools, it is recognised that congestion issues exist on the local highway 

network before and after the school day. The Transport Statement notes that during the 
start and end of the school day, parents and staff observe an informal one-way system 
along Hayes Road, driving in an anti-clockwise direction (from east-west) whilst passing 
the school which helps to maintain the flow of traffic. Vehicular access to the school is 
via Hayes Road, a narrow residential street subject to a 30mph speed limit. Currently, 
parking is unrestricted on Hayes Road with the exception of the ‘School – Keep Clear’ 
zig–zag markings within the vicinity of the school entrance. Waiting is prohibited 
between 0800-0930 hrs and 1430-1600 hrs on weekdays. Four parking bays, arranged 
in a side by side formation are located on the north side of Hayes Road opposite the 
pedestrian entrance in an extended area of land separated from the highway by dashed 
lines. This area of land beyond the running carriageway of Hayes Road is used by many 
parents as an informal parking area with cars parked in the parking bays temporarily 
blocked in by cars parked in the remainder of the informal area. 
 

28. The Transport Statement submitted as part of the application concludes that the 
proposed expansion in pupil numbers would generate an additional 18 vehicle trips per 
day by staff and 97 vehicle trips by parents of pupils. Consequently, the Transport 
Statement concludes that the implementation of traffic mitigation measures would help 
to manage the level of impact that the proposed expansion of pupils numbers would 
have on the local highway network. A parents drop off and pick up facility with 10 off-site 
parking spaces and 7 additional car parking spaces within the school car park have 
been proposed as part of this application in order to mitigate the traffic and parking 
impacts that will result from the expansion of the school.  

 
29. The parents drop off and pick up facility has been proposed as part of the application as 

it is recognised that a number of parents drop off and pick up children outside the school 
rather than park and escort pupils into the school grounds. The applicant proposes that 
the facility would be monitored by school staff, although only Dartford Borough Council 
Parking Attendants would be able to take enforcement action to prevent the facility 
being used as a regular parking space. 10 off-site parking spaces located on land which 
is currently grass verge on the south side of Hayes Road are being proposed as part of 
this application. The footway on the south side of Hayes Road terminates approximately 
50m east of the pedestrian entrance to the school. It is proposed that the footpath is 
installed along this section of the road and be realigned to accommodate the parking 
spaces. 

 
30. Kent County Council Highways & Transportation have requested a financial contribution 

towards pursuing an application for a Traffic Regulation Order to restrict waiting times in 
the proposed off-site parking spaces, subject to the grant of planning permission. The 
Traffic Regulation Order to implement waiting restrictions on the off-site parking bays 
would allow Dartford Borough Council Parking Attendants to monitor the off-site parking 
bays and take any necessary enforcement action. 

Page 127



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.24 
 

 
31. The applicant’s Transport Consultant considers that car based trips to the school could 

be reduced through the implementation of an updated School Travel Plan. Various 
measures have been proposed as part of the School Travel Plan including the setting 
up of a Walking Bus to encourage pupils to walk to school, car sharing and promotion of 
sustainable modes of transport. Regular monitoring and review of the School Travel 
Plan to ensure that targets to reduce car based trips are being met could be addressed 
via a planning condition. The comments and advice provided by KCC’s School Travel 
Plan Advisor should be taken into consideration in the updated School Travel Plan.  

 
32. There are currently 33 car parking spaces within the existing school car park. The 

applicant proposes to provide 7 additional car parking spaces within the existing school 
car park (option 3), creating a total number of 40 spaces. Two additional car parking 
provision options were considered by the applicant including (option 1) which would 
create an additional 14 car parking spaces and (option 2) which would create an 
additional 22 spaces. Both options would involve the relocation of the existing hard 
surface playground to the north of the school onto the playing field and relocating the 
sports pitch further east whilst still retaining its existing size. However both of these 
options would involve the loss of land which is currently designated as school playing 
field, the provision of which is already undersubscribed on the school site. The school 
governors did not wish to pursue options 1 and 2 due to the loss of playing field 
provision. Although Sport England were not consulted on the proposals as a statutory 
consultee due to none of the development proposals actually being sited on land that 
forms part of a playing field, it is highly likely given previous experience that car parking 
options 1 and 2 would generate objections from Sport England over the loss of playing 
field provision. After consideration, the applicant decided to move forward with an 
alternative layout to the existing school car park to maximise the number of parking 
spaces, without losing any hard surface play area or playing field land, creating 7 
additional spaces (option 3). Even so, the proposed rearrangement of the car park 
would require the removal of two trees to accommodate the extra bays.  

 
33. Dartford Borough Council’s Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document 

provides guidance on parking standards within the Borough and indicates levels of 
parking for new developments that the Borough Council considers to be appropriate. 
The recommended car parking provision for employees is calculated by the number of 
pupils attending the school, setting out 1 space for employees per 15 pupils and also 1 
space per 2 classes for visitors. Therefore with a total of 630 pupils attending the 
school, the recommended parking provision for staff would be a total of 42 spaces. 
Additionally, 11 spaces should be provided for visitors and clients bringing the total 
number of recommended spaces to 53. It is stated in the Parking Standards 
Supplementary Document that a Travel Plan and a Transport Statement should 
accompany planning applications in instances where parking provision falls short of 
recommended levels to ensure that proposed provision would meet the demand for 
parking generated by the development. In addition, the Parking Standards 
Supplementary Planning Document states that appropriate provision should be made for 
the picking up and dropping off of pupils which is a measure being proposed as part of 
this application in the form of a parents drop off facility and off-site parking spaces for 
the use of parents to drop off/pick up children. There is currently already an existing 
shortfall of parking provision for employees at the school and although the proposed on-
site car parking would not rectify this current situation, KCC’s Highways and 
Transportation advisor considers that additional parking demand for staff could be 
adequately managed. Although Dartford Borough Council have requested a minimum of 
22 additional car parking spaces to be provided, KCC’s Highways and Transportation 

Page 128



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.25 
 

advisor considers that measures to encourage sustainable methods of travelling to the 
site, the provision of 7 additional on-site parking spaces and agreement with the school 
that some members of staff would have to park off-site would provide acceptable traffic 
mitigation measures. Furthermore, the proposed development needs to be considered 
against the community need for additional primary school places.   

 
34. Local residents have queried the feasibility of providing additional car parking spaces on 

land to the north east of the school. This area of land is not owned by the School or the 
County Council and an oil pipeline runs underneath this area which would prevent the 
use of this land for parking purposes. 

 
35. The viability of relocating the pedestrian entrance and proposed parents drop off facility 

to St James’ Lane which runs along the eastern boundary of the school, has been 
raised by local residents. However following discussions with KCC Highways and 
Transportation this is not viewed as a feasible option as St James’ Lane experiences a 
greater level of traffic flow, where approaches by vehicles are faster and busier and 
possible relocation of the pedestrian entrance and drop off facility would transfer parking 
and congestion problems from Hayes Road to St James’ Lane. Concerns were also 
raised by the Highways Officer that there could be the potential for vehicles to obstruct 
the emergency access to Bluewater Shopping Centre. 

 
36. Stone Parish Council and local residents have raised concerns regarding congestion on 

the local road network. The Parish Council own and hire out Stone Pavilion, a multi-use 
facility which is located to the north of the school, for corporate and social events. The 
Parish Council considers that the congestion generated by traffic related to the school is 
an inconvenience to users of Stone Pavilion. However, it should be recognised that 
increased traffic levels around the surrounding local road network are limited to school 
peak times, generally limited to a 15-20 minute period, at the start and end of the school 
day. Additionally, many of the social events that are held at Stone Pavilion would occur 
in the evenings and weekends when school related traffic would not be an issue. 
Although traffic generated by the school causes inconvenience and delays to through 
traffic, this is considered to be a short term impact on local amenity rather than 
amounting to a wider highway safety concern. Whilst the behaviour of a small number of 
parents, who have reportedly been rude to local residents in some instances, is 
understandably a matter of concern and potential distress to residents, driver behaviour 
and attitude is not a planning land use matter which the Planning Authority can control. 
Any potential additional traffic on the local road network created by the schools 
expansion could effectively be managed by the various traffic mitigation measures that 
are being proposed as part of this application which is a view shared by KCC’s 
Highways and Transportation advisor. 

 
37. Kent County Council Highways and Transportation conclude that the additional vehicle 

trips generated by the expansion of the school to 3FE would have an impact on the 
surrounding highway network, particularly Hayes Road. However, the mitigation 
measures that are proposed by the applicant including the provision of a parents drop 
off facility, 10 off-site parking spaces, 7 additional on-site parking spaces and the 
implementation of measures in the School Travel Plan would play a key role in reducing 
the potential impact on the highway network.  

 
38. Recognition needs to be made when considering this proposal that all schools generate 

traffic and often some parking on the public highway, but unless that constitutes a 
severe risk to road safety then that is not a reason to withhold planning consent. In 
particular, the public highway is there to be used as such, and it would be quite wrong to 

Page 129



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.26 
 

use the planning system to restrict the use of the public highway by one kind of user in 
favour of others, especially when the user potentially being demonised is arguably the 
least frequent user. I consider that the proposed drop off facility, parking and measures 
in the School Travel Plan would provide sufficient mitigation to accommodate the 
increase in vehicles associated with the expansion of the school. The updating and 
annual review of the School Travel Pan would assist in mitigating the potential impacts 
the proposed expansion in pupil numbers may create. It should also be noted that the 
expansion of the school would be staggered over six years with 30 pupil places being 
admitted each year. During the school’s staggered expansion, I would expect traffic 
mitigation measures outlined in the School Travel Plan to be implemented to encourage 
sustainable methods of travel, greater monitoring of pupil safety through the 
appointment of a Road Crossing Officer and highway access and parking proposals. 
Kent County Council Highways and Transportation are satisfied that this proposal would 
not have an overly detrimental impact on the local highway network, and raise no 
objection on that basis.  

 
39. My own view is that all schools attract vehicular traffic, and that should not be used as a 

reason for preventing much needed school accommodation being provided, since the 
key issue is more about how that that traffic is managed and its adverse impacts could 
be reduced. On balance, I consider that the need to provide adequate sports facilities 
for pupils as part of their educational development is a key planning consideration and 
as previously stated, playing field land at this site is underprovided for. The 
implementation of other possible options for car parking discussed in paragraph 32 
would involve the loss of playing field land, further reducing the level of playing field land 
available to pupils in light of the proposed expansion. Furthermore, Dartford Borough 
Council’s Core Strategy policy CS22 encourages the protection of existing sport 
facilities and Sport England’s Playing Fields Planning Policy Statement strongly 
encourages the protection of playing field land. Taking the professional advice received 
from KCC Highways and Transportation into account, I would consider the proposal 
acceptable in highway terms subject to the imposition of conditions covering the 
provision of the proposed off-site parking bays; the updating of the School Travel Plan 
and the use of vehicle cleansing and wheel washing equipment during construction to 
prevent mud and other debris being deposited on the public highway. Additionally, 
subject to planning permission being granted for the application, an informative requiring 
the provision of £3,000 from the applicant to pursue a Traffic Regulation Order to control 
the use of the off-site parking bays would be appropriate. 

 
Noise Disturbance and Air Quality 

 
40. Local residents whose properties are located to the school’s southern boundary have 

raised concerns that the additional pupil numbers and loss of soft play area caused by 
the expansion of the school would intensify the use of the hard surface playground. It is 
claimed that the location of the proposed classroom block would act to enclose the 
playground to the east, preventing noise dissipating. However, it should be noted that 
the tree and hedge boundary to the southern boundary of the school would act to 
provide an additional acoustic buffer to any extra noise generated from the use of the 
playground. Additionally, a private access road separates properties to the south of the 
site. Overall, I do not consider that there is likely to be any significant negative impact to 
neighbouring properties as a result of noise disturbance, which would be limited to short 
periods on those days when the school is operational.  Air pollution generated from 
increased vehicle trips to the site is also a matter of concern for local residents. The 
School aim to encourage more sustainable methods of travel to the site by a series of 
measure outlined in the School Travel Plan. I would not consider that increased vehicle 

Page 130



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.27 
 

trips to the school would significantly impact air quality within the vicinity of the school, 
over and above the existing use of the local roads. 

  
General Matters Raised by Local Residents 
 
41. The majority of general matters raised by local residents (summarised in paragraph 21) 

are landscaping maintenance issues which have been brought to the School’s attention 
and are not directly related to the proposed development which is the focus of this 
planning application, albeit the landscaping to the school’s southern boundary would 
act to visually screen the proposed classroom block from properties adjacent to the 
south of the school site.  

 
Construction 
 
42. Construction management issues have been raised by local residents and I consider 

that if planning permission is granted it would be appropriate to impose a condition 
restricting hours of construction to protect residential amenity. Given the proximity of 
the site to neighbouring residential properties, I would suggest that works should be 
undertaken only between the hours of 0800 and 1800 Monday to Friday and between 
the hours of 0900 and 1300 on Saturdays, with no operations on Sundays and Bank 
Holidays.  It is also good practice on school sites for contractors to be required under 
the terms of their contract to manage construction traffic/deliveries to minimise conflict 
with traffic and pedestrians at the beginning and end of the school day.  

 
43. In addition, I consider it appropriate that details of a Construction Management Strategy 

be submitted for approval prior to the commencement of development. The strategy 
should include details of the methods and hours of working, location of site compounds 
and operative/visitors parking, details of site security and safety measures, lorry waiting 
and wheel washing facilities, details of how the site access would be managed to avoid 
peak school times and details of any construction accesses. Construction access and 
parking has been raised as a matter of concern by a local resident and I consider that 
the submission of details relating to the management of construction on site would 
ensure that residential amenity is protected as well as the safe management of 
construction on site. 

 
44. In addition to the above, should permission be granted, conditions of consent would 

ensure that dust and mud on the local highway network, and other matters associated 
with construction, would be mitigated as far as reasonably possible so as to minimise 
disruption to local residents.  

 
Archaeology 
 
45. The County Archaeologist has indicated that the school grounds are close to a possible 

Iron Age settlement which consequently may have archaeological potential. Therefore it 
is possible that proposed development works may disturb archaeological remains, 
although the site has previously been disturbed when the school was first developed. 
Consequently, a condition requesting a programme of archaeological work should be 
imposed on any planning permission. In my view, this approach is appropriate and 
proportionate to the development being proposed and is also in accordance with Policy 
B12 of the adopted Local Plan. 
 

Page 131



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.28 
 

Conclusion 
 
46. Concerns have been raised regarding the impact of the proposed development on 

various aspects including residential amenity, design aspects and traffic and highway 
safety issues. Having assessed each of these areas of concern, in my view, the 
development would not give rise to any significant material harm sufficient to warrant 
withholding planning consent. The proposed development is in accordance with the 
general aims and objectives of the relevant Development Plan Policies. Notwithstanding 
the local concerns over traffic congestion and competition for road space with other 
users of the public highway, I consider that the development is sustainable and in 
accordance with the principles of the National Planning Policy Framework and the Policy 
Statement on Planning for School Development. I consider that, subject to the 
imposition of appropriate planning conditions, this proposal would not have a 
significantly detrimental impact on residential amenity, design and layout aspects and 
traffic/parking issues.  

 
Recommendation 
 
47. I RECOMMEND that PLANNING PERMISSION BE GRANTED SUBJECT to conditions, 

including conditions covering: 
 
 the standard 5 year time limit; 
 the development to be carried out in accordance with the permitted details; 
 the submission and approval  of details of all materials to be used externally; 
 a programme of archaeological work to be submitted and approved; 
 no vegetation clearance to take place during the bird breeding season; 
 control of surface water drainage and infiltration to ground; 
 if any contamination not previously identified is found on site, the submission of a 

remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with this; 
 hours of working during construction and demolition to be restricted to between 

0800 and 1800 Monday to Friday and between the hours of 0900 and 1300 on 
Saturdays, with no operations on Sundays and Bank Holidays; 

 the submission of a Construction Management Strategy, including the location of 
site compounds and operative/visitors parking, details of site security and safety 
measures, lorry waiting and wheel washing facilities, and details of any 
construction accesses & management of the site access to avoid peak school 
times; 

 the submission of an updated School Travel Plan within 3 months of the date of 
the decision notice; its implementation and ongoing annual review.; 

 the provision and retention of the proposed parents drop off facility, off-site parking 
bays and on-site parking bays; 

 the use of vehicle cleansing and wheel washing equipment during construction to 
prevent mud and other debris being deposited on the public highway. 

 
I FURTHER RECOMMEND that the applicant be advised by informative of: 
 The applicant be advised that, before the development hereby approved is 

commenced, the provision of £3,000 shall be provided to pursue a Traffic 
Regulation Order to control the use of the off-site parking bays;  

 
 The comments and advice provided by Kent County Council’s School Travel Plan 

Advisor in the email received on 11 March 2014 should be taken into consideration 
in the updated School Travel Plan; 

Page 132



Item D4 
Proposed expansion of Stone C of E Primary School, Hayes Road, 
Greenhithe – DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) 
   

D4.29 
 

 
 The School to look into implementing actions mentioned in the School Travel Plan, 

including the formalising of the unofficial one-way system along Hayes Road, 
extending the ‘School – Keep Clear’ zig–zag markings road markings, negotiating 
with Stone Parish Council about the possibility of using the car park associated 
with the Stone Pavilion facility for additional parking; and 

 
 That the applicant be advised that the School Travel Plan should be registered on-

line with Kent County Council’s School Travel Plan site ‘Jambusters’ by accessing 
the following link www.jambusterstpms.co.uk, to assist with the updating, 
monitoring and future review of the Travel Plan. 

 
 

Case officer – Hardeep Hunjan       01622 221057  
 

 
Background documents - See section heading 

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



E1 COUNTY MATTER APPLICATIONS AND DETAILS PURSUANT 
PERMITTED/APPROVED/REFUSED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS - 
MEMBERS’ INFORMATION   

     
                                                                                         
 
Since the last meeting of the Committee, the following matters have been determined by me  
under delegated powers:- 
 
Background Documents - The deposited documents. 
 
DA/12/1170/R9  Detail of surface water drainage scheme pursuant to condition 

(9) of planning permission DA/12/1170 (upgrade to sewage 
treatment works). 

    Long Reach Sewage Treatment Works, Marsh Street, Dartford 
 
DO/08/510/R15A Post development visual condition survey of access and road 

pursuant to condition (15) of planning permission DO/08/510 
(reprofiling and capping of landfill). 
Back Sand Point Landfill Site, Pfizer Ltd, Ramsgate Road, 
Sandwich 

 
SW/92/768/R2, R3 & R8 Details ensuring activities at the site are performed under 

planning control and updating the site layout purusant to 
conditions (2), (3) and (8) of planning permission SW/92/768. 

 Waste Transfer Station, Site D, Oare Creek, Faversham 
 
TM/09/1888/R8D Request for approval of details submitted under condition 8 

(annual report) of planning permission TM/09/1888. 
 Offham Landfill Site, Teston Road, Offham, West Malling 
 
TM/12/983/R2&R17  Application for approval of details of noise attenuation barrier 

and noise monitoring scheme pursuant to conditions (2) and 
(17) of planning permission TM/12/983. 

    Ham Hill Quarry, Snodland 
 
TM/14/1442   Additional use of existing secure compound for parking of 

twelve HGV lorries and a low loader. 
    Borough Green Landfill Site, Wrotham Road, Borough Green, 

Sevenoaks 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E.1 
Page 135

Agenda Item E1



E2 COUNTY COUNCIL DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS AND DETAILS 
PURSUANT PERMITTED/APPROVED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 
MEMBERS’ INFORMATION 

 
    ____________________________ ______________ _______                                                                                  
 
Since the last meeting of the Committee, the following matters have been determined by me 
under delegated powers:- 
 
Background Documents – The deposited documents. 
 
AS/13/776/R4&R12  Details of external lighting and a construction management 

strategy. 
John Wesley C of E Methodist Primary School, 
Wesley School Road, Ashford 

 
AS/13/1453/RVAR  Details of external materials, fencing, a specification for an 

archaeological watching brief, surface water drainage, 
contractor's site compound, access, turning & parking within 
the site for contractor's and other vehicles engaged in 
construction operations, measures to prevent the deposit of 
mud and other debris on the public highway, cycle storage and 
refuse store pursuant to conditions 3, 5, 8, 9, 13, 14, 15, 17 & 
18 of planning application AS/13/1453 for the development of 
11 flats and staff facilities to provide move on accommodation 
for individuals. 
The former Ashford Day Opportunities Centre, St Stephens 
Walk, Ashford 

 
DO/14/24 Installation of 1 no automated vehicular gate and 1 no 

automated pedestrian gate to the Old Charlton Road entrance 
to the school grounds and associated fencing and external 
works improvements including: a new pathway along the main 
school building to the east side, a bus and coach paved 
rendezvous area, widening the main drive into the school and 
associated alterations. 

 St Edmunds Catholic School, Old Charlton Road, Dover 
 
GR/14/291 Retention of kitchen horsa building. 
 Wrotham Road Primary School, Wrotham Road, Gravesend 
 
SW/14/171 The provision of a new canopy to the Year 1 playground. 
 St Georges CofE Middle School, Chequers Road, Minster on 

Sea, Sheerness 
 
SW/14/187 Planning application for the retention and continued use of the 

mobile classroom unit at Canterbury Road Primary School, 
installed under previous application reference SW/08/582. 

 Canterbury Road CP School, School Road, Sittingbourne 
 
 
 
 

E.2 
 

 
Page 136



TH/13/485/R4, 6&7 Details pursuant to conditions (4) – Landscaping, (6) – Surface 
Water Drainage and (7) – On-site traffic management 
statement of planning permission TH/13/485 for a new 
classroom block. 

 Newington Primary School, Princess Margaret Avenue, 
Ramsgate 

 
TH/14/164 Renewal of the existing planning consent on the portacabin 

previously used as a library resources room. 
 St Nicholas At Wade C of E Primary School, Down Barton 

Road, St Nicholas at Wade, Birchington 
 
TM/13/3575 To develop the external play area of the stand-alone ASD unit 

with additional play equipment and permeable surfacing. 
 Cage Green Primary School, Cage Green Road, Tonbridge 
  
 
 
E3 TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT  

ASSESSMENT) REGULATIONS 2011 – SCREENING OPINIONS 
ADOPTED UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

 
                                                                          
 
Background Documents –  
 
• The deposited documents. 
• Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011. 
• DETR Circular 02/99 – Environmental Impact Assessment. 
 
(a) Since the last meeting of the Committee the following screening opinions have been  

adopted under delegated powers that the proposed development does not constitute 
EIA development and the development proposal does not need to be accompanied 
by an Environmental Statement:-  
 
KCC/DA/0003/2014 - Construction of building to accommodate plant for the 
processing and transfer of construction, demolition and excavation wastes and 
commercial and industrial wastes with weighbridge and office, external processing 
plant, storage bays and fencing at Plot 14 and Units C1 and C3, Manor Way, 
Swanscombe 
 
KCC/SH/0151/2014 - Creation of a one Form Entry Primary School, to include the 
erection of two storey school building, retention of existing MUGA, provision of hard 
and soft playing pitches, vehicular and pedestrian access ways, on-site drop off area, 
40 car parking spaces, 10 cycle spaces, and hard and soft landscaping at St Marys 
Playing Field, Warren Way, Folkestone 
 
KCC/TH/0139/2014 - Proposed erection of new Laleham Gap SEN School with 
residential block and associated access, parking, landscaping and sport areas. 
Land at Ozengell Place, Ramsgate 
 
KCC/TW/0081/2014 - Renewal of planning permission for mobile facility and addition 
of two bay mobile building at Cranbrook Primary School OUT OF SCHOOL CLUB, 
Carriers Road, Cranbrook 

E.3 
Page 137



 
(b) Since the last meeting of the Committee the following screening opinions have been  

adopted under delegated powers that the proposed development does constitute EIA 
development and the development proposal does need to be accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement:-  
 
KCC/SCR/GR/0118/2014 - Request for a Screening and Scoping Opinion in respect 
of the contents of an Environmental Statement to accompany a planning application 
for the proposed ecological enhancement of Alpha Lake and Chalk Lake using 
materials imported by barge, boat or rail at Alpha Lake and Chalk Lake, North Sea 
Terminal, Salt Lane, Cliffe 
 
KCC/SCR/AS/0113/2014 - Request for a Screening and Scoping Opinion in respect 
of the contents of an Environmental Statement to accompany a planning application 
for mineral working with restoration back to agriculture at the lower vertical level at 
Burleigh Farm, Tile Lodge Lane, Charing Heath, Ashford, Kent, TN27 0BX. 
 
 
 
 

E4 TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT) REGULATIONS 2011 – SCOPING OPINIONS ADOPTED 
UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

 
                                                                             
 
(b) Since the last meeting of the Committee the following scoping opinions have been 

adopted under delegated powers.  
 
Background Documents -  
 
• The deposited documents. 
• Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011. 
• DETR Circular 02/99 - Environmental Impact Assessment. 
 

KCC/SCR/AS/0113/2014 - Request for a Screening and Scoping Opinion in respect 
of the contents of an Environmental Statement to accompany a planning application 
for mineral working with restoration back to agriculture at the lower vertical level at 
Burleigh Farm, Tile Lodge Lane, Charing Heath, Ashford, Kent, TN27 0BX. 
 
KCC/SCR/GR/0118/2014 - Request for a Screening and Scoping Opinion in respect 
of the contents of an Environmental Statement to accompany a planning application 
for the proposed ecological enhancement of Alpha Lake and Chalk Lake using 
materials imported by barge, boat or rail at Alpha Lake and Chalk Lake, North Sea 
Terminal, Salt Lane, Cliffe 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E.4 

Page 138


	Agenda
	A4 Minutes - 14 May 2014
	D1 Proposal SW/14/192 (KCC/SW/042/2014) - Renewal of Permission SW/11/1451 for the retention of a single and double mobile classroom unit at Tunstall Primary School, Tunstall; KCC Property and Infrastructure Support
	D2 Proposal SW/14/0394 (KCC/SW/0091/2014) - Four classroom extension, new hall, link corridor, additional toilets and TA room and new playground at Queenborough Primary School and Nursery, Edward Road, Queenborough; KCC Property and Infrastructure Support
	D3 Proposal SE/14/13 (KCC/SE/0375/2013) - Redevelopment of the former Wildernesse School site: demolition of existing school buildings, retention and refurbishment of Sports Centre, erection of two new secondary schools (6 f.e. Sevenoaks GS Annexe and 4 f.e Trinity School)  new vehicular and pedestrian accesses, rearranged and extended car park providing 242 car parking spaces and dedicated child drop off/collection and bus zones, relocation of tennis courts into two new MUGAs and associated detailed landscaping works at Knole (east) Academy, Seal Hollow Road, Sevenoaks; KCC Property and Infrastructure Support
	Background/Relevant Planning History
	Local Member

	D4 Proposal DA/13/1703 (KCC/DA/0372/2013) - New two storey and part single storey classroom block incorporating welfare facilities and storage; extension of school hall; provision of parents' drop off facility and 10 off-site parking spaces; 7 additional car parking spaces in the school car park at Stone CEP School, Hayes Road, Greenhithe; KCC Property and Infrastructure Support.
	E1 County matter applications

